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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
MBEEE

Revenue Profit Attributable to Shareholders

Wy 28 IR 3R FE 16 7 R

(RMB’ Million BEBAR) (RMB’ Milion BEBAR)

EPS (RMB cents) Debt Ratio*
BREFN(AR®EW) EEEEXR

* Excluding contract liabilities in liabilities & 1& A1 2 55 & #1 8 (&
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

Dear shareholders,

On behalf of the Board, | hereby present the annual report of
the Group for the year ended 31 December 2020.

MARKET REVIEW

Looking back on 2020, the COVID-19 pandemic has caused
huge impact to the global economy and brought far-reaching
social consequences to the world. Nevertheless, thanks to the
decisive and proactive measures from the Chinese government,
we can see the situation in mainland China being stabilized
with the market continuing to improve. After the contraction in
the first quarter, the gross domestic product in the PRC
resumed to grow steadily quarter by quarter resulting in
achieving an accumulated growth rate of 2.3% in the year, as
compared against general downturns of major economies in the
rest of the world. It would be an encouraging element for our
Group as we relatively rely on the vitality of the PRC domestic
market.

The PRC real estate sector also demonstrated a steady growth
in 2020 amid tough market environment due to the pandemic.
According to the data released by the National Bureau of
Statistics of China, total areas of commercialized buildings sold
in 2020 amounted to approximately 1.8 billion sg.m.,
representing a 2.6% increase from last year. In terms of
monetary value, sales value of commercialized buildings
amounted to approximately RMB17.4 ftrillion, being a growth of
approximately 8.7% from 2019. It indicated that the average
selling price was approximately RMB9,860 per sq.m. for 2020,
with an increment of approximately 5.9%. Overall, total
investment in PRC real estate sector for 2020 amounted to
approximately RMB14.1 trillion, representing a year-on-year
growth of approximately 7.0%.

The Report on the work of Government delivered at the 14th
National People’s Congress of the PRC in March 2021
continues to state the Central Government’s control direction of
adhering to houses being built to be inhabited but not for
speculation. Furthermore, the Report illustrates the Central
Government’s determination in real estate market stability in
terms of land prices, house prices and expectations. Our Group
regards it as a positive sign to the market for promoting stable
and healthy development of the property sector.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)
FE®mE A

BUSINESS REVIEW

Despite the challenging market and social conditions, our
Group continues to dedicate appropriate resources in fulfilling
the schedules and commitments in our property development
projects, and implement effective measures to protect the
health and safety of customers and employees to ensure
normal operating environment is in place.

During 2020, Million Cities Legend Phase 2 was completed for
delivery, contributing greatly to boost our financial results. We
are pleased to report that our revenue surged to approximately
RMB1,241.4 million with net profit attributable to equity
shareholders of the Company of approximately RMB112.7
million, showing a tremendous growth from the results of last
year. Besides, the Group has achieved total contracted sales
amounted to approximately RMB1.7 billion with total areas of
contracted sales of approximately 195,000 sg.m. (including
sales by associate companies), mainly from (i) 2 projects in
Huizhou (namely Dragon Terrace Phase 2 and Crown Grand
Court houses); (i) 1 project in Henan (namely Dragon Palace
Phase 1); and (i) 2 projects in Tianjin (namely Million Cities
Tycoon Place Phase 3 houses and Legend Plaza).

Future strategies and prospects

No doubt the real estate market in the PRC will continue to be
challenging due to the implementation of various control
measures by the Central Government. The “Three Red Lines” is
a hot topic since its introduction in 2020. Besides, land supply
in major cities will be more concentrated through the way from
public announcement to auction bidding so as to stabilize the
market expectation. The Group is well prepared to meet these
policy requirements by consistently adopting relatively
conservative strategy aiming at stable growth of the Group. We
are currently at safe harbor in fulfilling the “Three Red Lines”
ratios and will continue to monitor our liquidity and debt
commitment accordingly. Besides, instead of competing in the
challenging open market, focus more on themed
projects in areas such as health, culture and educational
establishment which earn the generous support from the local
government, with longer project development term at favorable
land prices.
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The Board remains confident in the Group’s prospects as our
strategy in leveraging established strength in property
development, particularly in Huizhou, is in alignment with the
direction of the Central Government in developing the Greater
Bay Area. Huizhou is one of the major cities in the Greater Bay
Area. It is also a transportation hub and can reach all major
cities in the Greater Bay Area within one hour. It is connected
to Guangzhou, Shenzhen and Dongguan through an inter-city
high speed transportation network of high-speed railway and
expressways. The travelling time between Huizhou and
Shenzhen and Huizhou and Dongguan through the Xiamen —
Shenzhen high speed railway and the Dongguan — Huizhou
inter-city railway is approximately 30 minutes. The construction
of the Ganzhou-Shenzhen high speed railway and the
Guangzhou — Shanwei high speed railway is scheduled to be
completed by 2021 and 2022, respectively. In the future, upon
completion of the extension of Shenzhen Metro Line 14 to the
South Huizhou Station, the Shenzhen-Huizhou inter-city railway
and the Huizhou Metro Line 1, the importance of Huizhou as a
regional transportation hub will be further enhanced. The Group
is well positioned to earn credits in these development trends
by deeply mobilizing resources and focusing on both
committed as well as targeted projects in Huizhou and also in
the Greater Bay Area, with the ultimate aim at creating higher
value for our shareholders.

Acknowledgement

On behalf of the Board, | hereby express my heartfelt gratitude
to all shareholders, investors, partners, customers, and
community for their support and trust, and our staff for their
efforts and contributions to the Group’s development.

Wong Ting Chung
Chairman

29 March 2021
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PROJECTS PORTFOLIO
HHBE

Million Cities Royal Court
BEREERE

Million Cities Legend
B AR

Million Cities International

B E R



PROJECTS PORTFOLIO (CONTINUED)
HEBE @&

Jade Terrace
URA

Dragon Terrace
uEA

Million Cities Tonghu Centre
BEM RO

Sunshine New Court

B5 K %36




PROJECTS PORTFOLIO (CONTINUED)
HEHE &)

TIANJIN - HENAN
25

</
© - O Tianjin X%
@ Henan 5T/ —

Million Cities Tycoon Place
BRER

Legend Plaza

BEES

Dragon Palace
BRE
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEEN@WR DN

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue ' ON

Cost of sales $HE M AR

Gross profit EF

Valuation gains on investment REMERE
properties W 5

Other net income H A FE

Selling expenses HEMX

Administrative expenses THHAX

Other expenses HA X

Profit from operations R

Finance costs & B AR

Share of profit/(losses) of associates & {5 & % A &)

wFL(EE)

Share of losses of joint ventures EiEEERAREE

Profit before taxation B B A1 S5 A

Income tax BiREE

Profit for the year FREF

Profit for the year attributable to AR FERBRE
equity shareholders of the FE 15 F & A

Company

A

“EEFH o ERERERA

A

Bt % [0 B

2020
20204
RMB’000
ARETR

1,241,360

(690,122)

551,238

7,785
(14,396)
(63,696)

(2,374)

478,557

(8,470)

939

471,026

(239,163)

231,863

112,746

2019 Increase/(Decrease)

20194 #m/ Ca )
RMB’000 RMB’000 %
ARETT ARBTR %
354,284 887,076 250.4%
(221,286) 468,836 211.9%
132,998 418,240 314.5%
780 (780) -100%
14,757 (6,972) -47.2%
(5,820) 8,576 147.4%
(67,316) (3,620) -5.4%
(4,965) (2,591) -52.2%
70,434 408,123 579.4%
(9,818) (1,348) -13.7%
(324) 1,263 389.8
(1,456) (1,456) -100.0%
58,836 412,190 700.6%
(41,168) 197,995 480.9%
17,668 214,195 1,212.3%
17,954 94,792 528.0%

11




MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

EEEFNWR DN (&)

Revenue

The Group’s revenue mainly represented income from sale of
properties and gross rentals from properties earned during the
year, net of sales related taxes and discounts allowed.

Revenue from sale of properties has constituted, and is
expected to continue to constitute, a majority of the Group’s
total revenue.

Property development

()

(1)

12

Contracted sales

During the year ended 31 December 2020 (“FY2020"), the
Group continued to have pre-sale of Dragon Palace
Phase 1 (BX#e/ — ). In addition, the Group launched
pre-sale of Dragon Terrace Phase 2 (AfE & —Hi) and
Legend Plaza Phase 2 (% EEE%H — ) in the second
quarter of 2020. Among the pre-sale of Dragon Terrace
Phase 2, 99% of the properties were sold within 3
months, which was extremely satisfactory to the Group.
We also launched pre-sale of villas of Million Cities
Tycoon Place Phase 3 (8 E = EE = H) in the third
quarter of 2020 and the sale of the villas of Crown Grand
Court (2@ % %) in the fourth quarter of 2020. Total
contracted sales (based on GFA of sales consent),
including sales of properties by the associates of the
Group, amounted to approximately RMB1,688.8 million,
representing a GFA of approximately 195,000 sg.m. sold.
The Group will continue to focus on the Greater Bay
Area, with diversification to other areas in the PRC with
potential growth.

Land bank

As at 31 December 2020, the total GFA of the Group’s
land bank was about 2,328,000 sg.m., out of which
about 146,000 sg.m. GFA was unsold or undelivered
completed properties projects, about 1,104,000 sg.m.
GFA was under construction and about 1,078,000 sg.m.
GFA was reserved for future development.

A
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ARMEREEE  CHRHEERBHELMN
T ITI e

HEMEMSBRA-—REBEFSEEERE
AR ANERNEED

E X9
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& £2020%12831H 1t F £ ([ 202081 B
FE AEBEEEETEEE 8 - 1t
N REBER2020F FE —FHERES
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BEA _HIESE ANTEE% - HEREE
A8 o B AP IR A20204F £ = FHEH B 3
BB =—HREEEEE KR2020F
FNFHEE R E - AHNHER
HURHEERBENEEEDE  BEXR
SEBMELARMEHEER)NRARE
1,688.8H & /T ' C & # A & 49195,000
FRHK e REBBGEESR TN ER B
EHEAEEEREBINEMHMETRS
TTALERE -

T

2020F12A31H  AEBE L R EAE
HHE# 52,328,000 77K - Hh B %
ITYEBEMNARERARIMNEEERBEY
A146,000F 5K - EEMBEEBEL A
1,104,000 52K - MBIER KR EBER A
A F& 40 A1,078,000°F 5 3K °
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
EEEF@wWK D&

The following table sets out a summary of the Group’s TR AE B R2020F 12 A31 0 #%7 #
properties held for future development sorted by EBHEBS>PMNBIEHRERNUEME

development projects as at 31 December 2020:

Ownership
interest of the
Group as at
31 December Estimated
No. Project Location Site area Planned GFA 2020 Type completion date
#2020
12A318
HAsE
E ER HE WEER RUEEER REEER EH fEHRIRS
(sa.m.) (sa-m.) (%)
(FHK) (FHK) (%)
Development projects held for future development
KrEARERNZRER
1 Million Cities International Baiyunkeng, Danshui, Huiyang District, 60,978 240,558 100 Residential and 2024 to 2025
Phase 4 and 5 Huizhou, Guangdong Province, commercial
the PRC
ERERNELTH PEEREEMTEBRAKAEN TEREE 20245 20255
2 Milion Cities Royal Court Baiyunkeng, Danshui, Huiyang District, 47,679 150,475 54.5  Residential and 2023 to 2024
Huizhou, Guangdong Province, commercial
the PRC
EHEELE PEEREEMTERRAKBER TEREE 20035 20245
3 Milion Cities Tonghu Centre Tonghu Ecological Intelligent Zone, 55,596 378,642 50  Commercial April 2025
Gaoxin District, Zhongkal, Huizhou,
Guangdong Province, the PRC
BHERRL PEEREBMAERTRENELEER [k 2025%4A
4 Dragon Palace Phase 2 South of Hexing Road, Suiping County, 76,240 137,399 30  Residential October 2023 to
Section V & VII Zhumadian, Henan Province, the PRC March 2025
PEEZ_HELRELED PETHERSERTENERS ffx 0235108 %
2025%3A
5 Dragon Palace Phase 3 South of Hexing Road, Suiping County, 95,084 171,151 30 Commercial TBC
Zhumadian, Henan Province, the PRC
PETHERSERTENERS S e
Sub-total 335,577 1,078,225

N g—f
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
EEBEEN @WK D &)

TR EH 5 AN E ER2020512 A31 B 17 3
RIEBEESHERTYWEMRE

The following table sets out a summary of the Group’s
properties under development sorted by development

projects as at 31 December 2020:

Ownership interest

GFA under of the Group as at Estimated
No. Project Location Site area development 31 December 2020 Type completion date
20205
12A318
hag
&% BH W HEER BRTREER RERER EH R RIRE
(sa.m.) (sq.m.) (%)
(FHK) (FHK) (%)
Development projects under development
BEVHREER
6 Million Cities Tycoon Place Jiahe Road South, Xiazhuzhuang Street, 46,462 91,345 55 Residential December 2021
Phase 3 Wuging District, Tianjin, the PRC
BHEZ=S PEXETREETAEGETER frz 2021512
7 Million Cities Tycoon Place Jiahe Road South, Xiazhuzhuang Street, 28,612 72,751 55 Residential January 2021
Phase 4 Wuging District, Tianjin, the PRC
ERRFOE RERETRBETAEGRTER frx 202151A
8 Million Cities Legend Balyunkeng, Danshui, Huiyang District, 22,899 112,140 545  Residential and August 2023
Phase 3 Huizhou, Guangdong Province, commercial
the PRC
EHEE=H PEEREENTERRAKEES TEREE 202358A
9 Dragon Terrace Phase 2 No. 188 Xingfa Road, Tonghu Ecological 42,566 223,600 50  Residential and March 2022
Intelligent Zone, Gaoxin District, commercial
Zhongkai, Huizhou, Guangdong
Province, the PRC
RELZH PEEREEMMERHEES EEREX 202263R
EREZRAEAEIH
10 Legend Plaza Jiahe Road South, Xiazhuzhuang Street, 39,756 99,500 55 Commercial October 2021
Wuging District, Tianjin, the PRC
LEES FRRETRBEETAEGETEN [k 20214104
1 Dragon Palace Phase 1 South of Hexing Road, Suiping County, 142,306 287,381 30  Residential January 2021 to
Zhumadian, Henan Province, the PRC April 2023
BEE-3 PEEERRER TEMNERA T=E 221F1RE
2023547
12 Dragon Palace Phase 2 South of Hexing Road, Suiping County, 45,128 95,805 30  Residential May 2022 to
Section IV & VI Zhumadian, Henan Province, the PRC April 2023
BRE-_HENREATS  TETHERRERTENERE i3 2000558 %
202354R
13 Jade Terrace Phase 1 No. 181 Xingfa Road, Tonggiao Town, 26,261 56,805 30  Residential and December 2021
Gaoxin District, Zhongkai, Huizhou, commercial
Guangdong Province, the PRC
BEA-H PEEREEMMERTEREA TEREE 20214128
BEAEIBIR
14 Jade Terrace Phase 2 No. 181 Xingfa Road, Tonggiao Town, 11,906 64,439 30  Residential and June 2022
Gaoxin District, Zhongkai, Huizhou, commercial
Guangdong Province, the PRC
REEZH PEEREENERTEERR EERER 202266A
B RE1815
Sub-total 405,396 1,103,766
i
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The following table sets out a summary of the Group’s
completed development projects as at 31

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

December

EEE

5 @R D ()

TRE YA EER202056128318 2%
THEREBEBEOEE:

2020:
Ownership interest
of the Group as at
No. Project Location Site area GFA unsold 31 December 2020 Type
20205
12A318
NAKE
&H EE 3 HEER AEEEER EHERE 8
(sq.m.) (sq.m.) (%)
(FRK) (FHK) (%)
Completed development projects
ERTHEEERR
15 Million Cities International Baiyunkeng, Danshui, Huiyang 50,571 26,935 100 Residential and
Phase 110 3 District, Huizhou, Guangdong commercial
Province, the PRC
ERER-Z=H FEEREABMNTERR FEREE
HKKBER
16 Million Cities Legend Phase 1 & 2 Baiyunkeng, Danshui, Huiyang 67,000 31,653 54.5  Residential and
District, Huizhou, Guangdong commercial
Province, the PRC
BHEE-BHR_H HEEREENTERRE FERBEXE
FOKAER
17 Sunshine New Court Phase 1 and 2 Renmin South 4th Road, Shuikou 32,109 13,841 95.39  Residential and
Town, Huicheng District, commercial
Huizhou, Guangdong Province,
the PRC
¥ — Rk = 5 HEEREENTERE FEREE
KAEEARREEE
18 Million Cities Tycoon Place 1 and 2 Jiahe Road South, Xiazhuzhuang 84,808 14,271 55 Residential
Street, Wuging District, Tianjin,
the PRC
BREE-HR-H RERETRBE FTARES i3
BAER
19 Crown Grand Court No. 8 Hesheng Road, Shuikou 43,929 23,056 100 Residential and
Town, Huicheng District, commercial
Huizhou, Guangdong Province,
the PRC
EVRRL FEEREBMTERE TEREE
KOfEA KRBT
20 Dragon Terrace Phase 1 No. 188 Xingfa Road, Tonghu 52,325 36,687 50  Residential and
Ecological Intelligent Zone, commercial
Gaoxin District, Zhongkai,
Huizhou, Guangdong Province,
the PRC
nEa—H REEREEN M ERHEER FERBXE
ERREE M KE1685
Sub-total 330,742 146,443
Uiy
Total 1,072,215 2,328,434
@zt
TETEER o BWIERAERLA
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
EBEENWE D (&)

The following table sets out a summary of the Group’s
investment properties as at 31 December 2020:

No.

Address
1 3k

Description and tenure

R & F 5

TRE YA EER2020F12 A31F KR E
MENEE

Particulars of occupancy

5 RE S

21.

22.

16

A portion of a composite
development, namely Yuehu Ju,
located at No. 36 Xiajiao East

Road, Huicheng District, Huizhou,

Guangdong Province, the PRC

TEEREBMBERET ARE

365 47 & R IR B P E B —

=iP2)

A portion of a commercial
development, namely Port
Vehicle Inspection Yard Office
Building, located at Huifeng 2nd

Road, Huicheng District, Huizhou,

Guangdong Province, the PRC

mEEREBMBERREER K
HEZRRBEABRIERRISH

NREBH—HD

The property comprises a

portion of a retail development
with a total gross floor area of
approximately 1,678.17 sqg.m..

The land use rights of the
subject site were granted for a
term expiring on 4 March 2074
for composite residential use.
ZMERTEEEMELD
1,678 17 F KT EERE

# e

AR T RAED
% 20745348 @m0 1E
EATERS -

The property comprises a
portion of a commercial
development with a total gross
floor area of approximately
443.99 sq.m..

The land use rights of the
subject site were granted for a
term expiring on 1 November
2042 for commercial use.
ZYMEBREEREERELD
44399 F T KB X B R D ©

AR T (E AED E
¥ 204211 A1B f@im - 1E
EEI:EE

The property was completed in
about November 2005 and is
currently available for leasing.

% W) % 2 20059 11 A Al 12 3%
T BATAIHAEE -

The property was completed in
about September 2006 and is
currently available for retail and
office leasing.

%W % B 200659 A A 1% 1%
T-rBRAHEERRAER
%o
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

(i) Revenue

Revenue from sale of properties for FY2020 amounted to
approximately RMB1,238.6 million, as compared with
RMB351.8 million reported last year, representing an
increase by approximately 252.1%. The increase in
revenue was mainly due to the recognition of revenue
from Million Cities Legend Phase 2, which was completed
for delivery in 2020. Revenue recognised for FY2020 was
mainly contributed by Million Cities Legend Phase 2,
Million Cities Tycoon Place Phase 3 and 4 and Crown
Grand Court. Profits from the sales of Dragon Terrace
Phase 2 and Dragon Palace Phase 1 were reflected in
the share of profits of associates.

Rental income

Gross rental income from investment properties and inventories
for FY2020 was approximately RMB2.8 million, as compared
with approximately RMB2.5 million reported last vyear,
representing an increase by 12.0%. The increase in gross
rental income was due to the increase in rental income from
the carparks and inventories during FY2020.

Cost of sales

Cost of sales for FY2020 was approximately RMB690.1 million,
as compared with approximately RMB221.3 million reported last
year, representing an increase approximately by 211.9%. The
increase in cost of sales was in conjunction with the increase
in revenue recognised for FY2020.

Gross profit and gross profit margin

The gross profit for FY2020 was RMB551.2 million (FY2019:
RMB133.0 million) representing an increase by approximately
314.5%, as compared with last year. The gross profit margin
for FY2020 was approximately 44.4% (FY2019: 37.5%). The
increase in gross profit was primarily due to the increase in
revenue recognised for FY2020. Revenue for FY2020 was
mainly contributed by the revenue from Million Cities Legend
Phase 2 which had a higher gross profit margin than the
residentials of Crown Grand Court, resulted in the increase in
gross profit margin for FY2020.

TR CRFFR e EWERARAA

EEEN W R DN (&)

(i) YA

2020 EF R AEBEEEMEMBF K
A#ANREE12386FE L WMEFE TR
M)A R¥351.8E B T IN41252.1% » *
ZERHNERRBE BB E = #H12020
FZ B A » 202087 L F € B R U
AFTEBREBEHHE_H BHRBER=
BN EEE R MIAES —H
REREZE-HNEEENE R ELBE
DA A AR R e

HE2UA
20 MEFEMREMERFTENHS WA
MBEHOBARE2SEE T REFERNL
ARBO5HETENI2.0% - FAS U A B 5E1E
MEBAR020BREFEFESRFENHESE
U A8 A0 o

HE R

20208 M F E W S E A4 A A RE690.158
BT REFERHHARME221.3H & rig
MN4I211.9% - 38 & K AN 3 J0 = 2 2 8120208f
BREEERHKRAEMERS -

EFNRERN=E

2020 M EEMEF A ARKS128E T
(2019 L F [ AR¥E133.0B&E L) &
4 48 1 #9314.5% © 2020871 B £E [ ) E FI| B 4
B44.4% (20198 L F € : 37.5% ) » £ FJ1& 1N
=+ 2 AR 202081 B 4F [E AT #E 58 A9 Uk A 32 N ©
20200 M EFEEM AT ERERE B L E
“HIMKRA  BRAE_HNENZTSRET
SHEE - EEH20200 K F E K FEF K IEp0 -
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

EEEN W R DN (&)

Other net income

Other net income for FY2020 was approximately RMB7.8
million, as compared with approximately RMB14.8 million for
FY2019, representing a decrease by approximately 47.2%,
which was mainly due to the decrease in interest income
during FY2020.

Selling expenses

Selling expenses for FY2020 were approximately RMB14.4
million, as compared with approximately RMB5.8 million
reported in FY2019, representing an increase by 147.4%. The
increase in selling expenses was mainly due to the increase in
revenue, since most of the selling expenses were revenue
linked sales commission.

Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses for FY2020 were approximately
RMB63.7 million, as compared with approximately RMB67.3
million for FY2019, representing a decrease by approximately
5.4%. The decrease in administrative expenses was mainly due
to the decrease in legal and professional fees and equity
settled share-based payment during FY2020.

Finance costs

Finance costs for FY2020 were approximately RMB8.5 million,
as compared with approximately RMB9.8 million reported last
year, representing a decrease by approximately 13.7%. This
was due to the increase in repayment of bank loan and
resulted in the decrease in bank interest expenses.

Income tax

For FY2020, income tax was approximately RMB239.2 million,
representing an increase of approximately RMB198.0 million, as
compared with income tax of approximately RMB41.2 million for
FY2019, which was in line with increase in revenue and gross
profit.

Profit for the year attributable to equity shareholders

of the Company

Profit for the year attributable to equity shareholders of the
Company for FY2020 was approximately RMB112.7 million,
representing an increase by approximately RMB94.8 million or
528.0% year on year due to the increased gross profit for
FY2020.
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Hit g A F 5

2020 M FEM H MW A FREHARE7.88
B B0 BRFEMNHARBI48EE T
B H147.2% - F B2 B 20208 B F E /9 F
BN -

HEMX
20200 M FERSHEREINAARK1448 8
TL o R010 B FE T2 ARKS8H
BT M47.4% - SHERZXENEERHR
WA M(RBHEERZT HERA BB HE
EHE) -

THAX

2020 M FEMITHAX OB ARKSTESE
7T BR019M MEE M AR K738 E TR
DHIBA% - TTHRAXBPEBERBRERER
EXBERAURUERAEEUARND RERNN

TN
W\/)&Q\ °

ELE=§27N

020 MFEHRMEK AN B ARKESSEE
T REFHHARBISEE TR L4
13.7% T ERARNEERITEFTE N - B
RITF BRI R -

B

20200 U EHIFT ISR A) R AR M239.208 8
TL BR010 M FE M EROARKL 2B
BTEMHOARKEIBEE L BRARE
F 3G — B o

ARBERRREGFEEZR
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HRARBN27TAEB L ALHERHARE
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

OTHER FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Liquidity and financial resources

For FY2020, the Group’s cash and cash equivalents were
mainly used in the Group’s business operations, to service the
Group’s indebtedness and to fund the Group’s working capital.
The Group financed its funding requirements mainly through a
combination of cash generated from operating activities and
borrowings. The Group’s gearing ratio as at 31 December
2020 was 31.5%, as compared with 33.9% as at 31
December 2019. Such decrease was mainly due to the
increase in equity for FY2020.

The gearing ratio is calculated as interest bearing bank loans
divided by equity.

As at 31 December 2020, the Group’s cash and cash
equivalents, amounting to approximately RMB366.3 million,
were denominated in HK$(18.6%) and RMB(81.4%).

As at 31 December 2020, the Group’s bank loans were due for
repayment as follows:

EEEN®R DN &)

HirEER
mﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁmﬁ
2020 N E - AKBERNBE S AR EEME
ZAASENEREE BEEHREBNE

BEe AEETERABCEEYHEEESR
ERENESFT K - AEEMEFE L ER2020

F12A318 A31.5% * ®2019F12A318 K
33.9%F Z 2 R N202081 B F [ #E 2

&N FTEL o
BELXRENFABRTERGUES -

MR2020F12A31H  AEBHNRE MR EE
Y4 AN R E366.88 & 7T 0 A TT(18.6%) & A
R¥(81.4%)5H & -

R2020%F 128318 » REBAIRETE A EH
EEBRAOT :

Within one year —F R
After one year but within two years —FREMFNRA
After two years but within five years WEFEEBERFTA

Notes:

(@) The above amounts due are based on the scheduled repayment
dates set out in the relevant agreements and ignore the effect of
any repayment on demand clause.

(b)  As at 31 December 2020, the Group’s bank loans were all
denominated in RMB. The bank loans were interest-bearing at
one-year Loan Prime Rate published by People’s Bank of China
plus 1.2% to 2.125% per annum.

TTFEFR e BUMERBERAF

A

2020 2019
20204 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T ARET T
315,245 168,462
53,292 123,377
= 21,263
368,537 313,102
Bt 5E
(@) LA P BB IE J E R A SR E Y A
BB B E B R R SRR
SEZ B

(b)  H2020%12H318 - ZK%I R ER1TE 5K A

ARBAE -RITEREZTRARBITAM
M—FHES Rﬁ*a’“lﬁbuiém%imz&s%
E-I_rv—
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

EEEN W R DN (&)

() As at 31 December 2020, the Group’s certain bank loans were
secured by inventories with a total carrying amount of
approximately RMB963.9 million.

Financial risk management objectives and policies
The Group’s management has adopted certain policies on
financial risk management with the objective of: (i) ensuring that
appropriate funding strategies are adopted to meet the Group’s
short term and long term funding requirements taking into
consideration of the cost of funding, gearing ratios and cash
flow projections of the Group; and (ii) ensuring that appropriate
strategies are also adopted to minimise the interest rate risk,
credit risk and liquidity risk.

Interest rate risk

The Group’s interest rate risk arises primarily from borrowings
issued at variable rates that expose the Group to cash flow
interest rate risk. The Group did not enter into any financial
instruments to hedge against interest rate risk for FY2020 but
the Board will continue to closely monitor the Group’s loan
portfolio in order to manage the Group’s interest rate risk
exposure.

Credit risk

As of 31 December 2020, no trade debtors of the Group were
past due. The Group normally receives full payment from
buyers before delivering the property. For mortgage sales
without settlement, the Group would not deliver the property to
the customers unless it obtains confirmation from the banks
providing mortgage that the respective mortgages have been
approved. In addition, the Group would not transfer titles of the
properties to customers until full amount of sale proceeds are
received. Accordingly, the Group is of the view that the
expected irrecoverable trade debtors were insignificant. Thus no
bad debt provision for trade debtors was recognised for
FY2020.

As at 31 December 2020, all the Group’s bank balances and
deposits were held with major financial institutions in Hong
Kong and the PRC which the Directors believe are of high
credit quality. The Directors do not expect any losses arising
from the non-performance by these financial institutions.
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() 2020128318 AL EE THRITENH
HEEEEOARKIS3.9H E TN FEFIEA -

TREAREERERBER
AEBNEEECERAARSREREIEN
HETHE AERRERBEENESRBEY
AEBNEHALRHPESFTR(BELREED
BelA AELXEESREFAR) + K
RRAEERERDHNXER  EERAR
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MBFE  AEBEYESHSE T AL PR X
R EEFEREEZNERAEENER
HENEBAEENF RRER -

EERKE
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty
in meeting obligations associated with financial liabilities. The
Group’s policy is to regularly monitor its liquidity requirements
and its compliance with lending covenants, to ensure that it
maintains sufficient reserves of cash and adequate committed
lines of funding from major financial institutions to meet its
liquidity requirements in the short and long terms. The Group
has not experienced and does not expect to experience any
difficulties in meeting credit obligations when they fall due.

Capital expenditures

The Group incurred capital expenditures of approximately
RMB256.4 million for FY2020, which were mainly related to the
replacement of office and electronic equipment and interest in
associates. These capital expenditures were fully financed by
internal resources.

Capital commitments

The Group’s capital commitments as at 31 December 2020
amounted to approximately RMB610.0 million which were
mainly related to development costs for the Group’s properties
under development.

Charge on assets

As at 31 December 2020, the Group’s inventories with a total
carrying amount of approximately RMB963.9 million were
pledged to banks to secure certain banking facilities granted to
the Group.

Contingent liabilities

During FY2020, the Group has issued guarantees to banks to
secure the mortgage arrangements of certain property buyers.
The outstanding guarantees to the banks, amounted to
approximately RMB274.6 million as at 31 December 2020, will
be terminated upon completion of transferring the legal title of
the properties to the property buyers. The Directors consider
loss arising from these guarantees as a result of default
payment by customers to be insignificant, as the banks have
the rights to sell the property and recover the outstanding loan
balance from sales proceeds. The Group has not recognised
any deferred income in respect of these guarantees as their fair
values are considered to be insignificant.

TR CRFFR e EWERARAA

EEEN W R DN (&)

REE S @R

nBETRARDAKEERITESBAER
MOHEERSEIRENRER - REBEKBE
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EEEA
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

EEEN W R DN (&)

During FY2020, the Group provided guarantee to secure the
loan borrowed by an associate of the Group. The total banking
facility secured by this guarantee was approximately RMB1.45
billion and the outstanding loan balance was RMB600.0 million
as at 31 December 2020. The bank loan is also jointly
guaranteed by another shareholder of the associate and
secured by the inventories of the associate. Deferred income of
approximately RMB2.4 million was recognised in respect of this
financial guarantee as at 31 December 2020.

Significant investments, acquisitions and disposals

In 2020, the Group entered into an agreement with an
independent third party (the “Partner”), pursuant to which, the
Group and the Partner invested to 30% and 70% of the equity
interest in Star Linkage Financial Holdings Limited (“Star
Linkage”) respectively. Star Linkage together with its
subsidiaries (“Star Linkage Group”) were treated as an
associate of the Group (the “Associate”). The Group has paid a
capital loan of RMB93 million to the Associate during the year.

In 2020, the Associate entered into an agreement with an
independent third party (the “Seller”), pursuant to which, the
Associate will acquire 100% equity interest in Shenzhen Guoxin
Electric Development Limited (I TEHZEE FERFR A A,
“Shenzhen Guoxin”), a company incorporated in the PRC which
owns four land parcels in Shenzhen, at a consideration of
RMB560 million (the “Consideration”).

Up to 31 December 2020, the Associate has paid RMB310
million to the Seller, acquiring 70% equity interest in Shenzhen
Guoxin.

The remaining consideration of RMB250 million will be payable
in 2 installments before the end of 2022. The 70% equity
interest in Shenzhen Guoxin was charged to the Seller which
will be released upon a full settlement of the Consideration and
all contractual obligations have been fulfilled by the Associate.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

On 12 October 2020, Huizhou Million Cities Corporate
Management Company Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company, entered into an agreement with Shenzhen Logan
Real Estate Company Limited (“Logan”) and Huizhou Logan
Junhong Real Estate Company Limited (“Logan Junhong”).
Pursuant to such agreement, it was agreed that the Group
shall acquire 30% equity interest in Logan Junhong at a
consideration of approximately RMB158.8 million. For further
details, please refer to the announcement of the Company
dated 12 October 2020. Logan obtained a land parcel with a
site area of approximately 38,200 square metres located in
Tonggiao Town, Zhongkai High-tech Zone, Huizhou City, the
PRC in September 2020 and Logan Junhong has obtained the
title documents of the land parcel on 21 September 2020. The
Group will cooperate with Logan for the property development
in the above site.

Events after balance sheet date
The Group has no significant event subsequent to the year
ended 31 December 2020.

Operating segment information

The Group’s revenue and results for FY2020 were derived from
property development. Performance assessment is based on
the results of the Group as a whole. Therefore, management of
the Group considers there is only one operating segment.

The geographic information is disclosed in a manner consistent
with the way in which information is reported internally to the
Group’s chief operating decision maker for allocation of
resources and performance assessment.

Human resources and emolument policy

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had a total of 187 (2019:
163) full-time employees in the PRC and Hong Kong. For
FY2020, the total staff costs, including the directors’
emoluments, amounted to approximately RMB39.5 million
(2019: RMB43.8 million).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

EEEN W R DN (&)

The Group’s emolument policies are formulated based on the
performance and experience of individual employee and are in
line with the salary trends in Hong Kong and the PRC. Other
employee benefits include performance-linked bonuses,
insurance and medical coverage and share options.

Since human resources management is an important factor in
maintaining and enhancing the Group’s strong expertise in the
property development, the Group will provide appropriate
training programs to the employees as the Group sees fit. From
time to time, different on-the-job training will be provided to
employees in order to ensure continuous staff development and
skills upgrading.

Remuneration policy of Directors and senior
management

The Directors and senior management of the Group receive
compensation in the form of salaries and discretionary bonuses
related to the performance of the Group. The Group also
reimburses them for expenses which are necessarily and
reasonably incurred for providing services to the Group or
executing their functions in relation to the Group’s operations.
The remuneration committee will regularly review and determine
the remuneration and compensation package of the Directors
and senior management, by reference to, among other things,
market level of salaries paid by comparable companies, the
respective responsibilities of the Directors and senior
management and the performance of the Group.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND MEMBERS OF SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EERS

Chairman and non-executive Director

Mr. Wong Ting Chung (£ EH), BBS, JP, aged 59, is the non-
executive Director, chairman of the Board, a member of the
Nomination Committee and a member of the Remuneration
Committee. Mr. Wong is the founder of the Group, and is
primarily responsible for the overall strategic planning and
business direction of the Group.

Mr. Wong has over in property
investment, property development and management. He
established his business through Huizhou China Field, a project
company engaged in the construction and sale of high quality
residential complexes, in 2003 and was responsible for overall
management of the company. Mr. Wong assumed various
directorships in Nameson and Nameson Group, where he
served as the chief executive officer and the chairman of the
board of directors of Nameson from August 2015 to March
2021.

17 years of experience

Mr. Wong graduated from Hong Kong Yee Tong Ye College (&
75 5B E) in 1978. Mr. Wong is currently a delegate of the
Hong Kong Special Administrative Region to the National
People’s Congress of the PRC (B ARAREXAREFBERARR)
and the chairman of Hong Kong Industrial and Commercial
Association General Chamber Executive Committee (&8 L%
HweedESHTEESE). Mr. Wong is brother-in-law of Mr. Lau
Ka Keung. Mr. Lau Ka Keung is an executive Director.

Subsequent to FY2020, Mr. Wong was re-designated as
executive Director and was appointed as a member of the
Executive Committee with effect on 1 April 2021.
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Executive Directors

Mr. Lau Ka Keung (X)), vH, JP, aged 45, is the executive
Director, the chairman of the Executive Committee and the
chief executive officer of the Company. Mr. Lau is responsible
for execution of strategic planning and general management of
the Group.

Mr. Lau has served as an executive director and the chief
executive officer of Million Cities Development Limited since
August 2016. From January 2006, Mr. Lau has assumed
various directorships in the Group, including China Lands
Investments Limited, Join Kong, Cheer Happy, Huizhou Cheer
Happy, Huizhou China Field and Tianjin Jianji. Mr. Lau held
several positions in the Nameson Group from August 1999 to
March 2013, including information technology manager, vice
president, and executive director. From August 2015 to April
2018, Mr. Lau served as a non-executive director in Nameson.
Mr. Lau received his bachelor’'s degree in information
technology from Manchester Metropolitan University, the United
Kingdom in July 1997 and obtained his master’'s degree in
business administration from University of Leicester, the United
Kingdom in July 2008. Mr. Lau has served as national
committee member of the 13th Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference in China (T ARBAHHE %S
+=E2EZ% %), executive committee member of the 14th
Tianjin Committee of Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference (TRIARBUA B E@BZREMETHEEBELZE
&) and Vice Chairman of Tianjin Federation of Industry and
Commerce (KEM L84 2). Mr. Lau also served as an
executive member of the 13th of All China Youth Federation
(FE2RSFHEEET-EEHEZEGZELE) as well as the
Chairman of the 28th Hong Kong United Youth Association.
Mr. Lau is brother-in-law of Mr. Wong Ting Chung. Mr. Wong
Ting Chung is the chairman of the Company and the
non-executive Director during FY2020 (later re-designated as an
executive Director with effect on 1 April 2021).
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Mr. Cheng Kwan Kuen (Z8Z #), aged 60, is an executive
Director and the general manager of the Group.

Mr. Cheng is graduated from University of Wales, UK, with a
master’s degree in business administration. Mr. Cheng has 40
years of experience in the real estate industry, including over
31 years of experience in real estate development and
operation management in China.

Mr. Cheng worked for a number of well-known real estate
companies where he was responsible for management,
including Henderson Land Development Company Limited
(stock code:012), Henderson (China) Investment Co. Ltd.,
Zhejiang Centaline/Nanjing Centaline and Yat Chau Holding. He
has extensive experience in the operation management of real
estate.

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Ip Shu Kwan, Stephen (E &%) GBS, JP, aged 69, is the
independent non-executive Director, chairman of the
Nomination Committee and a member of the Audit Committee.
Mr. Ip is responsible for providing independent opinion and
judgment to the Board.

Mr. lp is currently serving as
director of six companies listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange, namely China Resources Cement Holdings
Limited (stock code: 1313) since August 2008, Lai Sun
Development Company Limited (stock code: 488) since
December 2009, Kingboard Laminates Holdings Limited (stock
code: 1888) since May 2011, Luk Fook Holdings (International)
Limited (stock code: 590) since October 2011, Nameson since
April 2018 and C-MER Eye Care Holdings Limited (stock code:
3309) since November 2020. Mr. Ip also served as independent
non-executive director of Synergis Holdings Limited (stock
code: 2340) from September 2008 to December 2017. From
November 1973 to July 2007, Mr. Ip held various positions in
The Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region, such as Commissioner of Insurance, Commissioner for
Labour, Secretary for Economic Services and Secretary for
Financial Services and Secretary for Economic Development
and Labour.

independent non-executive

TR CRFFR e EWERARAA

EEREREEEBEEFB#A)

BERELL 605 RAKEHATESERAL
i

WELEXNRBEEBALIAZ BB IHER
FRE B8 - B L EFEMETTRIF B
BIFETEEHERENEEEELR -

BEECNEZEELREHELRLETERT
fE BREEKZHWEFR QA (KMHRKE:
012) ~ BE(PEREBFR AR HIHR
MRPR  —MNEEE ZRLEFHEZE
EEAR -

BYFHTES

ERB LGRS JP 695K 0 AB A IE L 3E
WITES REZESETFRBFZTEEK
B-ZEAEEBENESEREBIELRHA
B o

BEEARABANBEBIMER LEMARNE L
FHITEE BREEHKEERERAF (K
MARIR - 1313)(H2008F8A ) - B ERE B
RN A (B 5 R 5% : 488) (BE 2009412 A #£) »
BEBERZERER QA (KRG RE : 1888)
(B2011F5A#8) NEEE (HE) AR A F
(B R 8% - 590)(BE2011410A #2) - e (%
DHRER - 1982)(B2018F4 A #E) K A IR £l B8
BEERAR QR (KRG MR - 3309) (B20205F
11 A #8) o A2008F9H E2017F12H » A A
MAESBEERERA A (BRMHARSR - 2340) BB
S IEHMITE E - B19735F11 A E20075E7 A -
HEEETREBRFITERE RN L TZ @B
i BRERBREEREZE SBIERK - &F
RPREMIIKEGRBARUARKEERERE RS
IRRk-

27




BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND MEMBERS OF SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

EEREREEEBRER B (&)

Mr. lp graduated from the University of Hong Kong with a
bachelor’s degree in social sciences in September 1973, and
he subsequently completed the program for management
development at Harvard University Graduate School of
Business Administration in November 1986.

Mr. Ip received the Gold Bauhinia Star award from The
Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region in
2001 and he was appointed as an unofficial Justice of the
Peace in July 2007.

Mr. Li Yinquan (Z 5| £), aged 65, is the independent non-
executive Director, chairman of the Audit Committee and a
member of the Remuneration Committee. Mr. Li is responsible
for providing independent opinion and judgment to the Board.

Mr. Li has extensive experience in financial management. He
served as an executive director of China Merchants Port
Holdings Company Limited (formerly known as China
Merchants Holdings (International) Company Limited) (a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 144)) from June 2001 to March 2015 and as a
non-executive director of China Merchants Bank Co., Ltd. (a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 3968) and the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock
code: 600036)) from April 2001 to June 2016. He was an
executive director of China Merchants Energy Shipping Co., Ltd
(@ company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock
code: 601872)) from April 2007 to September 2010 and was
an executive director of China Merchants China Direct
Investments Limited (a company listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange (stock code: 133)) from July 2008 to April
2017. He is currently serving as an independent non-executive
director of four companies listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange, namely Genertec Universal Medical Group
Company Limited (Stock code: 2666, formerly known as
Universal Medical Financial and Technical Advisory Services
Company Limited) since June 2015, Hong Kong Shanghai
Alliance Holdings Limited (stock code: 1001) since July 2018,
Kimou Environmental Holding Limited (stock code: 6805) since
June 2019 and China Everbright Bank Company Limited (stock
code: 6818) (the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code:
601818)) since June 2020. He has also been serving as an
independent non-executive director of LIZHI INC. (a company
listed on the NASDAQ stock exchange (stock code: LIZI)) since
January 2020.
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Throughout the significant years of employment with certain
Hong Kong listed companies, Mr. Li has performed duties
including supervising on the listed companies’ financial
management, involved in various types of transactions in
relation to the Listing Rules and reviewing and analysing
audited financial statements of listed companies. Mr. Li has
gained relevant experience in, including but not limited to, (i)
review and preparation of comparable and/or audited financial
statements of Hong Kong listed companies; (i) review of
internal control systems; and (jii) analysis of financial statements
and information of Hong Kong listed companies. Moreover, Mr.
Li has also obtained vast experience in collaborating and
dealing with internal and external auditors regarding the
supervision of internal financial controls and the auditing of
financial statements.

Mr. Li received his bachelor’'s degree in economics from
Shaanxi Institute of Finance and Economics (Pt 78 Bf 4 £ %) in
July 1983. He subsequently obtained his master’s degree in
economics from the PBC School of Finance, Tsinghua
University (BE XS RHEBE O 25 2Ft) (formerly known as
Graduate School of the People’s Bank of China (B A REE1T
BITERMFTAT) in July 1986. In October 1988, Mr. Li
obtained his master’'s degree in banking and finance for
development from Finafrica Institute in Milan, Italy. In August
1989, he was accredited as senior economist by the Appraisal
and Approval Committee for Professional & Technical
Qualification of the Agricultural Bank of China.
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Dr. Wu Wing Kuen (#87k #), BBS, aged 64, is the independent
non-executive Director, chairman of the
committee, a member of the nomination committee and a
member of the audit committee of the Company. Dr. Wu is
responsible for providing independent opinion and judgment to
the Board.

remuneration

Dr. Wu has over 27 vyears of experience in real estate
investment. He has been serving as a director of Jet View
Investment Limited since December 1991 and as a director of
Jade Mind Investment Limited since October 2004. Both
companies are principally engaged in real estate investments.
Dr. Wu is currently serving as independent non-executive
director of two companies listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange, namely Nanfang Communication Holdings
Limited (stock code: 1617) since November 2016 and
HongGuang Lighting Holdings Company Limited (stock code:
6908) since December 2016. Dr. Wu has also served as an
independent non-executive director of two companies listed on
the Growth Enterprise Market of the Stock Exchange, namely
Food Idea Holdings Limited (stock code: 8179) since January
2019 and EFT Solutions Holdings Limited (stock code: 8062)
since March 2019.

Dr. Wu obtained his doctoral degree in business administration
from the Clayton University in the United States in June 1989.

Dr. Wu was awarded the Bronze Bauhinia Star by The
Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region in
July 2012. Dr. Wu is currently a voting member of the Hong
Kong Jockey Club and president of the Sha Tin District
Community Fund. Dr. Wu has also served the community
under various other positions in the past. He is a member of
the Appeal Tribunals Panel of the Planning and Lands Branch
of the Development Bureau of The Government of the Hong
Kong Special Administrative Region.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The senior management of the Group is responsible for the
day-to-day management and operation of business of the
Group. The senior management team of the Group is as
follows:

Mr. Li Wa Tat, Benedict (Z#E), aged 54, is the chief
financial officer and company secretary of the Company. Mr. Li
is responsible for overseeing financial management, formulating
financial strategies and managing company secretarial matters
of the Company.

Mr. Li has extensive experience in finance management. He
held senior finance positions
corporations either listed in the United States of America,
Australia, Japan or Hong Kong. Mr. Li earns his exposures in
different industries including property, manufacturing, logistics,
energy as well as banking.

in various multi-national

Mr. Li received his master degree in E-Business from City
University of Hong Kong in 2002 and master degree in
business administration from University of Warwick in United
Kingdom in 1997. He is also a fellow of The Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants, an associate of each of The
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, The Hong
Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries and The Institute of
Chartered Secretaries and Administrators.

Mr. Lu Binggian (EX#), aged 47, is the general manager of
Tianjin Jianji. Mr. Lu is responsible for the overall management
and operation of Tianjin Jianji.

Mr. Lu has over 13 years of experience in real estate
engineering construction. Mr. Lu joined the Group in August
2007. From August 2007 to March 2013, he worked as finance
manager in Huizhou Cheer Happy, where he was responsible
for financial and marketing management. Since May 2016, Mr.
Lu has served as the general manager of Tianjin Jianjin, where

he is responsible for the overall management of Tianjin Jianji.
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Mr. Chen Junbin (FR&3E), aged 46, is the vice general
manager of the Group. Mr. Chen is mainly responsible for
project investment, sales strategy and project design.

Mr. Chen has over 21 in project
investment. Mr. Chen joined the Group in October 2016. Prior
to joining the Group, from June 2013 to May 2016, Mr. Chen
served as a general manager of Jinzhou Pinggang Property
Co., Ltd. ($8 I F & B E B R A 7]), where he was responsible
for project management. From July 1998 to October 2012, Mr.
Chen served as a marketing director and deputy general
manager of COSCO Guangzhou Construction Industry Co. (&
PR F R E ¥ A 7)), where he was responsible for project
management.

years of experience

Mr. Chen received his bachelor’'s degree in investment and
economics from Guangdong Business School (& 5 & £67)
(renamed as Guangdong University of Finance & Economics in
2013) in June 1998. Mr. Chen was accredited as a real estate
economist by the Ministry of Personnel (B A = &) of the
PRC in November 2002.

Ms. Yin Yezhen, aged 45, is the director of cost management
of the Group. Ms. Yin is responsible for the project cost
management, contract management and procurement
management.

Ms. Yin has over 23 years of experience in construction
management and has been responsible for cost management
and measurement. Ms. Yin had been the assistant to the
general project manager of Crown Plaza Huizhou and Grand
Square Hotel Wuhu, both of which are owned by Mr. Wong
Ting Chung, and the manager of the cost department of
Sunshine New Court and Crown Grand Court of the Group
since July 2007, and was promoted to the director of cost
management of the Group in March 2020.

Ms. Yin holds a bachelor’s degree in engineering management
from the Dalian University of Technology, certification of Grade
One Constructor (construction engineering) and qualification
certificate for senior engineer in construction engineering
management.
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Mr. Quan Jianxu (B Z 5F), aged 40, is the director of human
resources and administration of the Group. Mr. Quan is
responsible for human resources management, administration,
corporate culture management and government relations.

Mr. Quan has over 11 years of experience in human resources
and administrative management and he has been responsible
for human resource affairs and administrative operations. Mr.
Quan joined the Group in August 2016. Prior to that, from
June 2009 to May 2016, Mr. Quan served as the manager of
human resources department of Huizhou Huipeng Real Estate
Development Co., Ltd. (EMEESHEMRZEABR A F]), and
was subsequently promoted to the human resources and
administrative director in November 2010.

Mr. Quan received his bachelor’'s degree in business
administration from Xi’an University of Technology (78 % 2 T X
) in June 2009. In November 2009, Mr. Quan was
recognised as human resources manager by the Ministry of
Human Resources and Social Security of the PRC. In January
2014, he was accredited the title of intermediate economist by
the Huizhou personnel bureau.

Mr. Huang Daode (ZE3i&%£), aged 49, is the director of design
of the Group. Mr. Huang is responsible for product research
and design management of the property development projects
of the Group.

Mr. Huang has over 17 years of experience in project design
management. Mr. Huang joined the Group in December 2016.
Prior to that, from May 2011 to May 2016, Mr. Huang also
worked as chief architect and project manager of Shenzhen
Huayang International Engineering Design Co., Ltd. (% 3l T %
B% B BR T2 ;R 5T A% 17 B BR 2 &), where he was responsible for
project management. From March 2003 to May 2011, Mr.
Huang served as chief architect and project handler of
Shenzhen Urbanspace Planning and Architectural Design Co.,
Ltd. (RYIEBTH =@ R BB AR QB). From May 1997 to
February 2003, Mr. Huang served as an architect of Shenzhen
Huasen Architectural & Engineering Designing Consultants Ltd.

(RINERZERTRRABEFBRAAF).
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Mr. Huang obtained his college diploma in real estate
economics and administration from Huazhong Normal University
(FEP AT E K E) in June 1993, and he received his bachelor’s
degree in civil engineering from Northwestern Polytechnical
University (P84t T 2 KX £) in July 2016 by distant learning.

Ms. Luo Hongbing (#A4L L), aged 43, is the director of
finance of the Group. Ms. Luo is responsible for financial
management, budgets and taxation of the Group.

Ms. Luo has more than 15 years of experience in finance and
accounting. Ms. Luo joined the Group in August 2018. Prior to
that, Ms. Luo served as a finance manager of Fantasia Huizhou
Company Limited* (&% 4F b & B M % /1 2 &) from July 2011
to January 2017. From January 2004 to June 2011, Ms. Luo
served as a finance manager and tax manager of a member of
TCL Corporation.

Ms. Luo received her bachelor’'s degree in management from
Hunan University (%5 X&) in May 2001, and she received her
master’s degree in management from Sichuan University (74 )I|
KE) in December 2012. She obtained the qualification of
intermediate accountant issued by the Ministry of Finance of
the PRC in May 2005.

*

For identification purpose only
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

As the Company believes that good corporate governance can
create value for its shareholders, the Board is committed to
maintain a high standard of corporate governance practices by
placing strong emphasis on a quality Board, sound internal
controls and effective accountability to the shareholders as a
whole. The Company has adopted the CG Code as set out in
Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules as its own code of corporate
governance. In the opinion of the Directors, the Company has
complied with all the mandatory code provisions set out in the
CG Code for the year ended 31 December 2020.

The Board will continue to enhance its corporate governance
practices to ensure that it complies with the CG Code and
aligns with the latest developments.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in
Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as its own code for securities
transactions by the Directors.

All Directors have confirmed, following specific enquiries made
by the Company, that they have fully complied with the
required standards set out in the Model Code and the
Company’s code of conduct for the year ended 31 December
2020.

Relevant employees who are likely to be in possession of
inside information of the Group are also subject to compliance
with written guidelines on terms no less exacting than the
required standards set out in the Model Code. Each of the
relevant employees has been given a copy of the written
guidelines.

No incident of non-compliance with these guidelines by the

relevant employees has been notified to the Company for the
year ended 31 December 2020.
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Responsibilities of the Board

The Board is responsible for, and has general powers under
the memorandum and articles of association of the Company
for, the leadership and oversight of the Company’s
management and performance and the formulation and review
of the Group’s overall policies and strategies.

The Board is also responsible for performing corporate
governance duties, including the (i) development and review of
the Company’s policies and practices on corporate
governance; and (i) review of the Company’s compliance with
Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules and disclosures in the
corporate governance report. All major decisions, including but
not limited to those decisions affecting the financial results,
operations and shareholders of the Company, such as financial
statements, business acquisitions, major transactions and
dividend policies, are made by the Board as a whole. Each
Director is aware of his fiduciary duties and duties and
responsibilities as a director under the Listing Rules, the CG
Code and applicable laws and regulations, and has acted
objectively for the benefit and best interests of the Company
and its shareholders.

Decisions of the Board are communicated to the senior
management through executive Directors. The day-to-day
management, administration and operation of the Group are
delegated to the executive Directors and an independent senior
management team. The senior management team is also
responsible for the supervision and execution of the Group’s
business plans. The Board reviews periodically the performance
of the senior management team.

Certain functions and responsibilities are delegated to
committees established by the Board. For details, please refer
to the sub-sections headed “Executive Committee”, “Audit
Committee”, “Remuneration Committee” and “Nomination
Committee” below.
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Composition of the Board

As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprises two
executive Directors, one non-executive Director and three
independent non-executive Directors whose names are listed
below. Each member of the Board brings a wide spectrum of
valuable experience, knowledge and expertise to the Board for
its efficient and effective functioning.

Board of Directors
Non-executive Director
Mr. Wong Ting Chung (Chairman)
(later re-designated as executive Director since 1 April 2021)

Executive Directors

Mr. Lau Ka Keung (Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. Cheng Kwan Kuen (General Manager, appointed with effect
from 30 March 2020)

Mr. Wong Ka Lun (Chief Operating Officer)
(resigned with effect from 18 May 2020)

Ms. Lau Pui Kwan (Company Secretary)
(resigned with effect from 25 August 2020)

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Ip Shu Kwan, Stephen

Mr. Li Yinquan

Dr. Wu Wing Kuen

Except for the family relationship between Mr. Wong Ting
Chung and Mr. Lau Ka Keung as disclosed in the section
headed “Biographical details of directors and members of
senior management” of this annual report, there is no financial,
business, family or other relevant relationship between the
Directors.

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the Company has
complied with the requirements of the Listing Rules to have at
least three independent non-executive Directors representing at
least one-third of the Board with at least one of them
possessing appropriate professional qualifications or accounting
or related financial management expertise.
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Having considered the factors for assessing the independence
of independent non-executive Directors under Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules and the written annual confirmations from each
independent non-executive Director, the Board considers all of
its independent non-executive Directors to be independent.

The list of Directors (by category) is disclosed in all corporate
communications issued by the Company pursuant to the
Listing Rules. A list of Directors identifying their roles and
functions is also available on the Company’'s website at
www.millioncities.com.cn and on the website of the Stock
Exchange.

Terms of appointment of Directors

Executive Directors and non-executive Director

Each of the executive Directors and non-executive Director has
entered into a service contract for an initial fixed term of three
years. The appointment may be terminated by not less than
three months’ notice in writing served by either the relevant
Director or the Company.

Independent non-executive Directors

Each of the independent non-executive Directors was
appointed by the Company for an initial fixed term of three
years commencing from 20 December 2018. The appointment
may be terminated by not less than three months’ notice in
writing served by either the relevant Director or the Company.

Nomination, appointment, re-election and removal
procedures

The procedures and process of appointment, re-election and
removal of Directors are set out in the Company’s articles of
association. Every Director is subject to the provisions of
retirement by rotation at least once every three years. Any
Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall
hold office only until the first general meeting of the Company
after his or her appointment and be subject to re-election at
such meeting.
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The Nomination Committee has been established on 26
November 2018 to review the structure, size and composition
of the Board at least annually to ensure that the Board has a
balance of expertise, skills and experience appropriate to meet
the requirements of the Company. This committee will identify
individuals who are qualified or suitable for directorship, assess
their qualifications, skills, prior experience, character and other
relevant aspects, including but not limited to their
independence in the case of an independent non-executive
Director candidate, and make recommendations to the Board
on the appointment or re-appointment of Directors or the filling
of casual vacancies on the Board or any other proposed
changes to the Board to complement the Company’s corporate
strategies. Please refer to the sub-section headed “Nomination
Committee”
Committee.

below for more details on the Nomination

Board practices and conduct of meetings

Directors are given the opportunity to include matters in the
agenda for Board meetings with notices of regular Board
meetings given or to be given at least 14 days in advance.
Notices and agenda of the Board meetings are prepared by the
company secretary of the Company as delegated by the
chairman. Directors are provided with adequate and timely
information to allow them to fulfill their duties properly. They are
allowed to seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances at the Company’s expenses.

Directors are encouraged to make a full and active contribution
to the Board’s affairs and to voice out their views and
concerns. Directors are supplied with sufficient information and
given sufficient time for discussion to ensure that Board
decisions fairly reflect Board consensus.
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A Director who to his or her knowledge is in any way, whether
directly or indirectly, interested in a contract or arrangement or
proposed contract or arrangement with the Company shall
declare the nature of his or her interest at the meeting of the
Board at which the question of entering into the contract or
arrangement is first taken into consideration, if he or she
knows his or her interest then exists, or in any other case, at
the first meeting of the Board after he or she knows that he or
she is or has become so interested. Subject to the articles of
association of the Company, a Director shall not vote (nor be
counted in the quorum) on any resolution of the Board
approving any contract or arrangement or other proposal in
which he or she or any of his or her close associates is
materially interested.

Minutes of Board meetings and meetings of Board committees
containing sufficient detail of the matters considered and
decisions reached, including any concerns raised or dissenting
views expressed, are sent to each Director for their review,
comment and records within a reasonable time after each
meeting. Final versions of such minutes are kept by the
company secretary of the Company and are open for
inspection by Directors upon reasonable notice.
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Board meetings

During the year ended 31 December 2020, five physical Board
meetings were held at which the Directors reviewed and
approved, among other things, (i) the annual results and report
of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2019; (i) the
appointment of Mr. Cheng Kwan Kuen as an executive
Director, a member of the Executive Committee and General
Manager; (iii) the resignation of Mr. Wong Ka Lun as an
executive Director, a member of the Executive Committee and
the Chief Operating Officer; (iv) the quarterly results of the
Group for the three months ended 31 March 2020; (v) the
interim results and report of the Group for the six months
ended 30 June 2020; (vi) the resignation of Ms. Lau Pui Kwan
as an executive Director, a member of the Executive
Committee, company secretary and authorized representative
and the appointment of Mr. Li Wa Tat Benedict as company
secretary and authorized representative; and (vii) the quarterly
results of the Group for the nine months ended 30 September
2020. The attendance records of individual Directors at the
aforementioned Board meetings during FY2020 and at the
Company’s annual general meeting held on 5 June 2020 are
set out below:
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Attendance/
Number of meetings
HERE SFBRE
Annual
Board general
meetings meeting
Name of Director EEHA EEggE RRBEFKE
Non-executive Director HHITESE
Mr. Wong Ting Chung (Chairman) FRERSEE (F/E) 4/5 1/1
Executive Directors HITEE
Mr. Lau Ka Keung (Chief Executive Officer) 18 5% 38 5 4 (77 1B 42 2’5@) 5/5 1/1
Mr. Cheng Kwan Kuen (General Manager, B F i 5 (AR AT HE
appointed with effect from 30 March 2020)  #2020%3 A30H Z‘ié{f) 5/5 1/1
Mr. Wong Ka Lun (Chief Operating Officer)  E R fa %k (& /E & EHE
(resigned with effect from 18 May 2020) (720205 H18H & 1) 1/1 N/A 7~ i@
Ms. Lau Pui Kwan (Company Secretary) 2ME XL (NEIWE)
(resigned with effect from 25 August 2020)  (#220209F8 8250 B {T) 4/4 1/1
Independent non-executive Directors BUHBITESE
Mr. Ip Shu Kwan, Stephen EHELEE 5/5 1/1
Mr. Li Yinquan FE|REAE 4/5 1/1
Dr. Wu Wing Kuen Ak ETE £ 5/5 11
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
Mr. Wong Ting Chung serves as the chairman of the Company.
He is responsible for the overall strategic planning and
business direction of the Group. With the support of the
executive Directors and the company secretary, the chairman
approves the agenda for, and chairs, Board meetings to ensure
that all key and appropriate issues are discussed in a timely
manner, including any matters proposed by other Directors. He
is responsible for the effective functioning of the Board,
including but not limited to taking steps to ensure that all
Directors are properly briefed on issues arising at Board
meetings, providing all Directors with adequate information
which is accurate, clear, complete and reliable in a timely
manner, communicating shareholders’ views to the Board as a
whole and promoting a culture of openness and constructive
debate during Board meetings.

Mr. Lau Ka Keung serves as the chief executive officer of the
Company. He is responsible for the execution of the strategic
planning and general management of the Group.

BOARD COMMITTEES

Executive Committee

The Executive Committee was established on 3 June 2019 with
written terms of reference approved and adopted by the Board
on the same date. The primary duties of the Executive
Committee include (but not limited to): (i) discussing and
making decisions on day to day management and operation
matters of the Group; (i) evaluating, determining and presenting
to the Board’s approval the Company’s funding requirement
and strategy; (iiij monitoring and overseeing the financial and
operational performance of the Group; and (iv) assessing and
making recommendations to the Board on major acquisitions of
or investments in business or projects. For year ended 31
December 2020, the Executive Committee consists of all
executive Directors, namely Mr. Lau Ka Keung (chairman of the
Executive Committee), Mr. Cheng Kwan Kuen (appointed as a
committee member with effect from 30 March 2020), Mr.
Wong Ka Lun (resigned as a committee member with effect
from 18 May 2020) and Ms. Lau Pui Kwan (resigned as a
committee member with effect from 25 August 2020). The
written terms of reference of the Executive Committee have
been made available on the Company’s website at
www.millioncities.com.cn and on the website of the Stock
Exchange.
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Audit Committee

The Audit Committee was established with written terms of
reference in compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules and
paragraph C3 of the CG Code. The primary duties of the Audit
Committee are to assist the Board by providing an
independent view of the effectiveness of the financial reporting
process, internal control and risk management systems of the
Group, to oversee the audit process, to develop and review the
accounting policies of the Group and to perform other duties
and responsibilities as assigned by the Board. For the year
ended 31 December 2020, the Audit Committee consists of
three independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Li
Yingquan (chairman of the Audit Committee who possesses the
appropriate professional qualification or accounting or related
financial management expertise), Mr. Ip Shu Kwan, Stephen,
and Dr. Wu Wing Kuen. The written terms of reference of the
Audit Committee has been made available on the Company’s
website at www.millioncities.com.cn and on the website of the
Stock Exchange. The Audit Committee has reviewed with the
management of the Group the accounting principles and
practices adopted by the Group and discussed internal controls
and financial reporting matters including a review of the
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2020.

The Audit Committee held four physical meetings during the
year ended 31 December 2020. In these four meetings, the
Audit Committee discussed and reviewed, among other things,
() the accuracy and fairness of the Group’s audited annual
results for the year ended 31 December 2019 and unaudited
interim results for the six months ended 30 June 2020; (i) the
work of the Group’s internal auditor; and (iii) the effectiveness
of the Group’s risk management and internal control systems.
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The attendance records of individual Audit Committee members
at the aforementioned Audit Committee meetings are set out
below:

BRBHEEGNER LABHEEG O S
ZHEEERIIMT

Attendance/

Number of

meetings

HERE

Name of Audit Committee member BITZEEEREHE SRR
Mr. Li Yinquan (Chairman) o\ RAEE(EE) 3/4
Mr. Ip Shu Kwan, Stephen BEEEEA 4/4
Dr. Wu Wing Kuen ROk RETE £ 4/4

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee was established with written
terms of reference in compliance with Rule 3.25 of the Listing
Rules and paragraph B1 of the CG Code. The primary duties of
the Remuneration Committee include (but not limited to): (i)
making recommendations to the Directors regarding our policy
and structure for the remuneration of all of our Directors and
senior management and on the establishment of a formal and
transparent procedure for developing remuneration policies; (ii)
making recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of our Directors and senior management; (iii)
reviewing and approving the management’s
proposals with reference to the Board’s corporate goals and
objectives; and (iv) considering and approving the grant of
share options to eligible participants pursuant to the share
option scheme of the Company. For the year ended 31
December 2020, the Remuneration Committee consists of one
non-executive Director, namely Mr. Wong Ting Chung, and two
independent non-executive Directors, namely Dr. Wu Wing
Kuen (chairman of the Remuneration Committee) and Mr. Li
Yinquan. The written terms of reference of Remuneration
Committee has been made available on the Company’s website
at www.millioncities.com.cn and on the website of the Stock
Exchange.

remuneration
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HE2020F12A31BIEFE  FTHEEEERA
—ReF FHZEeRNe LR MEMH
TEREEENSHEEBNTFINEE -

The Remuneration Committee held one physical meeting during
the year ended 31 December 2020. In this meeting, the
Remuneration Committee discussed and reviewed, among
other things, the remuneration packages of the Directors and
senior management.

The attendance records of individual Remuneration Committee fEARIFMEE ek EN LA FMEE @<=
members at the aforementioned Remuneration Committee 2 HFE4isE&EH M T
meeting are set out below:
Attendance/
Number of
meetings
HERE
Name of Remuneration Committee member FHNEZEEERERSR EBARH
Dr. Wu Wing Kuen (Chairman) K EE I (/) 11
Mr. Wong Ting Chung FREREA 1/1
Mr. Li Yinquan FElREE 1/1
Nomination Committee REEZEES

The Nomination Committee was established with written terms
of reference in compliance with paragraph A5 of the CG Code.
It is responsible for determining the policy for the nomination of
directors, identifying and recommending to the Board
appropriate candidates to serve as Directors, evaluating the
structure and composition of the Board and developing,
recommending to the Board and monitoring nomination
guidelines for the Company. For the year ended 31 December
2020, the Nomination Committee consists of one non-executive
Director, namely Mr. Wong Ting Chung, and two independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Ip Shu Kwan, Stephen
(chairman of the Nomination Committee) and Dr. Wu Wing
Kuen. The written terms of reference of this committee has
been made available on the Company’s website at
www.millioncities.com.cn and on the website of the Stock
Exchange.
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The Nomination Committee held two physical meetings during
the year ended 31 December 2020. In the meetings, the
Nomination Committee discussed and reviewed, among other
things, (i) the recommendation on re-election of retire Directors
at the AGM; (i) the recommendation on the appointment of
executive Director and a member of the Executive Committee
in replacement of the resigned Executive Director and a
member of the Executive Committee; (iii) the recommendation
on the appointment of company secretary and authorized
representative of the Company in replacement of the resigned
company secretary and authorized representative of the
Company; and (iv) the existing structure, size and composition
of the Board to ensure that it has a balance of expertise, skills
and experience appropriate for the Group’s business and is in
compliance with the requirements of the Listing Rules.

The attendance records of individual Nomination Committee
members at the aforementioned Nomination Committee
meetings are set out below:

HE2020F12A31BIEFE  REZECHERA
MAEgHE RAZEENRSLIRMEFN(H
FRB)UNTEE: (ERARTEENRER
FREEEETNERZ (\BEAZEHTES
FHTZEENEUBRBENATES K
MITEZEGKRENEZ  (\FEZEARAR
FAIMERBRERRAEARBFEN ARG R A
MEREERERNEZ RMVWVESZHRKEE
B ABRAEK BRESEMNEENG K
MkERERTE  BEAEEEBLRFTE L
mRAZ ko

ErliRtEZBEEeXKER LAREEZESEH
Z B E LSRR SI

Attendance/

Number of

meetings

HERE

Name of Nomination Committee member REZESRERSR CE VS

Mr. Ip Shu Kwan, Stephen (Chairman) BEEBEE(EE) 2/2

Mr. Wong Ting Chung FREREA 2/2

Dr. Wu Wing Kuen oK S L 2/2
Board diversity EEgmEZ it

The Company recognises and embraces the importance and
benefit achieving diversity on the Board has on corporate
governance and board effectiveness. During the year ended 31
December 2020, the Company monitored the Board
composition with regard to its diversity policy which requires
board appointments to be made on a merit basis with due
regard for the benefits of the diversity of Board members.
Selection of candidates will be based on a wide range of
diversity perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age,
race, language, cultural background, educational background,
industry experience and professional experience. The
Nomination Committee has developed measurable objectives to
implement the board diversity policy and would monitor the
progress in achieving these objectives.
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EXTERNAL AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The amount of fees charged by the Company’s external
auditor, KPMG, in respect of their interim review services and
annual audit services for the year ended 31 December 2020
amounted to approximately BRMBO0.38 million and RMBZ2.0
million respectively.

THE COMPANY SECRETARY

The company secretary plays a role in supporting the Board by
ensuring good information flow within the Board and also that
Board policy and procedures are followed. The company
secretary is responsible for advising the Board through the
chairman and/or the chief executive officer on corporate
governance matters and should also facilitate induction and
professional development of Directors. Specific enquiry has
been made to the company secretary of the Company, namely
Mr. Li Wa Tat Benedict (“Mr. Li") (appointed with effect from 25
August 2020), and Mr. Li has confirmed that he has complied
with the relevant qualifications, experience and training
requirements under the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ AND OFFICERS’ LIABILITY
INSURANCE

The Company has arranged directors’ and officers’ liability
insurance for its Directors and senior management. The
insurance covers the corresponding costs, charges, expenses
and liabilities for any legal action against them arising out of the
Group’s operation.

DIRECTORS’ TRAINING

According to the code provision A.6.5 of the CG Code,
Directors should participate
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills
to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed
and relevant. All the Directors are also encouraged to attend
relevant training courses at the Company’s expenses.

in continuous professional
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The Directors confirmed that they have complied with the code
provision A.6.5 of the CG Code for the year ended 31
December 2020 and they participated in the following types of

continuous professional development:

HE2020F12A31HILFE  EERARKE—
HETEETHMTEIEXEALSE  WRHE
INTHEANSEEEEHRRE

Type of
continuous
professional
development

BEEX

Name of Director EEgA BERWER
Non-executive Director HHITESE
Mr. Wong Ting Chung (Chairman) TERBELEH®(F/E) (1), (1)
Executive Directors HITEE
Mr. Lau Ka Keung (Chief Executive Officer) BRABKE (TTHAZ) I, ()
Mr. Cheng Kwan Kuen (General Manager, appointed BB HE S (MR

with effect from 30 March 2020) 20203 A30H # £ 1f) (1), (I
Mr. Wong Ka Lun (Chief Operating Officer) BEXRMEE(BEESELELE)

(resigned with effect from 18 May 2020) (720205 A 18H & 1) ), (I
Ms. Lau Pui Kwan (Company Secretary) BIMELZ L (LA E)

(resigned with effect from 25 August 2020) (7202098 A25H & ) (), (In
Independent non-executive Directors BUYFBITEE
Mr. Ip Shu Kwan, Stephen EEBEAE oy, (I
Mr. Li Yinquan TSI REAE (1), (1
Dr. Wu Wing Kuen HAOKAETE £ (1), (I

() Attending seminars/webinars.

(I Reading/watching materials in relation to the
functions and duties of a listed company director and the

roles, (ll)

) HERSEG W®LATE -

MEEBLTARNESNAE Bt
BEAMBEARANLRIISHERNE

latest developments in the relevant rules and regulations. ¥} o
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INVESTOR COMMUNICATIONS AND
SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

The Company considers timely communication to shareholders
and/or investors and transparent reporting as key components
of good corporate governance. The Company aims to maintain
frequent and timely communication with its shareholders and/or
investors through a variety of communication channels,
including but not limited to general meetings, annual and
interim reports and official announcements. General meetings
provide a platform for shareholders to exchange views with the
Board and the Directors are available to answer questions at
the Company’s annual general meetings. Shareholders will be
sent a copy of the annual and interim reports or be notified of
the release of such reports. Annual and interim reports are
accessible on the website of the Stock Exchange and the
Company’s website at www.millioncities.com.cn, where general
information on the Group’s business and activities is available
for public access. Official announcements will be released from
time to time in accordance with the Listing Rules to update our
shareholders and/or investors with the latest developments of
the Group.

Voting at general meetings of the Company is conducted by
way of poll in accordance with the Listing Rules. The poll
results will be published on both the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company. Pursuant to Clause 64 of the
Company’s existing articles of association, one or more
shareholders holding, at the date of deposit of the requisition,
not less than one tenth of the paid up capital of the Company
having the right of voting at general meetings may deposit a
written requisition (the “Written Requisition”) to the Board or the
company secretary for the purpose of requiring an
extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board for the
transaction of any business specified in the Written Requisition.
Such meeting shall be held within two months after the deposit
of the Written Requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit,
the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting, the
requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in the same
manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.
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Shareholders and investors are also welcome to submit any
enquiries to the Board and suggestions or proposals at general
meetings directly to the Company’s principal place of business
in Hong Kong as provided in the section headed “Corporate
information” in this annual report.

The Board also encourages shareholders to attend general
meetings to make enquiries with the Board directly.

DIVIDEND POLICY

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Company has
adopted a dividend policy on declaration and payment of
dividends. The dividend policy is available on the website of the
Company at www.millioncities.com.cn. Depending on the
financial conditions of the Company and the Group and the
conditions and factors as set out in the dividend policy,
dividends may be proposed and/or declared by the Board
during a financial year or period and any final dividend for a
financial year which will be subject to the shareholders’
approval.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The amended and restated articles of association of the
Company has been conditionally adopted on 26 November
2018 with effect from the Listing Date. During the year ended
31 December 2020, there was no change to the memorandum
of association and amended and restated articles of association
of the Company. The Company has published its memorandum
of association and amended and restated articles of association
on the Company’s website at www.millioncities.com.cn and on
the website of the Stock Exchange.

ACCOUNTABILITY

The Directors have included a management discussion and
analysis of the Group’s performance for the year ended 31
December 2020 under the section headed “Management
discussion and analysis” of this annual report.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board places great importance on risk management and
internal control and has ultimate responsibilities for overseeing
management in the design, implementation and monitoring of
the risk management and internal control system of the Group
on an ongoing basis. The Board is also committed to review

the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems.
The Group established the risk management and internal

control systems with aims to manage rather than eliminate the
risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and provide
reasonable and not absolute assurance against material
misstatements or losses caused by judgment in decision
making process, human error, fraud or other irregularities.

In order to comply with the applicable code provisions set out
in the CG Code contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules,
the Board has engaged an independent professional firm as the
outsourced internal auditor (the “internal auditor”) with a view to
ensuring adequacy of resources and quality of review to satisfy
the Group’s internal audit function as required by the Listing
Rules and to assist the Board to perform annual reviews on the
effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal
control systems for the year ended 31 December 2020.
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During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group has
reviewed the internal audit charter which defined the scope and
the duties and responsibilities of the internal audit function and
its reporting protocol. The Group has conducted an annual risk
assessment which identified respective strategic risks,
operational risks, financial risks and compliance risks for the
Group. Based on the risk assessment results following a risk
based methodology audit approach, a three-year internal audit
plan was devised which prioritized the risks identified into
annual audit projects. The Group has taken further steps to
enhance its risk management and internal control systems
according to some weaknesses found during risk assessment
and examination of the internal control and strengthen the
implementation of all the risk management and internal control
systems. The Board has also reviewed, through the Audit
Committee, the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and
experience, training programmes and budget of the Group’s
accounting, internal audit and financial reporting functions.

The Group has established procedures in handling and
dissemination of inside information in an accurate and secure
manner and to avoid possible mishandling of inside information
within the Group.

Based on the risk management and internal control systems
established and maintained by the Group, the review performed
by the external auditor, the auditor,
performed by the management, respective board committees
and the Board, the Audit Committee and the Board are of the
view that the Group has maintained sound, effective and
adequate risk management and internal control system during
the year ended 31 December 2020.

internal and reviews
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PROCEDURES AND INTERNAL CONTROLS
FOR THE HANDLING AND DISSEMINATION
OF INSIDE INFORMATION

The Company has developed an inside information policy which
provides a guidance to the Directors and the Company’s senior
management and relevant employees in handling inside
information, monitoring information disclosure and responding
to enquiries. The Company should take all reasonable
measures to ensure the confidentiality of inside information until
consistent and timely disclosure of such information is made.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2020 and confirm that the financial statements
contained herein give a true and fair view of the results and
state of affairs of the Group for the year under review. The
Directors consider that the financial statements have been
prepared in conformity with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and reflect amounts which are based on
best estimates and reasonable, informed and prudent judgment
of the Board. Such acknowledgement should be read in
conjunction with, but be distinguished from, the statement of
the external auditor of the Company, KPMG, in relation to their
reporting responsibilities as set out in their auditor’s report on
pages 103 to 111 of this annual report.

GOING CONCERN

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties
relating to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
upon the Company’s and the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. Accordingly, the Directors have prepared the
financial statements on a going concern basis.
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The Board is pleased to present the annual report together
with the audited financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2020.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company and the
principal activities of the Group are property development and
sales in the PRC. Particulars of the principal activities of the
Company’s subsidiaries are set out in note 33 to the
consolidated financial statements of the Group. There were no
significant changes in the nature of the Group’s principal
activities during the year ended 31 December 2020.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A business review of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2020 and its future development is set out in the
chairman’s statement from page 5 to page 7 and management
discussion and analysis from page 11 to page 24 of this
annual report.
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RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2020 are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
on page 112 of this annual report.

The Directors do not recommend payment of any final dividend
for the year ended 31 December 2020.

DONATIONS

Charitable and other donations made by the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2020 amounted to approximately RMB2.0
million (2019: RMB4.4 million).

RESERVES AND DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES
OF THE COMPANY

Movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company
during the year ended 31 December 2020 are set out in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 116 of
this annual report and note 27 to the consolidated financial
statements respectively.

As at 31 December 2020, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution to equity shareholders in accordance with its
articles of association and the laws of the Cayman Islands
amounted to approximately RMB605.7 million (2019: RMB646.7
million).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of
the Group are set out in note 12 to the consolidated financial
statements.

BANK LOANS

Details of the bank loans of the Group as at 31 December
2020 are set out in note 22 to the consolidated financial
statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the issued share capital of the
Company for the year ended 31 December 2020 are set out in
note 27 to the consolidated financial statements.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There rights under the
Company’s articles of association and there are no restrictions
against such rights under the laws of the Cayman Islands,
which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a
pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

is no provision for pre-emptive

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The percentages of sales and purchases for the year ended 31
December 2020 attributable to the Group’s major customers
and suppliers are as follows:

Revenue from sales of properties attributable to:

— the largest customer 0.46%

— five largest customers in aggregate 1.85%

Purchases attributable to:

—  the largest supplier 47.18%

—  five largest suppliers in aggregate 53.55%

None of the Directors, or any of their close associates (as
defined under the Listing Rules), or any shareholder (which, to
the knowledge of the Directors, owns more than 5% of the
Company'’s issued share capital), had any interest in any of the

five largest customers or suppliers of the Group during the year
ended 31 December 2020.
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and of the assets and
liabilities of the Group for the five years ended 31 December
2020 is set out on page 249 of this annual report. This
summary does not form part of the audited financial
statements.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year ended 31 December 2020 and
up to the date of this annual report are as follows:

Chairman and non-executive Director
Mr. Wong Ting Chung BBS, JP (Chairman)
(later re-designated as executive Director since 1 April 2021)

Executive Directors
Mr. Lau Ka Keung MH, JP (Chief executive officer)
Mr. Cheng Kwan Kuen (appointed with effect
from 30 March 2020)
Mr. Wong Ka Lun (resigned with effect from 18 May 2020)
Ms. Lau Pui Kwan (resigned with effect from 25 August 2020)

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Ip Shu Kwan, Stephen GBS, JP

Mr. Li Yinquan

Dr. Wu Wing Kuen BBS

Mr. Cheng Kwan Kuen was appointed as an executive Director
and a member of the Executive Committee on 30 March
2020.

Mr. Wong Ka Lun resigned as an executive Director and a
member of the Executive Committee on 18 May 2020.

Ms. Lau Pui Kwan resigned as an executive Director, company
secretary, authorized representative and a member of the
Executive Committee on 25 August 2020.

In accordance with articles 109(a), 109(b) and 113 of the
Company’s articles of association, two Directors will retire from
office by rotation and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-
election at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company.
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All Directors are subject to retirement by rotation at least once
every three years but are eligible for re-election by shareholders
at the annual general meeting of the Company pursuant to
articles 109(a), 109(b) and 113 of the Company’s articles of
association.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS AND
LETTERS OF APPOINTMENT

Each of the executive Directors and non-executive Director has
entered into a service contract with the Company for an initial
term of three years, which may be terminated by not less than
three months’ notice in writing served by either party on the
other.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors was
appointed by the Company for a term of three years in
accordance with their respective letters of appointment with the
Company, which may be terminated by not less than three
months’ notice in writing served by either party on the other.

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract with
the Company which is not terminable within one year without
payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Board
considers all the independent non-executive Directors to be
independent in accordance with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

58

B IR AR B 48 4% = F2 48 A1) 85109(a) ~ 109(b) &
3G MBESEAELEF=FRAQGKRE
BEAS LHBERT K EEEBRRRA—K
T EEEET-

EERBEIRERER

BERTEENFNTESCEHARAF R
FERRB=FHORBEEL LA HER—T@
AE—HEBELPTPR=ZEANEERNTINL
Jto

BBEUFATEFCHNEEEARAR
RINZENEARRRE  EHAH=F 7
HEM—STRAZ—HHELETPR=EANE
B AT AL -

BREERRBEFASEEECNESMNE
EARRNBFTLAAR - FRENZMEEOX
ERERINNBERTRIEORBAL -

BYFATEENE LM
AREEERSBIFATESRELTA
IS ASIRIEHMEEB I ERRE - RE L

MARAEIASME EFER BB BULIERTT
EEHEEY -

Million Cities Holdings Limited ® Annual Report 2020



DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in the paragraph headed “Connected
transactions and continuing connected transactions” below and
in note 31 to the consolidated financial statements, no
transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance between
the Company or any of its subsidiaries and the Company’s
controlling shareholder or any of its subsidiaries, or in which a
Director or an entity connected with a Director had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted during or at the

end of the year ended 31 December 2020.

UPDATES ON DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION
Upon specific enquiry by the Company and following
confirmations from the Directors, save as set out below, there
is no change in the information of the Directors required to be
disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules:

(i) Mr. Ip Shu Kwan, Stephen was appointed as an
independent non-executive director of C-MER Eye Care
Holdings Limited (stock code:3309) on 6 November
2020;

(i) Mr. Li Yinquan was appointed as an independent non-
executive director of China Everbright Bank Company
Limited (stock code: 6818) (the Shanghai Stock Exchange
(stock code: 601818)) on 11 June 2020.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

A permitted indemnity provision contained in the Company’s
articles of association that is subject to the requirements
specified in the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the
Laws of Hong Kong) for the benefit of the Directors of the
Company was in force during the year ended 31 December
2020 and up to the date of this annual report.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND
CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
Details of the related party transactions undertaken in the usual
course of business are set out in note 31 to the financial
statements. As these related party transactions constitute fully
exempted continuing connected transactions of the Company
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, none of them
constitutes discloseable connected transactions as defined
under the Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND

DEBENTURES

The interests and/or short positions of Directors and chief
executive of the Company, in the shares and underlying shares
of the Company (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as
at 31 December 2020 as recorded in the register required to
be kept under Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified
to the Company and the SFC under the Model Code, are set

out below:

Long position in the ordinary shares of the Company

EERFETBRAERERS - HEKR
REEZENEERAR

R2020%F12H31H  RRAIEEREZETHRA
BRARBINKRORBEARND (EEEESHF K
HEBKRIEXVE F BB ELBRELSRGE
GO FEBME R EFENETCMOERS KK
REIBBEETUNENGARALEZES
MEzR R KB WT

ARREBROFE

eal

Number of Approximate
ordinary shares/ percentage of
underlying the issued share

shares held or capital of the

Name of Directors Nature of interests interested in Company®
%S LER N
BENZEER EBITRAEN
EEnE HmME HERGH B BHOBE D
Mr. Wong Ting Chung"® Beneficiary of a trust 562,500,000 75.0%
F B2 IR 5 A 00 EREX @A
Beneficial owner 3,000,000 0.4%
E=mEAA
Mr. Lau Ka Keung®® Interest of spouse 562,500,000 75.0%
18 R o8 5 4 P0 i 48 4 &
Beneficial owner 3,000,000 0.4%
EnEAA
Mr. lp Shu Kwan, Stephen® Beneficial owner 1,500,000 0.2%
BEHBEEY EnEAA
Mr. Li Yinquan® Beneficial owner 1,500,000 0.2%
FEIRELED EnEAA
Dr. Wu Wing Kuen® Beneficial owner 1,500,000 0.2%

BoK 1B L0
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Note 1:

Note 2:

Note 3:

Note 4:

Note 5:

Mr. Wong Ting Chung is the settlor, the protector and one
of the beneficiaries of the Happy Family Trust and
therefore he is deemed to be interested in the shares held
by the Happy Family Trust under the SFO.

Mr. Lau Ka Keung is the spouse of Ms. Wong Wai Ling,
who is one of the beneficiaries of the Happy Family Trust
and therefore he is deemed to be interested in the shares
held by the Happy Family Trust under the SFO.

Each of Mr. Wong Ting Chung and Mr. Lau Ka Keung has
a beneficial interest in the share options granted to each
of them on 29 March 2019 under the Share Option
Scheme and which, if exercised in full, would result in the
issuance of 3,000,000 shares to each of them.

Each of Mr. Ip Shu Kwan, Stephen, Mr. Li Yinquan and Dr.
Wu Wing Kuen, has a beneficial interest in the share
options granted to each of them on 29 March 2019 under
the Share Option Scheme and which, if exercised in full,
would result in the issuance of 1,500,000 shares to each
of them.

The calculation is based on the total number of issued
ordinary shares of 750,000,000 shares as at 31 December
2020.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or chief
executive of the Company had any interests or short positions
in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company
or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of
Part XV of the SFO) as at 31 December 2020 as recorded in
the register required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO,
or as otherwise notified to the Company and the SFC under
the Model Code.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Other than the Share Option Scheme, at no time during the
year ended 31 December 2020 and up to the date of this
annual report was the Company or any of its subsidiaries,
holding companies, or any of the subsidiary undertakings
(within  the meaning of the Companies (Directors’ Report)
Regulation) of such holding companies a party to any
arrangements whose objects are, or one of whose objects is,
to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any
other body corporate. Save as disclosed above, none of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company (including their
spouses and children under the age of 18) had any interests in
or was granted any right to subscribe for the securities of the
Company or its associated corporations (within the meaning of
Part XV of the SFO), or had exercised any such rights.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the year ended and as at 31 December 2020, none of
the Directors had any interest in any business apart from the
business of the Group, which competes or is likely to compete,
either directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group.
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DEED OF NON-COMPETITION

For the year ended 31 December 2020, each of the
Company’s controlling shareholders has confirmed to the
Company of his/her/its compliance with the non-competition
undertakings given by him/her/it to the Company under the
deed of non-competition, as defined in the Prospectus, and
he/she/it had not been offered or become aware of any
business opportunity which may compete with the business of
the Group, during the year ended 31 December 2020. There
was no matter requiring deliberation by the Board in relation to
the compliance and enforcement of the deed of non-
competition. The Board, including all the independent non-
is of the view that the controlling
shareholders of the Company have been in compliance with the
deed of non-competition in favour of the Company.

executive Directors,

The Directors are of the view that there are sufficient measures
in place to safeguard the interests of the Company and its
shareholders against any competition issues or potential
competition issues.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has approved and adopted the Share Option
Scheme. Under the Share Option Scheme, the eligible
participants may be granted share options pursuant to the
Share Option Scheme. The following is a summary of the
principal terms of the Share Option Scheme.

(@) Purpose
The purposes of the Share Option Scheme are to provide
the eligible participants an opportunity to have a personal
stake in the Company with the view to achieving the
following objectives:

(i) motivate the eligible participants to optimise their
performance efficiency for the benefit of the Group;
and

(i)  attract and retain or otherwise maintain an on-going
business relationship with the eligible participants
whose contributions are or will be beneficial to the
long-term growth of the Group.
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(b)

(c)

64

Eligible participants

The eligible participants include (i) any full-time or part-
time employees, executives or officers of the Company or
any of any directors (including
independent non-executive directors) of the Company or
any of its subsidiaries; and (iii) any advisers, consultants,
agents, suppliers, customers, distributors and such other
in the sole opinion of the Board will
contribute or have contributed to the Company and/or
any of its subsidiaries.

its subsidiaries; (i)

persons who

Maximum number of shares

The maximum number of shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all the share options to be granted
under the Share Option Scheme and any other share
option scheme of the Company (if any) shall not in
aggregate exceed 10% of the shares in issue (i.e. a
maximum of 75,000,000 shares) immediately after Listing,
provided that:

()  the maximum number of shares may be renewed,
with the approval of the shareholders in a general
meeting, up to a maximum of 10% of the issued
share capital of the Company at the date of such
shareholders’ approval, inclusive of the maximum
number of shares in respect of which share options
may be granted under another scheme, if any;

(i)  the Company may obtain a separate approval from
the Company’s shareholders in a general meeting to
permit the granting of share options which will result
in the number of shares in respect of all the share
options granted exceeding the then maximum
number of shares provided that such share options
are granted only to eligible participants specifically
identified by the Company before shareholders’
approval is sought (in which case such share
options granted shall not be counted towards the
then applicable maximum number of shares); and

(b)

(c)
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(i) the total maximum number of shares which may be
issued upon exercise of all outstanding share
options granted and yet to be exercised under the
Share Option Scheme and any other share options
granted and yet to be exercised under another
scheme shall not exceed 30% of the issued share
capital of the Company from time to time.

Maximum entitlement of each eligible participant

Unless approved by the shareholders in a general meeting
(with the relevant eligible participant and his/her close
associates abstaining from voting), no eligible participant
shall be granted an share option if the total number of
shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the
share options granted and to be granted to such eligible
participant in any 12-month period up to the date of the
latest grant would exceed 1% of the issued share capital
of the Company from time to time.

An offer of the grant of an option to a director, chief
executive or substantial shareholder of the Company or
any of their respective associates must be approved by
the independent non-executive Directors (excluding any
independent non-executive Director who is the grantee of
the options).

Where any grant of share options to a substantial
shareholder or an independent non-executive Director, or
any of their respective associates, would result in the
shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of all share
options already granted and to be granted (including
share options exercised, cancelled and outstanding) to
such person in the 12-month period up to and including
the date of such grant:

(i) representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the shares in
issue; and
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(e)

(f)

(9)

66

(i)  having an aggregate value, based on the official
closing price of the shares at the date of each
grant, in excess of HK$5.0 million,

such further grant of share options will be subject to the
by the Company and must be
approved by the shareholders in general meeting on a
poll. The grantee, his/her associates and all core
connected persons of the Company must abstain from
voting in favour at such general meeting.

issue of a circular

Acceptance of an offer of share options

A share option shall be deemed to have been granted
and accepted by the grantee and to have taken effect
the duplicate offer document constituting
acceptances of the share options duly signed by the
grantee, together with a remittance in favour of the
Company of HK$1 by way of consideration for the grant
thereof, is received by the Company on or before the
relevant acceptance date. To the extent that the offer to
grant a share option is not accepted by any prescribed
acceptance date, it shall be deemed to have been
irrevocably declined.

when

Performance target

A grantee may be required to achieve any performance
targets as the Board may then specify in the grant before
any share options granted under the Share Option
Scheme can be exercised.

Subscription price

The subscription price in respect of any share option shall
be a price determined by the Board and notified to an
eligible participant (subject to any adjustments made
pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Share Option
Scheme) which must be at least the highest of:

(i) the official closing price of the shares as stated in
the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets on the
date of grant, which must be a day on which the
Stock Exchange is open for the business of dealing
in securities;
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(i) the average of the official closing price of the shares
as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation
sheets for the five trading days immediately
preceding the date of grant; or

(i) the nominal value of the shares.

Ranking of shares

The shares to be allotted upon the exercise of a share
option will be subject to all the provisions of the articles
of association for the time being in force and will rank
pari passu in all respects with and shall have the same
voting, dividend, transfer and other rights. Shares issued
on the exercise of a share option shall not rank for any
rights attaching to the shares by reference to a record
date preceding the date of allotment.

The shares to be allotted upon the exercise of a share
option will not carry voting rights until completion of the
registration of the grantee (such other person nominated
by the grantee) as the holder thereof.

Life of the Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for
a period of 10 years from 20 December 2018 (being the
Listing Date), after which no further options shall be
offered but the provisions of the Share Option Scheme
shall in all other respects remain in full force and effect to
the extent necessary to give effect to the exercise of any
share options granted prior thereto or otherwise as may
be required in accordance with the provisions of the
Share Option Scheme. Share options granted prior
thereto but not yet exercised shall continue to be valid
and exercisable in accordance with the Share Option
Scheme.
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Details of the movements of the share options granted under & Z£2020F 128318 It F & - RIEEETE
the Share Option Scheme during the year ended 31 December L HIEREEHFBHOT
2020 are as follows:

Number of share options
during the year ended 31 December 2020
BZ020512FN AL FEBRESE

Exercise Balance as at Balance as at

price® 1 January 31 December

Name of grantees Date of grant (HK$) Exercise period? 2020 Granted  Exercised  Cancelled Lapsed 2020

120205 #2020

fTHEEn 1518 H 127310

RRALE REAS (Bn) g i i e B b3t g8

Mr. Wong Ting Chung 29 March 2019 1.362 29 March 2020 to 3,000,000 - - - - 3,000,000
28 March 2029
TREELE 2019%3F29A 202053R29H £
20293 528A

Mr. Lau Ka Keung 29 March 2019 1.362 29 March 2020 to 3,000,000 - - - - 3,000,000
28 March 2029
BREEE 2019F3729R 2020F3A290 2
2029%3F28A

Mr. Wong Ka Lun 29 March 2019 1,362 29 March 2020 to 1,500,000 - - (1,500,000)@ - -
28 March 2029
EXmAE 2019£3 7298 2020F3A29
20293 728H

Ms. Lau Pui Kwan 29 March 2019 1.362 29 March 2020 to 1,500,000 - - (1,500,000 - -
28 March 2029
AMER L 2019%3F29A 202053R29H 2
20293 528A

Mr. Ip Shu Kwan, 29 March 2019 1.362 29 March 2020 to 1,500,000 - - - - 1,500,000
Stephen 28 March 2029
ERERE 2019%3A29A 2020%3A29H F
2029%3F28A

Mr. Li Yinquan 29 March 2019 1,362 29 March 2020 to 1,500,000 - - - - 1,500,000
28 March 2029
FERE4 20193729 2000F3A20AE
20293 728H

Dr. Wu Wing Kuen 29 March 2019 1.362 29 March 2020 to 1,500,000 - - - - 1,500,000
28 March 2029
HkEET 2019%3F29A 202053R29H £
20293 528A

Other employees of the 29 March 2019 1.362 29 March 2020 to 8,700,000 - - (900,000) - 7,800,000
Group 28 March 2029
rEEEMES 2019F3729R 2020F3A290 2
2029%3A28A

Total 22,200,000 - — (3,900,000 - 18,300,000

@it
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Notes:

Exercise price of share options granted of HK$1.362 per share
represents the highest of:

(i) the closing price of HK$1.330 on the date of grant, i.e. 29
March 2019;

(i) the average closing price of HK$1.362 for five business
days immediately preceding the date of grant; and

(i)~ the nominal value of the share of HK$0.01 each.

The share options granted to the above Directors and other
employees of the Group shall be vested in three equal tranches.
The vesting periods of the share options are between the date
of grant and the dates of commencement of exercise periods.
The vesting periods and exercise periods of the share options
are as follows:

Share options granted on 29 March 2019
R20196F3 7290 =2 H IV 8 IR %

DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)
BEEERE #H)

ERHBEREZITEESRK1.362E TR T
ZEREE

(i) A B (120195638298 ) ik 15 2
U T {81.33058 7T

(i) MREERLAHAESZEAROZF
BT E1.3627 T K

(i) R EETROOVETT -

MEREERAREE MRS R OBRE
BAN-HERRB BERENEBHARY
BMETERRAERNE - BRENRS
HRATEHRMT

Vesting period
ol

Exercise period

THEH

One-third of the share options (rounded to the nearest number of share

options which represents an integral multiples of one board lot)
=z —HBEERE(HNELAZSREI - FEHEHNBRESD)

One-third of the share options (rounded to the nearest number of share
options which represents an integral multiples of one board lot)

=N —HBREMEIAZEREI - FTEIEHNBERESE)

The remaining share options

29 March 2019 to
28 March 2020
201993 H29H =
20203 H28H

29 March 2019 to
28 March 2021
201993 A29H =
202143 H28H

29 March 2019 to
28 March 2022

29 March 2020 to
28 March 2029
2020F3H29H =
20293 H28H

29 March 2021 to
28 March 2029
20213 H29H =
202943 A28H

29 March 2022 to
28 March 2029

BR N B A A 20194329 = 202243 A29R =
202243 A28H 202943 A28H
3. Mr. Wong Ka Lun resigned as an executive Director with effect 3. BEXRMmEEBFITHNITESE 52020657 18H
from 18 May 2020. The share options granted to Mr. Wong Ka AR -BFERBAENBERERNEETR
Lun were cancelled upon his resignation. EEaici

Ms. Lau Pui Kwan resigned as an executive Director with effect 4.

from 25 August 2020. The share options granted to Ms. Lau Pui
Kwan were cancelled upon her resignation.

— & — &

TTFEFR e BUMERBERAF

2IME L BAEITES - B2020F8A25H
AR -BTFIAMEBELZTHOBERERERTE
FEEH o
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EESHRE A

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN THE SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

Save as disclosed below, so far as known to the Directors and
chief executive of the Company, as at 31 December 2020, the
following persons or corporations (other than our Directors and
chief executive of our Company) who had interest and/or short
positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company
which would be disclosed to the Company under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which
were recorded in the register required to be kept under
Section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

Long position in the ordinary shares of the Company

FERRERAEMATITRERG RAEE

ROPHEZERAR
BR NPT RBEES  BEFERARAERITR

ANEBFTH - FA2020F12A318 » T3 A+ 8%
B (RMNEERARBEBITHRABRIN R
AARHBRMDKABRDPEEREEFESR
HE M EXVERFE2 R E30 WG M AR
RIEBENEE L AR KSR ES &
EEDIEI6E R EETHRENE LM
R/SKRBIT

ARABREBRRNER

all

Name of substantial shareholder

Nature of interest

Number

of ordinary
shares held or
interested in

Approximate
percentage

of issued

share capital of
the Company®

s LER N
BEREREN EBRITRAKN
TERRER HE EEMtE EBREE L E SRl A
Fortune Speed Investments Limited™ Beneficial owner 562,500,000 75.0%
WM ERRAFO EmEAA
Winnermax Management Limited® Interest in a controlled 562,500,000 75.0%
corporation
EREEAR AR N e
Happy Family Assets Limited® Interest in a controlled 562,500,000 75.0%
corporation
EREEBR AT N e
East Asia International Trustees Limited”  Trustee of a trust 562,500,000 75.0%
East Asia International Trustees Limited®  {S3E =5 A
Ms. Wang Kam Chu® Interest of spouse 565,500,000 75.4%
Wang Kam Chu# £+@ fic (B =
Ms. Wong Wai Ling® Beneficiary of a trust 562,500,000 75.0%
FE®RRKLO BEEXm A
Interest of spouse 3,000,000 0.4%
Bic 18 # 25
Mr. Wong Ting Kau® Beneficiary of a trust 562,500,000 75.0%

FTEREEY
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BEEERE #H)

Approximate

Number percentage
of ordinary of issued
shares held or share capital of
Name of substantial shareholder Nature of interest interested in  the Company!?
sl LER N
BERERN ERITRAEHN
TERREB HE EmME EEREE BAE D
Mr. Wong Ting Chun® Beneficiary of a trust 562,500,000 75.0%
TEELLEO BErEX@m A
Ms. Chan Ka Wai® Interest of spouse 562,500,000 75.0%
Chan Ka Wai# £-© i B =
Ms. Tsoi Suet Ngai® Interest of spouse 562,500,000 75.0%
Tsoi Suet Ngaizz =0 A 18 # 25
Notes: B 5

(1) Fortune Speed Investments Limited is a company wholly owned (1) AR EERATHEHRERER AL E

by Winnermax Management Limited, which is in turn wholly mE MERERBERAFTHEREEAR
owned by Happy Family Assets Limited, a company wholly NElZE#E  EREEHFBRR AR HAEast
owned by East Asia International Trustees Limited. Asia International Trustees Limited 2 & # & °
East Asia International Trustees Limited is the trustee of Happy East Asia International Trustees Limited fE
Family Trust, a trust established by Mr. Wong Ting Chung as the REL(BETEREEEAR T ABILAE)
settlor. Accordingly, each of Happy Family Assets Limited, East MZsEAA EREESBRAF - East
Asia International Trustees Limited and Winnermax Management Asia International Trustees Limited X 18 & & I
Limited, is deemed to be interested in the 562,500,000 shares ERAGBSEREZFLHAERIER AR
held by Fortune Speed Investments Limited under the SFO. Il & A R A & A5 A #9562,500,0000% Ak
MHEBER -

(2)  Ms. Wang Kam Chu is the spouse of Mr. Wong Ting Chung and  (2) Wang Kam ChuZ + & T FEIR % A A ER (8 -
is therefore deemed to be interested in the shares held, directly bt BEBEZFFRAEGRIEEARTERSL
or indirectly, by Mr. Wong Ting Chung under the SFO. SEESNEERBEOROTEEES -

(3) Ms. Wong Wai Ling, sister of Mr. Wong Ting Chung, is one of (3) FTE®B X+ (FREBREANMELLK) AERES

the beneficiaries of the Happy Family Trust and therefore she is EREmAZ— At RIBEFESFLAE GG
deemed to be interested in the shares held by the Happy Family BEREMREEFENROTEERER - £
Trust under the SFO. Ms. Wong Wai Ling is also the spouse of BREZTITAERBEENED  WREZE
Mr. Lau Ka Keung and is therefore deemed to be interested in FRBERIRANERAEERBENRND
the shares held by Mr. Lau Ka Keung under the SFO. FEEER -

(4)  Mr. Wong Ting Kau, brother of Mr. Wong Ting Chung, is one of (4 TREXAEA(ZEBRLEENBERAD) BEMRE

the beneficiaries of the Happy Family Trust and therefore he is AMEmAZ— BURE B HF KB E KM
deemed to be interested in the shares held by the Happy Family WRREMRGEMBERDPES#ESS -

Trust under the SFO.
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EESHRE A

) Mr. Wong Ting Chun, brother of Mr. Wong Ting Chung, is one
of the beneficiaries of the Happy Family Trust and therefore he
is deemed to be interested in the shares held by the Happy
Family Trust under the SFO.

(6) Ms. Chan Ka Wai is the spouse of Mr. Wong Ting Kau and is
therefore deemed to be interested in the shares held, directly or
indirectly, by Mr. Wong Ting Kau under the SFO.

(7) Ms. Tsoi Suet Ngai is the spouse of Mr. Wong Ting Chun and is
therefore deemed to be interested in the shares held, directly or
indirectly, by Mr. Wong Ting Chun under the SFO.

(8)  The calculation is based on the total number of issued ordinary
shares of 750,000,000 shares as at 31 December 2020.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Other than the Share Option Scheme, no equity-linked
agreements that will or may result in the Company issuing
shares or that require the Company to enter into any
agreements that will or may result in the Company issuing
shares were entered into by the Company during the year
ended 31 December 2020 or subsisted as at 31 December
2020.

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any tax relief and exemption
available to the shareholders by reason of their holding of the
Company’s securities.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of
the whole or substantial part of the business of the Group
were entered into or existed during the year ended 31
December 2020.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

For the year ended 31 December 2020, neither the Company
nor any of its subsidiaries, has purchased, sold or redeemed
any of the Company’s listed securities.
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6) ITEEEE(FEBRELENBRILES) RERE
RHREAZ—  BUREE 7 R E &%
BRNEREEMFERODTFHEAES -

(6) Chan Ka WaizZ T AFREREEMBS - BUR
BEFLAEGERIIEERNRIEREEERE
FEEFEOROFEREEE -

(7) Tsoi Suet NgaiZ t AT EEXAEMEE &
BEZFLMNAERIEEAERIEELLER
EEESEORD T HEEER -

(8) 1220204128310 & % 17 &L @ I 4 =
750,000,0000% 5+ & -

fi% R 29 15 =&

BREBRRERT 215) - B E2020%F12A831H IEFE
8 A20209F12A318 » AR A W 5T 7 15 2 =k
AEEEBHARABEITRODIERANARE]
VB ERAETERAR A BETRMDOTM
1op 5 B0 AR #E B R 17 5% o

B 18 %
BADAAMA  FERERAFEAARNBHM
MR % (L A1 BT o

BEEER

B ZE2020F12A318ILFE MBI KTFHE
HRAEEZHRBADDEBHNEE LT
A& H -

BE HESIBELAQATLHES
H 220205 12A31HIEFE » RAR REMENR
MEARMEREE HExERIAALR L

Mg ©
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RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

Details of the retirement benefits schemes participated by the
Group are set out in note 7 to the consolidated financial
statements.

DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Particulars of the directors and senior management of the
Company are set out on pages 25 to 34 of this annual report.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT REMUNERATION BY
BAND

The remuneration of the Company’s senior management,
whose biography are set out on pages 26 to 27 and 31 to 34
of this annual report, for the year ended 31 December 2020 is
set out below:

DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)
EEERE#H)

RKER TS
AEBZ2ENEARBENABFBRARES Y
5 A& M LT o

EEREREEE
ARBEELSREEEBENFBIRNAFER
ZFO5E34H o

REMEES s NEREEEMNS
B E2020F12A31AIEFE  ARAR R ER

(BREEHNAFERFE26E27RI1E34H ) & i
/(N

Number of individuals

AB

Remuneration bands & & E
HK$NIil-HK$500,000
HK$500,001-HK$1,000,000
HK$1,000,001-HK$1,500,000
HK$1,500,001-HK$2,000,000

HK$3,000,001-HK$3,500,000

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company has applied the principles as set out in the CG
Code contained in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules. The Board
is of the view that the Company is in compliance with the
mandatory code provisions of the CG Code for the year ended
31 December 2020.

For details of the Corporate Governance Report, please refer to
pages 35 to 53 of this annual report.

TR CRFFR e EWERARAA

£ 8 7T £500,0007% 7T

500,001 7T £1,000,0007% T
1,000,0017% 7T £1,500,000/% Tt
1,500,0017% 7T £2,000,000/% 7T
3,000,001% 7T £3,500,000/% 7T

— 4 a4 O =

TEERER
AARECEAEMMRANEE T OISR EE
BTANRA-ZEFERA AAAINREE
2020FF12AB1H I FEE BT EEATAIN
o il 14 <F RIS -

BRLXEABRENFS
538 °

FLHARNFREIS
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, it is
confirmed that there is sufficient public float of the Company’s
issued shares for the year ended 31 December 2020 and up to
the date of this annual report.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The AGM for the year ended 31 December 2020 is scheduled
to be held on 18 June 2021. A notice convening the AGM will
be issued and disseminated to the Company’s shareholders in
due course.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES

The Group is committed to implement policies in environmental
protection in order to conserve natural resources. The Group
strives to minimise the Group’s environmental impact through
reducing electricity and water consumption and encouraging
recycle of office supplies and other materials. The Group is also
committed to ensure that the Group is in strict compliance with
the applicable environmental regulations of the
relevant jurisdictions.

laws and

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

The Company strives to balance business growth with
environmental protection.

As the major businesses of the Group are property
development and sales in China, the Group (i) evaluates,
manages and mitigates from time to time environmental issues
within the context of the Group’s business activities and
objectives for the conservation of energy and other natural
resources; (i) devises environmental policies and measures for
the Group so as to keep them in line with the standards
required under the applicable laws, rules and regulations to the
extent practicable; and (iii) applies the Group’s philosophy on
environment protection to the Group’s supply chain and
operations. These include but not limited to the scrutiny in the
selection of the Group’s business partners or services
providers and award the bids of construction and other
projects of which the Group is involved to reputable and
environmentally-conscientious corporations and contractors with
good compliant and environmental records.
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EHANRERE
BBEARRMGBHARENRRESHMM - K
NEIMER > HE2020F12A31B L E 2 KF R
HHMNEZHITROBRHANARFRE -

BREREBFKE
KABHE2020F12A31H It FENRERSF
AEER2021F6A18H R T - BRABRERAF
AEMBEHERNBEERETERTETAR
AIARER o

RARBE

AEBEHNETRBERERR  AREERE
IR o REE KB BRARFEKEE KB E W
MAERDmMEEMYE - BEASEHREN
T8 AEENBOBERANEEBRSETHES
ALATE R 88 AR ROEGI ROAR -

BrEBIRER

AR IB N TE R T R BB RE 2
T -

HRASENFTEZEXEBRRETRBEREYWESE
BEEE  AEB)TRTGH EBERAEE
BEBMEERFENRERBEUREER
REMBRER: VEAITBER THEAEER
MIRBERRRERUTAERLE  BARIE
IR EBAR2E « (it HEE R EHCLE
AAREENRRES  BRERETRAEREE
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The Group has also implemented energy saving practices in the
workplace through (i) appropriately designing, constructing,
maintaining and, if required, modifying facilities wherever
applicable; (i) using or to replacing gradually existing
appliances with more energy efficient appliances for lighting,
heating and ventilation systems to reduce energy consumption
and (i) protection at
workplace.

raising awareness of environmental

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Board is not
aware of any material breach or non-compliance with relevant
local laws and regulations which have a significant impact on
the Group’s business.

WORKPLACE QUALITY

The management of the Group believes that employees
constitute one of the valuable assets of the Group and regard
human resources as the Group’s corporate wealth. The Group
offers employees with competitive remuneration packages and
provides additional bonus in accordance with their performance
and contributions to the growth and development of the Group.
The Group provides on-the-job training and development
opportunities to enhance employees’ career progression, these
training programs cover different areas such as management
skills, sales and production, and other courses relating to the
Group and the industry.

The Group is dedicated to promoting equal opportunities for all
of the employees and do not discriminate on the basis of
personal characteristics. All employees are assessed based on
their ability, performance and contribution, irrespectively of their
nationality, race, religion, gender, age or family status. The
Group has employee handbooks outlining terms and conditions
of employment, employees’ rights and benefits, duties and
responsibilities, conducts and behavior.

TR CRFFR e EWERARAA
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BEEERE #H)

AEENRBBROVEERBRLTES & &
B ER(INFEE) MEEE ()R - fEE
LBRRGEHRBERAEESHNEN L
A2 BRIBESEMARRKEERE : R(i)em TiE
SRNRERER T ITIESAMTEEER -

HE2020F12A31HILFE - BESE T
MECRNEEXEAEBEBKOEER/IC K
ERERE A EAREBROBER -

THESFRNER
AEBEEREEHEEREDNDASEBEENEE
Z— YBRANBRBAKENRAIME - K
SESEEBREAEBRF INFHGE  XLRE
REHAEERRRBEROKE R ERIEH
BIMEAL - AEBRBEREII REREE N
RIVEENBERR RERIFERETRH
B PIINEERT HEREEARENRE
B R TRAEERE MR -

AEEFIRnzREERETSHE  ATE
AEASEEREAES - RFIREEEREE
N XRBENERMFBEZ B -0 %
A FEHFEMRMAETTHE - NREBOE
8 F i 8t 02 R AR~ R B ORI AR
MoBBEBE BEBRTRTR-
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HEALTH AND SAFETY

The Group is committed to the health and safety of our
employees and provides a safe and effective working
environment. The Group pledges full compliance with all
occupational health and safety legislation. The Group values the
health and well-being of the employees. The Group supply free
first-aid kits and medicine to the employees and they are
entitled to medical insurance benefits.

DEVELOPMENT AND TRAINING

The Group is committed to the professional and personal
development and growth of employees and considers
development and training as a continual process. The Group
offers and encourages employees at all levels to participate in
various internal and external courses in order to promote the
advancement of their job-related skills. The Group’s employees
are provided with fair opportunities for adequate learning,
trainings and promotions.

RELATIONSHIP WITH CUSTOMERS AND
SUPPLIERS

The Group maintains solid and steady relationship with its
customers and provides products which satisfy their needs and
requirements. The Group enhances the relationship by
continuous interaction with customers to gain insights on
market demand and consumer needs so that the Group could
respond proactively. The Group also maintains close
relationship with its suppliers. This leads to a high degree of
cooperative development and enables the Group to deliver the
high-quality solutions as required and expected by the Group’s
customers.
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AUDITOR

The financial statements have been audited by KPMG who
retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for reappointment. A
resolution for the re-appointment of KPMG as the Company’s

auditor will be proposed for shareholders’ approval at the
AGM.

On behalf of the Board
Wong Ting Chung
Chairman

29 March 2021

TR CRFFR e EWERARAA
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

TtEREREZS

B

REPORTING PERIOD AND FRAMEWORK

This section, Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG”)
Report of Million Cities Holdings Limited (“Million Cities”,
“Company”, “we” and “our”), and its subsidiaries (collectively,
the “Group”), presents and disclose ESG related matters that
are relevant to the Group’s business and have material impacts
on the environment and society for the year ended 31
December 2020 (the “Reporting Period”). Unless otherwise
stated, the Reporting Period is from 1 January 2020 to 31
December 2020.

This ESG report of the Group has been prepared in
compliance with the “Environmental, Social and Governance
Reporting Guide” set forth in Appendix 27 to the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Main Board of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and based on actual
conditions of the Company. We have identified relevant ESG
issues and assess their materiality on our businesses as well as
on our stakeholders, through reviewing our operations and
holding discussions. Adhering to the reporting
principles of materiality, quantitative, balance and consistency,
this report aims at sharing our performance in aspect of
sustainable development and summarising our efforts made on
sustainability for the year ended 31 December 2020. Our
reporting boundary is limited to, Hong Kong and the PRC
unless otherwise specified.

internal
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

OUR BUSINESS AND APPROACH TO ESG
AND ESG REPORTING

Million Cities focuses on developing affordable, luxury,
residential, complex and integrated properties in Huizhou, the
Greater Bay Area and locations in the People’s Republic of
China (the “PRC”) which we consider with potential growth. The
Group also engages in property investment business in the
PRC. Beyond the delivery of quality properties, we continue to
serve our customers by offering innovative and customer-
oriented products as well as expanding the diversity of
properties to be developed.

The Group commits to improving its ESG performance by
upholding good corporate governance standards, protecting
our environment including reducing greenhouse gas emissions,
reducing energy consumption, protecting the environment and
natural resources, and providing employees with an excellent
and safe working environment while it engages the community
and promotes social integration. The board of directors of the
Company (the “Board”) is responsible for overseeing our ESG
strategy and reporting.

Within the operation of the Group, it applies industry best
practices and abides by laws and regulations, sets and reviews
safety and environmental goals and indicators, effectively uses
energy and raw materials, and reduces pollution and emissions.
Achieving ESG goals can provide customers with better quality
products. In addition to supporting environmental protection,
the Group’s development of sustainable building concepts can
also provide citizens with a better living environment as well.

The Board has approved the content of the ESG report.
For details of environmental and corporate governance,
please refer to the official website of the Group
(http://www.millioncities.com.cn) and the annual report. We
value your feedback regarding the review and our overall
sustainability practices. Please provide your comments by email
to ir@millioncities.com.hk.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
RE -#HEBREAHE &)

SCOPE OF REPORTING

This report is organized into two sections, namely
“Environment” and “Social”, focusing on the following in
compliance with the ESG standards:

g
ARED BRI RG] W - RBER
HERERRETEUTHE :

ESG Standard for Reporting
BRE -HEREABREERE

Million Cities’ Compliance Section

BRERBD

A.  Environment A1. Emissions 1. Governance on Air and Greenhouse Gas
(“GHG”) Emissions
A IRIE Al BERR 1. BEERMEERBIHN
2. Waste Management
2. EmER
A2. Use of Resources Minimizing Energy Consumption
A2. EIRA A B e R 7
A3. The Environment and Natural Protecting the Environmental Impact and
Resources Natural Resources
A3. REKBERER REREFZENBAER
B. Social Employment and Labour Practices
B. #® EBFERETIED
B1. Employment Equal Employment Practices
B1. [Ef& V2% & 1R 18 I
B2. Health and Safety Promoting Health and Safety
B2. BELRLZR RERERZE
B3. Development and Training Talent Management
B3. R KIF AT ER
B4. Labour Standards Prohibiting Forced Child and Labour
B4, B ITiR% DIEETRKRAS
Operating Practices
wwEED
B5. Supply Chain Management Upholding High Procurement Standards
B5. ffrEsEE IR RESRBERE
B6. Product Responsibility Delivering Unmatched Product Quality
B6. EmAME REKEEMER
B7. Anti-corruption Commitment to Anti-Corruption
B7. R&E)S &5z EGH
B8. Community Investment Contributing to the Welfare of Society
B8. itERR&E Rt g AERR
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

CARING FOR THE ENVIRONMENT AND

NATURAL RESOURCES

A. ENVIRONMENTAL

A1 Emissions
Governance on Air and Greenhouse Gas (“GHG”)
Emissions
The Group is strongly committed to the long-term
sustainability of the environment and communities in
which we operate. As such, the Group has established
relevant procedures to detect and prevent any possible
pollution incidents which affect the surrounding
environment that may occur in the course of our business
operations. During the year ended 31 December 2020, we
measured and managed our environmental performance in
several aspects throughout our operations.

In terms of the Group’s property development businesses,
we understand there are environmental emissions such as
air emissions, GHG emissions, waste-water discharges,
general waste, and hazardous waste disposals. The
emissions and waste produced at property development
constructions sites are managed by the construction
contractors as stipulated on the agreement with the
contractors. For the year of 2020, the Group’s activities
has increased in scope such that it now manages a
construction company as well where the Group has direct
control over its related emissions specifically including air
emissions, direct and other indirect GHG emissions along
with the management of general waste and hazardous
waste disposals. Having considered the environmental
impact on the construction contractor’s operations along
with the Group’s newly construction company, we have
required both construction contractors and our
construction company to comply with relevant laws and
regulations and we monitor the ESG performance of
construction contractors closely, especially on regulatory
compliance.
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The Group encourages and requires the construction
contractors and its construction company to implement
the following environmental protection measures within the
construction site areas with a view to reducing the
impacts on emissions, effectively managing the air
emissions and ensuring in compliance with relevant rules
and regulations: entrusting professional firms to formulate
soil and water conservation plans and monitoring
procedures, and to conduct project inspection and
acceptance prior to completion of the development
project; promoting green construction and reducing the
use of resources and the impact of construction activities
on the environment through scientific management and
technological advancement effectively reducing energy
consumption through the regional sunshine planning,
district-wide ventilation planning, noise reduction and
noise reduction design; adopting materials with dust
prevention component; taking measures such as sail
cover and sprinkle water to reduce dust pollution at the
project construction site; and setting up a vehicle washing
pool near the gate of construction sites to ensure that
transportation vehicles do not carry sediment and dust
when leaving the construction sites.

The Group also engages engineering supervision
companies to conduct on-site inspections on a regular
basis, apart from strictly requesting our construction
contractors and construction company to comply with the
environmental protection controls.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

Air emissions

The Group’s air emissions generated mainly from gasoline
consumption of the Group’s vehicles that used for
employees’ transportation in 2020 are as follows:

BR #HE8REREE &)

JESIE A
REER2020F T2 hEEZBERHH
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Air emissions Unit 2020
% R HE Bk B 20204
Nitrogen oxidex (“NOX”) Ag|itm(Tr|E‘m]) Emissions tonnes M 2.24*10™
Sulphur oxidex (“S0x”) wmEeiyw (maityl) Emissions tonnes M 3.49*10"*
Particulate matters (“PM”) R Y (TR Y]) Emissions tonnes & 2.13*10"2

Greenhouse gas emissions and energy conservation

The greenhouse gas (“GHG”) emissions generated by the
Group are summarized below in direct, indirect, and other
indirect section. The direct emissions are from the
Group’s vehicles’ consumption of gasoline, while the

/i 2 5% 8 F B K B Be

AEBELANRERBHIBAN TXE
- HEMEMERI OB - BRI
KB AEEERHEREN TR - mEEHE
BBEBERIMNEENES  EMEEH

indirect emissions are via using outsourced electricity with WAIREEMERITESA - TRERR

other indirect emissions generated from air travel by EHEAEEREREBEREE -

employees. The following table shows the figures of the

Group’s GHG emissions during the Reporting Period.

GHG emissions Unit 2020

BERBHERK By 20204

Direct emissions of GHG BERBEEIN tCO,e 56.01
B At E %

Indirect emissions of GHG BE R RN tCO,e 2,449.26
BH_R{tRE=

Other indirect emissions of GHG = RS H A R & PR tCO,e 10.87
B _E@tHmEE

In line with our policies to minimise air and GHG REEERMBLEREROREREDN

emissions, the Group’s offices in most cities are equipped
with video and telephone conferencing facilities to
minimise the need for face-to-face meetings and keep
business travelling to a minimum. For the unavoidable
business trip, direct flights are arranged to reduce air
emissions.
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Waste Management

The Group puts significant emphasis on proper storage
and handling of any hazardous waste and non-hazardous
waste at the Group’s construction sites. With the newly
construction company now being managed by the Group,
at the site level, this construction company would have
concrete, brick residue, steel bar, molding plate, and
square timber as waste that are deem not harmful to the
environment. To handle concrete and brick residue, the
Group would use these materials in building temporary
roads along with applying them in the foundational
structure in construction when necessary. Not only can
the Group save in cost from buying extra materials for the
activities mentioned above, but the Group can also help
to protect the environment via being eco-friendly by using
less materials for its activities. For steel bar, molding
plate, and square timber, the Group would sell them to
companies that demand such materials. As the
non-hazardous waste does not cause a significant impact
to the environment, the Group has put a greater
emphasis and resources on hazardous material
management instead. Hence, in terms of waste that are
considered harmful, the Group would appoint related
professionals for the handling of such waste to ensure
appropriate management.

Though the Group does not directly handle the waste at
the site level for its construction contractors, the Group
works closely with its construction contractors to ensure
these hazardous waste and construction waste are
properly managed and disposed of. In particular, in order
to reduce the production of waste concrete, the Group
has mainly used commercial concrete and pre-blocked
mortar at the construction site. In addition, the Group has
not allowed any concrete mixing on-site without approval,
as such action is likely to cause material waste and loss
due to the potential of mishandling. To further the
Group’s effort in minimizing production of waste, material
is used also based on appropriate planning and
execution. For instance, special personnel will be engaged
for utilising any material that is related to steel bars and
wood in order to improve the utilization rate. Also, before
any material processing, the material list should be
reviewed, and professional teams should be preferred for
template construction to avoid material loss due to
inadequate oversight.

BEYEE
AEBFERZETRHREEZEL
BOEMNEETEMREZTEY - FEE
AR ERHAAEEERE  ABREm L -
FIRENRGRRL EE W KA
- TARERREIRBEZTNEY - BEE
BERREIREE AREKERZEMN
HizERiEn YELBEFARER
RBER - AEETMEAEHE S LAE
BRBEBEIMBROBKA - TR BB R D
A bt R BIRERRE - W RE
R - NEBEBHE  BAUR N T AREE
THZEMHABFTKOAR - ANES
BEYHRETEEATE BWUHAEE
BREZROILERREEYHER -
At - EHRIEABREENEY  AKE
REREBEXAERE BRZEE
e

BEASBITERSREACHEEL
BEY EASEEZEZREEABHE
DatE WHERZEEENEERS
ERMPEEREY - KR RRLEL
RERIEY ASEGERETHERRE
AR aroR R MFER D4R o AN - REEHE
e REEANAFFERSET IR
THE ARZBRERATEEEBRED
EMEHMREBEMNBR - AEERE
—PRIVEERE  MHERTERE
BETEIMBIEETT - Ol - BREEARE
EEH AN BEBOERME > UES
MAR g BETEMYHEEZ
Al EREMEE  URETEAER
BEETERTREET LB RANE
B R &R e A R RE

Million Cities Holdings Limited ® Annual Report 2020



A2

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

During the Reporting Period, there was no incidence of
non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations with
significant impact on the environment and natural
resources relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions,
discharges into water and land, and generation of
hazardous and non-hazardous waste.

Use of resources

Minimizing Energy Consumption

The Group strives to minimize the various energy
consumed at all levels in its operations. These energies
consumed by the Group are gasoline, electricity, and tap
water. In 2020, total direct energy consumption from the
use of gasoline was approximately 42,010.40 liters, and
the total indirect energy consumption from the use of
electricity was approximately 2,894,319.26 kWh. On the
other hand, the Company mainly uses water at (i) offices
for residential or commercial purpose; and (i) construction
site, which is from the government, for temporary use
with no identified issue for the respective suitability. Water
usage for the Group’s daily operations and office
administration activities was approximately 92,142.90 m?
during the Reporting Period. The Group did not have any
issue in sourcing water that is fit for the purpose during
the Reporting Period. As at the date of this report, the
Group did not set any water efficiency target as it
considers its consumption to be immaterial. The Group
continues to monitor its water usage on a monthly basis
by comparing current consumption with historical data.
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Types of resources Unit 2020
EIRE R B 20204
Gasoline M liter F+ 42,010.40
Purchased electricity SNERE kWh T E B 2,894,319.26
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The Group now has direct involvement in 2020 in the use
and/or purchase of package materials with the newly
construction company. Throughout the years, the Group
puts forth a strong emphasis on minimizing the usage of
mentioned materials during our daily operations. At the
office level, the main waste is paper. The following table
shows the figures of material consumption (i.e. paper) in
the Group’s business operations

2020 - A EREMBEE RN EE S
REEMENERRERE - FR &
SERFARENAEEERRL LM
BRER - RHAENTEEDMAMAR-
TRINRAEBER L ENMEDERE (B
MR BT

Material Consumption Unit 2020
MR #E By 20204
Paper consumption A tonnes MA 3.54

The Company’s resource utilization efficiency goal is to
reduce by 6% vyear over year. To minimize the use of
paper, the Company first recommends electronic office to
reduce printing paper. The paper should be printed on
both sides as much as possible, and the paper printed on
one side should be reused. Slogans will be made on
printers and copiers to remind employees to save
printing. The wastepaper that is not confidential is stored
in a centralized manner, and a dedicated person will
collect it for recycling.

The environment and natural resources
Protecting the Environmental Impact and Natural
Resources

The business activities of the Group have no direct/
significant impact on environment and natural resources.
The Group nonetheless commits to using natural
resources wisely and efficiently while we encourage the
reuse and recycling of materials within our operations. In
addition, the Group is committed in applying industry best
practices and complying with legislation, establishing and
reviewing safety, security, and environmental goals and
targets, effectively using energy and materials, reducing
waste and emissions, and communicating our
environmental protection policy to all employees. In fact,
the Company’s 2020 emission reduction goal is to reduce
6% for the relevant measures year over year.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

In property development projects, the Group takes into
consideration of resource-efficient designs such as the
use of LEDs and the adoption of energy-efficient
appliances, as well as water-efficient fixtures including
faucets and water closets. In our offices, we have
adopted several eco-friendly measures to promote
efficient use of resources and energy conservation:

1. Switch off lights and air-conditioning in rooms not in
use;

2. Switch office equipment and electronic appliances to
energy saving mode;

3.  Set air-conditioning at an optimal temperature;

4. Pre-set printers to two-sided printing mode and post
paper-saving reminders near photocopying
machines;

5. Promote reuse and recycling of paper by placing
recycling boxes in the office;

6. Encourage the use of public transportation when not
many people go out on business; and

7. Try to use video or web conference format for the
meeting.

Meanwhile, the Group recognises that businesses must
take responsibility for their industry’s effects on the
environment and we should bear the responsibilities and
fulfill the obligations in protecting them, while making
appropriate use. In response, the Group has taken three
actionable steps to help promote the sustainable
environment:
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Sustainable building philosophy Green building

The Group has taken initiative to incorporate the green
building aspect of building construction into its
construction project design philosophies. As such, the
Group has engaged qualified third party designers to
provide greenery design for several development projects,
with the aim of (i) promoting building efficiency in terms of
energy, water and materials, etc.; (i) constructing
environmentally sound properties with less carbon and
energy footprint; and (i) complying with environment-
related regulatory standards, if necessary.

In addition, the Group has made efforts to add green
elements to its buildings to reduce the environmental
impact and improve environmental quality, such as using
reusable construction materials, maximizing the green
area in the properties etc.. The Group strives to comply
with the Assessment Standard for Green Building.

Sponge City

The Group has adopted the “Sponge City” concept in its
development projects for more effective drainage and
rainwater reuse. “Sponge City” is a modern stormwater
management approach to help solve drainage problems,
fully utilising land resources and promoting sustainable
development. In such case, the Group builds green
sponge facilities to prevent waterlogging after storms and
effectively collect and utilise rainwater resource.

Conservation of water and soil

The concept of soil and water conservation is vital to a
sustainable and poverty-oriented natural resource
management. We have commissioned qualified third-party
units to prepare reports on soil and water conservation
programs in order to better assess soil erosion during our
construction of basement and ground buildings. The
Group continuously enhances its construction direction in
order to utilise natural resources sustainably for the
benefit of the people and the environment.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
RE -#HEBREAHE &)

A fFERETE 2R ERE

AEBTHRMTY $EEBRTHE
MGEEERMARRBERRTER A
b AREZRERBEE =T RAOAE
THRREBRERHESER  5EEONEE
R KB RBETT ERSEEME (i)
DB REEREN  ZRERYE
Ki)jETREMVBEEREWHLRE) -

BEIN REBE N BRERNEETE
MAORBEZERNERREE  WER
AEENMANEZEMHMEERAYE
RIEEES AKERENET(RERER
AHEREE) o

BB T
AEEBECRBEREBEFBNS G T E
2 LNEBRMBEK R ERR/KENA -
ey mIR—ERRIER/KEER
% BB ERREEKRIRE - 2o F A i
ERERBEAMHEER CURHEBERAT
AEERRGEBRERBATEN ZRE
BEBKRERBENARKER -

KL ARFF
KERFESHEREANAFKEAR
EREEEZHUEZ -HMCEZEERESR
= BEURBEKERFAE RS - AR
B HERM T E R EERE
TERMBN AEEFESEZRA
Hh - AEREABROATFENR -
AR AR MR

Million Cities Holdings Limited ® Annual Report 2020



A4

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

The Group commits in applying industry best practices
and complying with legislation, establishing and reviewing
safety, security and environment objectives and targets,
using energy and materials efficiently and reducing waste
and emissions and communicating the Group’s
environmental protection policy to all staffs.

Climate Change

The Group recognises the importance of identifying
climate change risk and developing the related strategies
in line with best practices to mitigate the associated
impacts on its business operations. Typhoon and rainy
seasons in the south, sandstorms, haze, ice, snow and
frost in the north, all of which, directly affect the
construction progress and construction cost of
development projects. During 2020, thankfully, there were
less typhoons and rainy days in Guangdong province as
compared with the previous years, which caused no
material impact on the Company’s business. Northern
area, such as Tianjin and Henan, also observed similar
pattern where no long-term suspension of work was
caused by sandstorms, smog, ice, snow and frost,
causing a major impact on the Company’s business.

Please refer to the respective section for the steps taken
on the reduction of emission target and the associated
plan on achieving such emission plan.

CARING FOR THE PEOPLE AND SOCIETY
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Employment and labour practices

Equal Employment Practices

The Group puts significant emphasis on the welfare of
employees whom it considers the Group’s most valuable
assets. Hence, the Group strives to attract and retain
talents and reconcile economical imperatives with well-
beings, aiming at reinforcing satisfaction, loyalty and
commitment of human capital.
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The Group has adopted comprehensive human resources
manual which includes policies and procedures applicable
to staff. All employees are treated fairly regarding
recruitment, training and development, appraisal of work
performance, promotions, rest periods, remuneration and
benefits. Staff dismissals are based on the Employment
Ordinance (Chapter 57 of the Laws of Hong Kong) or
relevant local laws and regulations, as well as the
requirements stipulated in the employment contracts. The
Group is committed to providing equal opportunity for all
employees and applicants without regard to race, color,
religion, national origin, sex, age, marital status, sexual
orientation, disability, political affiliation, personal
appearance, family responsibilities, matriculation or any
other characteristic protected under local law.

Throughout the Million Cities’ operation, the Group strives
to provide an excellent and comfortable working
environment. Based on the features of the principal
business, the Group sets appropriate working hours and
rest breaks for all staff members. The Group also
provides paid annual leave, marriage leave, maternity
leave, casual leave and compassionate leave in addition to
statutory holidays.

As at 31 December 2020, the Group employed 187 staffs
in total. As an illustration, the workforce statistic by
gender and age group are illustrated in pie graphs while
the employment type and employment category are
disclosed as bar charts:
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Gender and Age Distribution 14 Bl &% 5 B2 56
Employee Breakdown Employee Breakdown
by Gender by Age Group
RepEsHESL X RERITNESLE
[ Female [ Male [ Lessthan30 [ 31-50 Above 50
g B /INPABORR, 31E505%  50BKA L
" LS% .
Employment Turnover Rate by Gender, Age group and ZIE B - F B2 48 B Rt iz 2] 77 89 1 B
Geographical Location K E
Employee Turnover Rate Employee Turnover Rate
By Gender By Age
RUPIESHEER KL R RFREADHEERALLE
[ Female [ Male [ Lessthan30 [ 31-50 Above 50
7t B /NPABORR, 31E505% 508K L

All employees mentioned above are within Hong Kong and TMEEHURBEBRPEME -
China region.
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With nearly half of its workforce as female while more
than 30% of its workforce of age less than 30, the
Group strives to put both gender distribution and younger
workforce as one of its core priorities to promote a more

dynamic environment with a fresher perspective.

Employment Type and Category Distribution

Employee Breakdown

by Employment Type
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The Group is committed to complying with relevant labour
standards and employment laws and regulations which
are applicable to our business. During the Reporting
Period, no material and significant disputes between the

Group and the employees were occurred.
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Health and safety

Promoting Health and Safety

The Group considers health and safety of its employees
as one of its primary responsibilities. As such, the Group
is committed to provide a workplace free from injury and
illness through effective procedures and practice on
occupational health and safety. The Group pays great
attention to the safety of construction sites and strictly
requires the construction contractors to be responsible for
workers’ safety. As a responsible property developer, the
Group ensures that its related construction workers and
contractors comply with the standards and regulations for
safe and civilized construction of the project, and requires
its construction team along with the construction
contractors to provide all related site workers with the
safety equipment and to assure that these construction
workers would wear such equipment at all times with
proper training at regular intervals that can keep them
informed of any potential hazards on tasks. In addition,
the Group will ensure that the employees will get timely
rest and vacations in aim to promote better health of the
workers while it will organize employees to conduct
occupational health checkups every year.

Overall, the Group has purchased work injury insurance
for each employee. If an employee is injured on the job
during work, the company will actively apply for work
injury certification for the employee to ensure that the
injured employee receives timely treatment. Also, the
Group will provide compensation to workers injured at
work depending on the situation.

During the Reporting Period, the Group has ensured full
compliance with relevant occupational health and safety
legislations of Hong Kong, the PRC, and other relevant
legislations. No severe work-related injury or fatality was
reported throughout each of the past three vyears,
including the Reporting Period. In addition, there was no
lost day due to work injury throughout the Reporting
Period.
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Development and training

Talent Management

The Group acknowledges and highly values continuous
staff training and development of which it considers can
help to improve both its efficiency and productivity. In this
case, the Group provides employees with training and
development courses which cover various areas, including
orientation, leadership and management skills, marketing
skills, legislations updates, etc. with the aim of improving
employees’ efficiency, knowledge and skills for
discharging their duties at work. Also, the Group
encourages employees to apply for work-related external
training, title and qualification certificates, study degrees,
examination, and etc..

During the Reporting Period, the development and training
statistic by gender and employment category are
disclosed in following bar graphs:

Training Hours by Gender
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Employee Composition in Training

by Gender
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Labour standards

Prohibiting Forced Child and Labour

The Group prohibits the use of child labour and forced or
compulsory labour at all its units and suppliers. No
employee is made to work against his/her will or work as
forced labour, or subject to corporal punishment or
coercion of any type related to work.

In addition, the Group fully complies with the national
“Provisions on Prohibition of Child Labour” and will not
hire companies with minors under 18 years of age. A five
and a half day 8-hour work week is implemented, with
clear job responsibilities for different positions to ensure
that workers are aware of the Company’s working hour,
work responsibilities and working conditions. According to
the labour contract signed between the Group and its
employees, if the Group uses violence, threats, or illegally
restricts personal freedom to force employees to work, or
if the Group’s management illegally commands, forces
risky operations or even endangers the employees’
personal safety, the employees can immediately terminate
the labour contract with potential compensation on the
part by the Group to the related employee.

Overall, the Group has zero-tolerance to employment of
child labour and forced labour by our construction
contractors. The Group is not aware of any non-
compliance with relevant rules and regulations on
preventing child or forced labour.
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Supply chain management

Upholding High Procurement Standards

With the implementation of strong contract policy and
corresponding evaluation procedures underlying the
importance of supply chain management, the Group
strives to govern the selection of suppliers and
construction contractors. To ensure product and service
quality, and to manage environmental and social risks in
supply chain, the Group only engages suppliers and
construction contractors with licenses that are granted by
relevant regulators or government authorities. The
obligations of suppliers and construction contractors with
respect to environmental protection and compliance with
relevant safety laws and regulations are clearly stated in
signed contracts.

There are currently 334 suppliers in total, with 189
suppliers in Guangdong Province, 112 suppliers in Tianjin,
while the rest of the 33 suppliers are scattered
throughout other provinces in China.

In the selection of suppliers, priority is given to choose
high-quality suppliers that have previously cooperated with
the Group or based on a list of top ranked local suppliers
within the project location. For monopolistic industries,
government recommends the government related
subordinate units or third-party companies for which the
Group will carefully consider. Moreover, the Group has
incorporated ESG scores and database of supplier
information (i.e., Qualifications, ESG related information)
into the selection of suppliers and established a supplier’s
social responsibility evaluation and investigation
mechanism. If the supplier fails to meet the requirements,
it will not be included in the Company’s supplier
database. At the same time, the Group aims to improve
the supplier’s social responsibility level through audits,
training, counseling and other activities, and take active
measures to encourage suppliers to fulfill their social
responsibilities. The supplier will be required to conduct
self-inspection or entrust a third-party organization to
periodically evaluate and review the supplier’s
performance of social responsibilities, and the review
results can be used as an important basis for supplier
selection, order increase, rewards and punishments. This
process is monitored and updated regularly every 3
months. During 2020, there were approximately 700
suppliers that were subject to the above-mentioned
supplier selection process.
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B6 Commitment to product responsibility

Delivering Unmatched Product Quality

The Group continues to aim at providing the best quality
products to its clients. In such case, the Group strictly
complies with the Construction Law of the People’s
Republic of China and other national laws and regulations
and industry standards. The Group closely monitors the
property development projects at every stage and our
project engineers regularly inspect building materials and
construction works so as to ensure the constructors
strictly abide by the relevant national laws and regulations
to construct reasonable quality and safe buildings and
meet the acceptable reliability level. The Group has a
complete quality control system and experienced
managers who are responsible for on-site management.
Regarding the selection of cooperative units, no matter
the size of the project, the Group will choose the unit with
the corresponding qualifications as potential partners, and
inspect the projects completed or under construction at
early stage, focusing on whether cooperative units have
staff with strong construction and management
experience, technical capabilities, etc.. In terms of raw
material entry management, the Group will specify the
scope of brand selection in the contract. When materials
enter the site, re-inspection or on-site inspection shall be
carried out strictly in accordance with national regulations
to ensure raw materials, semi-finished products and
equipment used in the project can meet the requirements
for engineering quality and environmental protection
requirements.
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Before the start of each process, the corresponding
construction unit is required to complete the process
model and the formal construction can only be carried out
after the model experience is accepted. In terms of the
management and control of the construction site, on the
one hand, we select supervision companies in accordance
with national regulations. Also, the Group has also
equipped professional engineers for on-site management.
According to national regulations and the Group’s
operating procedures, it conducts daily inspections and
acceptance of various processes and sub-projects.
Unqualified projects will not be accepted and require
rectification. After completion of the corresponding sub-
projects (such as basic projects, main projects, etc.) and
remaining projects, the government quality supervision
department also participates in the corresponding
acceptance checking, ensuring the quality of the project
complies with the government supervision level. In
addition, when the building is handed over to the owner
after completion of the inspection and acceptance, the
Group will accompany the owner to check the quality of
the house according to the Group’s operating
procedures, and repair and rectify any quality problems
within a specified time. During the warranty period after
the owner signs the acceptance letter of satisfaction, we
will send engineers to deal with quality problems on site
to meet the warranty requirements.

Overall, the Group has entered into contracts with
construction contractors to obtain indemnity agreements
and their commitment to carry out operational and quality
assurance activities, and to comply with regulatory
requirements. We require construction contractors to
immediately resolve any defects or non-compliance
incidences, where necessary.

The Group has established relevant policies to ensure
compliance with applicable laws and regulations and to
fulfill its corporate responsibility towards the customers.
During the Reporting Period, there was no case and
complaint of non-compliance with laws and regulations in
relation to product responsibility within the headquarters
and offices of the Group. In addition, since we are
engaged in property development, there was no products
sold by the Group that was subject to recall for safety
and health reasons during the Reporting Period.
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On the other hand, the Group pays attention to protecting
its own intellectual property rights, while also respecting
the intellectual property rights of others. In order to
establish the Group’s brand, it has registered a number of
trademarks. The Group must take a variety of measures
to protect intellectual property rights from infringement,
such as strengthening the training of employees in this
area and providing their protection awareness. In terms of
the Group as a whole, a well-established complete patent
and trademark application system and process is in
place. In the case of violations, legal measures will be
taken to fight back.

For consumer data and privacy related issue, the Group
has set up special departments and personnel to be
responsible for keeping customer-related information and
materials. At the same time, it implements strict approval
and registration systems for relevant personnel to retrieve
and consult customer information. At the same time, the
Group occasionally organizes employees to give lectures
on the protection of personal privacy laws, enhances
employees’ awareness of protecting customer privacy,
improves employees’ professional ethics, and effectively
ensures the security of customer information.

Anticorruption

Commitment to Anti-Corruption

The Group commits in maintaining a high standard of
integrity when conducting business as we strongly believe
that it is essential to meet the expectations of our
stakeholders. As such, it has formulated anti-fraud work
regulations, the purpose of which is to regulate the job
behaviors of middle and senior managers and ordinary
employees of the Company, strictly abide by relevant
laws, industry norms and standards, professional ethics
and company rules and regulations, and establish a good
atmosphere of honesty and diligence.
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The Group promotes integrity and prevents unethical
pursuits. The Group has implemented an effective whistle-
blowing policy for reporting fraud, corruption, bribery,
extortion and money laundering. We encourage the
reporting of suspected business irregularities and provide
clear channels specifically for this purpose. When
suspected wrongdoings are identified, such as breach of
duty, abuse of power, receiving bribes, staff should report
to the Board for investigation and verification, and report
to the regulator and/or to law enforcement authority,
when necessary.

Before cooperating with each external party, the Group
will require such external party to sign an integrity
agreement with the Group to ensure that the personnel of
both parties can maintain integrity in the course of
business exchanges. The Group has also signed a clean
and self-discipline declaration with its employees to
ensure that the employees are aware of and abide by the
Group’s anti-fraud work regulations when performing their
duties.

The Group’s Chief Executive Office is responsible for
receiving and registering fraud reports, organizing
investigations of fraud cases, issuing investigation reports
and handling opinions, and reporting to the top
management. The Group has set up fraud report email
boxes, report boxes, WeChat, etc. to publish and accept
real-name data on anonymous complaints or reports from
employees at all levels and parties with economic
relations with the company. All employees who commit
fraud will be subject to the “Reward and Punishment
Management Regulations”. This shall impose
corresponding internal economic and administrative
disciplinary penalties and those who violate the criminal
law shall be transferred to judicial organs for handling in
accordance with law.

Instructional manuals of the anti-fraud will be provided to
each employee with trainings on anti-fraud training, laws
and regulations, and integrity and ethics educations shall
be provided to employees.
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During the year ended 31 December 2020, there are no
concluded legal cases regarding corruption brought
against the Group or its employees during the Reporting
Period.

Community investment

Contributing to the Welfare of Society

The Group encourages staff to take part in community
welfare and voluntary work and our Directors actively
maintain communication with non-governmental
organizations to understand community needs for the
sake of fulfilling its responsibility and giving back to the
society.

During the year ended 31 December 2020 and despite in
the midst of global the Group made a
donation of approximately RMB2.0 million to support the
community services and charitable activities arranged by
non-profit organisations within Hong Kong and China.

pandemic,

In addition, the Group also participated in the following
charitable events and volunteering activities:

1. Longmen Agricultural New Year Orange Subscription
Event

2. Pandemic Supporting Event within Hong Kong,
Macau, and China

3.  Assisting Primary and Secondary Students in Huizhou
for their Resumption of School Education
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Awards and Recognition ZEIF 158 A

Throughout the years, the Group has been honored with ZER AEBERELZERIE  FHT A
numerous commendations. These events provide evidence SERBARFETHEEELRIFHLE
of the Group’s commitment in fulfilling its social ER -

responsibility and supporting the development of the
community through its services.

Name of award Organization

RIEEW A

Listco Excellence Awards 2020 — New Potential Companies Jointly issued by am 730, PR Asia

on the Main Board Consultants Limited and Phoenix.com
Hong Kong stocks
B ET AR KH2020 — FEE QA am730 - M 2B ER 2 A KB E &
78 MR Bk & 7R B
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

KPMG

Independent auditor’s report to the directors of
Million Cities Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Million Cities Holdings Limited (“the Company”)
subsidiaries (“the Group”) set out on pages 112 to 248, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 December 2020, the consolidated statement of profit or
loss, the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes
in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the
year then ended and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies.

and its

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group
as at 31 December 2020 and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSASs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (“the Code”) together with any
ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the
consolidated financial statements in the Cayman Islands, and
we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with these requirements and the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS
Key audit matters are those matters that,
judgement,

consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming

in our professional
were of most significance in our audit of the

BRETTSEE
ARBSFTEERBRMOFEAEG Ry
ARG EMBRERNETZRAEENSTIE - &
LEEEERMEABRRBESMBHRER LD
EERRETREN RN T eHELEIHE
HEFBHER -

our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion

on these matters.

Assessing the net realisable value of inventories

REEETRRFE

Refer to note 17 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in note 2()).
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The Key Audit Matter
HREEITSBE

As at 31 December 2020, the aggregate carrying
value of the Group’s properties held for development
(“PHD”), properties under development (“PUD”) and
completed properties held for sale (together
“inventories”) totalled RMB2,177 million. These
properties principally comprise residential properties
and car parking bays in Huizhou and Tianjin.

202012 A31H @ EEBEFHEERMNYE ([F1EH
BWME]) RERTOME(ERPYWE] BFHIELE
ExIVEHEBIEED)NEREESFAARK2177
BET ZEVEFZERBEMNRRENEEREE

5 o

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. The calculation of the net realisable
value for each property development project at the
financial reporting date is performed by management.
fifhzﬁnﬁﬁz$£537“iﬁi%’r{EZFﬂiﬁ%?r% o BIEET
BB HREASEYMERREENAIERFE-
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How the matter was addressed in our audit

RPWETOMEREZSE

Our audit procedures to assess the net realisable value
of inventories included the following:

BMAFEFEANERFENEZEFBRENAT

° assessing the design, implementation and
operating effectiveness of key internal controls
over the preparation and monitoring of
management budgets and forecasts of
construction and other costs for each property
development project;

AR RERERTEYERRBEANEREE
BB AR N H 7S Y TERIME 1T 69 8 5 A B 2=
ERE BERAREEFTEHNAE R

° conducting site visits to property development
sites, on a sample basis, and discussing with
management the progress of each property
development project and the development
budgets reflected in the latest forecasts for each
property development project;
sﬁ%%&ﬁ%@@g THEBMER  YHERE
A S EERIER E’Jiﬁf‘%ﬂﬂfF%%%’éEeIE B &
MEAMREAFAEESR
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONTINUED)

Assessing the net realisable value of inventories

FEFETR2RFE

B % A RS (&)

Refer to note 17 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in note 2(l).

BRHGEE N BFEHERNZ 7RI Z20)89 & 71 B F -

The Key Audit Matter
ERESEE

The calculation of the net realisable value of
inventories involves significant management judgement
and estimation in preparing the updated costs to
complete each property development project for PHD
and PUD as well as in assessing the future selling
prices for each property development project (by
reference to recent sales transactions in nearby
locations), the estimated future selling costs and the
relevant taxes.
AEGEAEEFESREEEERE TR B ARE
BRVEEEZRPYENRIAR - AR EEEY
FEREFANAKEE(2RMOHMENTRHHER
)~ RRALE8HE BN R AR BB K (F D E K A
K fhEt e

We identified the assessment of net realisable value of
the Group’s inventories as a key audit matter because
of the significance of inventories to the Group’s total
assets and because of the inherent risks involved in
estimating the costs to complete each property
development project and the future selling prices for
each property development project, particularly in light
of the current economic circumstances and various
property market measures implemented in the cities
where the Group’s development projects are located.
B EEEFEFRZRFENTEI BRI
FH DHEAFEY ESELEEMNEZN - TH
RTETRENEERBENORAMTEEYERRE
BHENARKREBFHEEGRAR  FrSZERIZ AL
BIRER BESEERIER AW H#E LSS ES
HYET SRR -

TR TEER o EWERARAA

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BRMPWETONERZSE

° evaluating the valuation methodology adopted by
management for assessing the net realisable
value of inventories and comparing the key
estimates and assumptions adopted in the
valuations, including those relating to estimated
future selling prices with market available data
and the sales budget plans maintained by the
Group;
EERELAFEAIERFEMRBNGER
o UHEERPRANBERGETNMER(B2IERE
ARG EBRBAORBE G ARR) ESA
ERERMN SEEENHEREAIETHE:

° comparing the estimated costs to complete each
property development project with the Group’s
latest budgets and comparing the costs incurred
to 31 December 2020 with budgets made at 31
December 2019 to assess the accuracy of
management’s forecasting and budgeting
process; and
KETKMEZRRBANMGAKAE SEEK
FTEHE TR - WS B 1E2020F12A31B 2 &
EH P AN E2019F 12 A31BEH M TBE L& - 1A
AEEREERANEERENERT &

° performing sensitivity analyses to determine the
extent of changes in key estimates and
assumptions that, either individually or
collectively, would be required for inventories to
be materially misstated and considering the
likelihood of such a movement in those key
estimates and assumptions arising.
ETHREST  UEEBRGEFMEBRREBNK
HEAIHBMEREN Bt EERFERLEKRE
¥ WERBRGFTANRKR DR LR ZEH A 5
o
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONTINUED)

B % B AR ()

Provision for land appreciation tax (“LAT”) in Mainland China

hE A RER ([ BES ) RE

Refer to notes 8 and 26 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting judgement and estimates

in note 3(b)(ii).

D& KT E8 - W1 aE26K B i 3(0) i) & & &1 A B 42 {2 5

The Key Audit Matter
BREEFSE

LAT in Mainland China is one of the main
components of the Group’s taxation charge.

TEAMHTHIEERE ERENBAXHNTIES

e
LAT is levied on sale of properties at progressive rates
ranging from 30% to 60% based on the appreciation
of land value. At the end of each financial reporting
period, management estimates the LAT charge based
on its understanding and interpretation of the relevant
tax rules and regulations and the estimated total sales
of properties less total deductible expenditure, which
includes lease charges for land use rights, property
development costs, borrowing costs and development
expenditure. When the LAT is subsequently
determined, the actual payments may be different
from the estimates.
HEMETER LI ERRRBE R ER E0%E
BO%M AN T MIZET - EEEMBREHRR EEE
EREEETBRNRAFINIERERZE BtWE
HEMBRET MEREREE  MWERELAE -
fEMAA  FEERFAIAIMR X H AR - h5t L ig
BRI BHEET T HISERE  BEEREMNKATEE
BRI R ET -

We identified the provision for LAT in Mainland China
as a key audit matter because of its significance to
the consolidated financial statements and because the
estimated provisions for LAT are based on
management’s judgement and interpretation of the
relevant tax laws and regulations.

B E A IR ERE G AR ETFE
THRIMEEHREEHGEVBRRONEEZNL - 75
MR THIEERN G REATEEHBEANGE =
KO0 HI o R 2R A -
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How the matter was addressed in our audit

BPWETOMEREZSEE

Our audit procedures to assess the provision for LAT
in Mainland China included the following:

BPFEPEAMN I EERBEENEZREFBEA
T~

o assessing the design, implementation and
operating effectiveness of key internal controls
over the calculation of the estimated LAT
provisions;

AT {7 BR 5t B (il 51 4 3t 38 (8 757 48 8 A0 B 42 9 BT 42
ERE - BEREIEEFTENGRE

° engaging our internal taxation specialists to

evaluate the Group’s LAT provisions as at 31
December 2020 which involved challenging
management’s assumptions and judgements
based on our experience, knowledge and
understanding of the practices of the application
of the relevant tax laws by the various local tax
bureaus;
MAXMABRBERNIIE  FE EKERN
2020F12 BT Ay L B E BB - BIEENHK
T80 48 B~ AN a8k K 5% 3 B 155 44 B L AR R UK B
RHEGRENER AFEEENREK LA
s
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'’S REPORT (CONTINUED)
B &% B R E (&)

Provision for land appreciation tax (“LAT”) in Mainland China

PERME L IEER (DB ER]) RE

Refer to notes 8 and 26 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting judgement and estimates
in note 3(b)(ii).
Lfftr & AN 18 - B i226% B 52 3()(ii) £ & &1+ B B2 14 &1 -

The Key Audit Matter How the matter was addressed in our audit
BREEFSE BPNESNAEEZEER

° evaluating the management’s assumptions and
judgements based on our assessment of the
value of the estimated sales of properties and the
deductible expenditure; and
ﬁﬁ%ﬂ%%ﬂ’ﬂﬁuﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁmfu B 2 B9 AT A
B E IR B A R AR M Il

o re-calculating the provisions for LAT and
comparing our calculations with the amounts
recorded by the Group.

BT E L MIBERES YR MANGEER
H EEEMLENESRELR-

INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE MREMBRRRAEANRE LI
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS F8

AND AUDITOR’S REPORT THEREON

The directors are responsible for the other information. The ZEEZTHEHMESAS  c HtEE28FHER
other information comprises all the information included in the FHRAMNEILEL  EFBEEATERER X
annual report, other than the consolidated financial statements /9 89 4% S Ef R & o

and our auditor’s report thereon.

\} ]]Hl

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not ﬁ MEFEEMBERANERT NREEME
cover the other information and we do not express any form of MR EFEMERREREMTEANER

\_/
assurance conclusion thereon. EEm o

§|Si>
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'’S REPORT (CONTINUED)
B & B AR E ()

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in
this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the
Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative
but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in

discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.

108

BEBRMBREMBRERNET  RANEE
EHEEMES  EUABRET  EEEMEER
ERESAM B RRIKMERTBIZFE
THRNBEAFTEEREBREUFEEEX

ERFTFEATH TN IREMBREME
EEEEAERRL RMATERSLFE -
EETE KRB EMRE -

ESERGREMBRRARENTR

EXZRABARBEBR LG ERMNCER
B REERREB(RBGRIDNKERE
REBEEMTENEEMBEHRE  YHEARS
REFEVBRROEB I EFERRKFX
58 5R 1 8 BUH) B2 A $8 5R PR At P 75 B P9 AR 4
BE-

=&

ERBHEAVBBRRE EFAENE S
BFEKLENE N YHEERBR T HRE LR
BREFHENER URERHELERES
At - BRIFEFTAER BEEEBRAFLE
2SR EEMERNERTE -

BEZEEMHESTRETER
REBENE(E-

eSS
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONTINUED)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

error and are

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations or the override of internal
control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.

TR TEER o EWERARAA

B % A RS (&)

BREMHET RSN BERREAEN
B

HPWER SURAMBRRBERSTE
£ B 70 AR RF S B8 R T 8 B B K5 SR R A X
FEERE  YHABREMER XA R

%o

EERERSKFNFRE BETERIBER
(BBBEHEETHNES  EX-EKRER
PR AL 7 7 5 AR BE 3R 3R o 5 RR BR AL AT A ] BRGF =X
HAReE  MREERHEMEBIELLRK
AREFEGRAVBRREMERBHBERER
P B9 EOR TE - Bl 78 R A 85 AR RO AT 150 4%
EEK -

ERBE(EBBRFFELDETRIANBRED &K
PLERTEXHE R TEXREREE - R
(BPIE

i

o  BRMALEARNKFHERMEBES
MHEBREFEERNERRANER @ R
ARHMITEAEFAREELAR - KU
RERTERMEENENERRE (FRE
PIERERE - MR EFARE S R B R
e BRER ERRL  HEERA
BES 2 £ HibRae BB RARFEME
FHBERBRRANER SN REZR
PRl 5 AR 1 28 B r0 BB K 38 AR R /0 L B

e THRERFHBNARNIES  URE
ENEEF BEMNAFEE EEER
MIEFHNBERERREBR -
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONTINUED)

&

110

Mo B A HRE )

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of
our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions
may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of
the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and performance of the Group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

AEEEMRAEFBERMNGEERIE
SEHEFTMBRBENS M -

HEERAFELESTERNKEN
R & - RIBFAERNEFEE @ BE
EEFERERXBERAABENEKR#
EE - HMAEEHYE ERENFEL
EHRNEEEARE WREMRBRFT
EERHEE M - BIA B 27 % B &R
ERRFEAEIZRAVBHRERNAE
ARE - BEEHENEETRE - RIRfE
ERRFERBER BANEwREE
REZBERE B IEFTEBSHERE -
A ARFEFBAAELESR BEEME

ab 4k 43 L A
TRFELZ -

TESEVBREANERIBLIN &
BNAZ  BREEE  UREEMBHRE
EERTERBRXZMEE -

B BEEEANERIEXBEHOMBE
BERGR - BEMNENRE  WEHE
EUMBHRERER - HMEE BE&KHE
BAtOTT M - BEEMBT - HARBFE
RAEzHEE-
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONTINUED)

We communicate with the Audit Committee of the Company
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing
of the audit and significant audit findings, including any
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during
our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence and communicate with them all relationships and
other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence and, where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated report because the
adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

in our

The engagement partner on the audit in this

independent auditor’s report is Lam Kai Wa.

resulting

KPMG
Certified Public Accountants

8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road
Central, Hong Kong

29 March 2021

TR TEER o EWERARAA

B % A RS (&)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

melBE&mK
7 /B 1B m

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HZ=2020F12A31B I F &

(Expressed in Renminbi)
(AN B ZR)

2020 2019
2020 2019%F
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
Bt & AR TR AR T T
Revenue A 4 1,241,360 354,284
Cost of sales RN (690,122) (221,286)
Gross profit EF 551,238 132,998
Valuation gains on investment KEEMEBER S
properties 13(a) = 780
Other net income H A F R 5 7,785 14,757
Selling expenses HEMX (14,396) (5,820)
Administrative expenses ITHHX (63,696) (67,316)
Other expenses H At 2 6 (2,374) (4,965)
Profit from operations BERF 478,557 70,434
Finance costs A& B AR 7(a) (8,470) (9,818)
Share of gain/(losses) of associates — F&1f B & A &
Wz, (E1#8) 939 (324)
Share of losses of joint ventures EhEERAIEIE - (1,456)
Profit before taxation BR B A0 g R 471,026 58,836
Income tax Fris®i 8(a) (239,163) (41,168)
Profit for the year FE®RA 231,863 17,668
Attributable to: U & 7RG
Equity shareholders RARERRKRE
of the Company 112,746 17,954
Non-controlling interests SRV IR HE 119,117 (286)
Profit for the year FERF 231,863 17,668
Basic and diluted earnings BREAARREERF
per share (RMB cents) (AR#5) 11 15.03 2.39

financial statements.

o

The notes on page 119 to page 248 form part of these F119F248BE 2 Mix AZSZHBHREREH —
o

12
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
REEmkEMEE RS R

For the year ended 31 December 2020

EHZ=2020F12A31B IEF &
(Expressed in Renminbi)
(AAREFTR)
2020 2019
2020 2019%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T R AR T T
Profit for the year FERR 231,863 17,668
Other comprehensive income FEHMmEZE WK
for the year (after reclassification (REH>ERE)
adjustments)
ltems that may be reclassified AEREH D EZEmH
subsequently to profit or loss: EHH
Exchange differences on translation of B LA T Bk RAE K E58
financial statements of:
— the associates and joint ventures —BeERakaEAT 4,307 (1,558)
— the Hong Kong and overseas — BAEREINER A
subsidiaries 5,451 (1,613)
Other comprehensive income FEHMZ2EWKEZE SR
for the year, net of nil tax ZEBE 9,758 (3,171)
Total comprehensive income FEXHWSAHE
for the year 241,621 14,497
Attributable to: T AL
Equity shareholders of the Company VIN/NEIE Ea g 3] 108,503 19,797
Non-controlling interests FE1E IR M = 133,118 (5,300)
Total comprehensive income FEZEWBEAE
for the year 241,621 14,497

The notes on page 119 to page 248 form part of these
financial statements.

“EoFEEH c BRERARAT

FIE248BE LM ERZFH KM — &6

7 e

113




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e BB R

At 31 December 2020
20204128318
(Expressed in Renminbi)
(AAREZTR)

2020 2019
20204 20194
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
= AR® T ARETIT
Non-current assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment IE o 12 57,722 57,905
Investment properties KEME 13 20,200 20,200
Interest in associates REEE R AR 15 415,383 104,141
Interest in joint ventures REZRNAIHHEZR 16 - 64,696
Deferred tax assets BEEHIBEE 26(b) 71,655 17,199
Other non-current assets HEMIERBEE 866 3,464
565,826 267,605
Current assets REBEE
Inventories and other contract costs F & K& E ith& #pK AK 17 2,205,710 2,271,588
Trade and other receivables B 5 Kk H A E W FRIE 19 81,248 97,576
Prepaid tax BT IE 26(a) 71,550 93,959
Pledged and restricted deposits B &R 15 3% 20 107,296 402,964
Cash and cash equivalents BehReEED 21 366,309 731,909
2,832,113 3,597,996
Total assets WEE 3,397,939 3,865,601
Current liabilities REBEE
Bank loans RITER 22 368,537 313,102
Contract liabilities EH8E 18 945,939 1,923,393
Trade and other payables B 5 N E b JE 58 23 719,193 544,161
Lease liabilities HERE 24 474 —
Tax payable FE R I8 26(a) 190,664 55,432
2,224,807 2,836,088
Million Cities Holdings Limited ® Annual Report 2020
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (CONTINUED)

e U HMRR K&

At 31 December 2020

72020412 A31H
(Expressed in Renminbi)
(A AR5 R)
2020 2019
20204 20194
Note RMB’000 RMB’000

Y & AR®TR ARETTT

Net current assets REBEEFE 607,306 761,908
Total assets less current HEERARBES

liabilities 1,173,132 1,029,513
Non-current liabilities kRBEE
Other payables H th J& {5 ;I8 23 - 73,741
Lease liabilities HEBE 24 662 —
Deferred tax liabilities ELEHIBAEE 26(b) 3,803 30,889

4,465 104,630

NET ASSETS EEFE 1,168,667 924,883
CAPITAL AND RESERVES EXRK#EE 27
Share capital [N 6,605 6,605
Reserves f# 922,298 811,632
Total equity attributable to equity Z& 2 T REEL

shareholders of the Company B 928,903 818,237
Non-controlling interests FERER 239,764 106,646
TOTAL EQUITY EHEEE 1,168,667 924,883

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on

29 March 2021.

Wong Ting Chung
TER
Director

EFE

EE @ MN2021FE3A29 it M IFREELTT o

Lau Ka Keung

BRE
Director

EFE

The notes on page 119 to page 248 form part of these

financial statements.

TR TEER o EWERARAA
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 31 December 2020

B £ 2020612 A31H L F &
(Expressed in Renminbi)
(AN B ZR)
Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company
ARRERRRENS
Share Non-
Share Share option  Statutory  Exchange Retained controlling
capital Premium reserves reserves reserves profits Total interests Total equity
RE  ROEE BRERSE AERE  EARE  REEAN B FERER BEs
Note RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
W ARBTT ARETT ARMTT AREBTR AR%TR ARETT AREBTT ARETT ARETRI
Balance at 1 January 2019 R2019F1 A1AME S 6,605 660,653 - 20,060 (6,051) 113,086 794,353 111,946 906,299

Changes in equity for 2019 20195 X2 E

Profit for the year ER%A - - - - - 17,954 17,954 (286) 17,668
Other comprehensive income ~ E i 2 F 2 - - - - 1,843 - 1,843 (5,014) (3,171)
Total comprehensive income 2ENRLE - - - - 1,843 17,954 19,797 (5,300) 14,497
Equity settled share-based INEREE IR BERY

transactions 5 25 - - 4,087 - - - 4,087 - 4,087
Appropriation to statutory HEEATRE

reserves 27(c)(i) - - - 9,859 - (9,859) - - -

Balance at 31 December 2019 14201912831 K
and 1 January 2020 2020E1A1A M 6,605 660,653 4,087 29,919 (4,208) 121,181 818,237 106,646 924,883

Changes in equity for 2020 20205 fYER 2

Profit for the year FREF - - - - - 112,746 112,746 119,117 231,863
Other comprehensive income 2 EKE - - - - (4,243) - (4,243) 14,001 9,758
Total comprehensive income 2ARERE - - - - (4,243) 112,746 108,503 133,118 241,621
Equity settled share-based NEREE UKD BEEN

transactions 5 25 = - 2,163 - - - 2,163 - 2,163
Appropriation o statutory AEREERE

reserves 27(c)(i) = = = 9,961 = (9,961) = = =
Balance at 31 December 2020 A2020%12/31 R H &4 6,605 660,653 6,250 39,880 (8,451) 223,966 928,903 239,764 1,168,667

The notes on page 119 to page 248 form part of these ZF119E248H ZMiTAZEY KK — 2P

paN

financial statements. 77 °
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
SFERERERXR

For the year ended 31 December 2020

EHZ=2020F12A31B IEF &
(Expressed in Renminbi)
(AAR®3|T)
2020 2019
20204 20194
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5 AR® T AREETIT
CASH FLOWS FROM RETHHEERE
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Cash (used in)/generated REEE (FTA) 8
from operations BE 21(b) (84,282) 38,262
Income tax paid ERFEH (163,063) (89,694)
Net cash outflow from KETHHRESAHEFE
operating activities (247,345) (51,432)
CASH FLOWS FROM BRETHEERE
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Investments in associates and joint R EBE RN R NEE QA
ventures (251,823) (44)
Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of WEWB AR BNk
cash acquired WEEmMS/MIRE - 5,445
Acquisition of property, plant and WY - BE R&E
equipment (4,644) (2,227)
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEME HE LK
plant and equipment Ffr 18 5018 — 351
Proceeds from disposal of non- HERELENIERE
current assets held for sale BEMNGEHIE = 4,125
Interest received 2 U B 6,009 13,893
Proceeds from disposal of other & \ﬁﬂi BMEEMS
financial assets A 10,018 150,367
Payments for purchase of other BEHEHMESRMEENK
financial assets (10,000) (150,000)
Net cash (outflow)/inflow from REFHRES (RH),
investing activities RAFEEE (250,440) 21,910

The notes on page 119 to page 248 form part of these

financial statements.

“EoFEEH c BRERARAT
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)

GERERERHE)

For the year ended 31 December 2020
B £ 2020612 A31H L F &
(Expressed in Renminbi)

(AN B ZR)

2020 2019
2020 2019%F
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
B % AR%T R AR T T
CASH FLOWS FROM RETHRERE
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Capital element of lease rentals ENHEEERET S
paid 21(c) (412) —
Interest element of lease rentals ENEEHNE D
paid 21(c) 61) —
Proceeds from bank loans IRITERFTSRIE 21(c) 222,593 55,000
Repayment of bank loans EBERITER 21(c) (167,158) (290,155)
Interest paid on bank loans EfRITERFE 21(c) (19,198) (26,266)
Advances from related parties B 5 B 21(c) 101,307 27,333
Repayment to related parties B R B 7 K18 21(c) - (107,298)
Payment of listing expenses SN ETHAX - (5,841)
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from BMEZTEBEESRA
financing activities (FH)F8 137,071 (347,227)
Decrease in cash and HeRBESEEY
cash equivalents W (360,716) (376,749)
Cash and cash equivalents MAIEHE SR
at 1 January REeEEEY 731,909 1,106,426
Effect of foreign exchange rate @EXREFHWTE
changes (4,884) 2,232
Cash and cash equivalents R12A31EHE SR
at 31 December ReZEEY 21(a) 366,309 731,909

The notes on page 119 to page 248 form part of these
financial statements.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Million Cities Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 15 November
2016 as an exempted company with limited liability under
the Companies Law Cap.22 (Law 3 of 1961, as
consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands.

The Company is an investment holding company. The
core business activities of the Company and its
subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) include property
development and sales in the People’s Republic of China
(the “PRC”).

The consolidated financial statements for the years ended
31 December 2020 and 2019 comprise the Group and
the Group’s interest in associates and joint ventures.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) Statement of compliance
These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), which collective
term includes all applicable individual Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”), accounting principles
generally accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. These financial statements also comply
with the applicable disclosure provisions of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). Significant
accounting policies adopted by the Group are
disclosed below.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B ISR MR (&)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(Br=HETH -

AANRESIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

120

(a)

(b)

Statement of compliance (Continued)

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised
HKFRSs that are first effective or available for early
adoption for the current accounting period of the
Group. For the purpose of preparing these financial
statements, the Group has adopted all applicable
new and revised HKFRSs, except for any new
standards or interpretations that are not yet effective
for the accounting period ended 31 December
2020. The revised and new accounting standards
and interpretations issued but not yet effective for
the accounting period beginning on or after 1
January 2021 are set out in note 35.

Basis of measurement

These financial statements are presented in
Renminbi (“RMB”), rounded to the nearest thousand,
as the Group’s principal activities were carried out in
the PRC. RMB is the functional currency for the
Company’s subsidiaries established in the mainland
China. The functional currency of the Company and
the Company’s subsidiaries outside the mainland
China are Hong Kong dollars, as these entities’
principal activities are financing and investing
activities, and Hong Kong dollars are the primary
currency generated from and used in these
activities.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of
the financial statements is the historical cost basis
except that investments in debt and equity securities
and investment properties are stated at fair value as
explained in note 2(g) and note 2(h).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
E %W R M)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BB B ETHN - LAARKSIR)
2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 EARESTBEE)
(Continued)
(c) Use of estimates and judgements (c) & Ffhat ¥ &

The preparation of financial statements in conformity
with HKFRSs requires management to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect
the application of policies and reported amounts of
assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The
estimates and associated assumptions are based on
historical experience and various other factors that
are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances, the results of which form the basis of
making the judgements about carrying values of
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. Actual results may differ from
these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in
which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the revision and
future periods if the revision affects both current and
future periods.

Judgements made by management in the
application of HKFRSs that have significant effect on
the financial statements and major sources of
estimation uncertainty are discussed in note 3.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B ISR MR (&)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B BETHAS - AAREEFIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
(d) Changes in accounting policies

(e)

122

The Group has applied the following amendments to
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA to these financial
statements for the current accounting period:

° Amendments to HKFRS 3, Definition of a
Business

° Amendment to HKFRS 16, Covid-19-Related
Rent Concessions

Other than the amendment to HKFRS 16, the Group
has not applied any new standard or interpretation
that is not yet effective for the current accounting
period. None of these developments have had a
material effect on how the Group’s results and
financial position for the current or prior periods
have been prepared or presented.

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests
Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group.
The Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or
has rights, to variable returns from its involvement
with the entity and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the entity. When
assessing whether the Group has power, only
substantive rights (held by the Group and other
parties) are considered.

An investment in a subsidiary is included in the
consolidated financial statements from the date that
control the date that control
ceases. Intra-Group balances, transactions and cash
flows and any unrealised profits arising from intra-
Group transactions are eliminated in full in preparing
the financial statements. Unrealised losses resulting
from intra-Group transactions are eliminated in the
same way as unrealised gains but only to the extent
that there is no evidence of impairment.

commences until
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(e)

—E—=
= =

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests
(Continued)

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in a
subsidiary not attributable directly or indirectly to the
Company, and in respect of which the Group has
not agreed any additional terms with the holders of
those interests which would result in the Group as a
whole having a contractual obligation in respect of
those interests that meets the definition of a
financial liability. For each business combination, the
Group can elect to measure any non-controlling
interests either at fair value or at the non-controlling
interests’ proportionate share of the subsidiary’s net
identifiable assets.

Non-controlling interests are presented in the
consolidated statements of financial position within
equity, separately from equity attributable to the
equity shareholders of the Company. Non-controlling
interests in the results of the Group are presented
on the face of the consolidated statements of profit
or loss and the consolidated statements of profit or
loss and other
allocation of the total

comprehensive income as an
profit or
comprehensive income for the year between non-
controlling interests and the equity shareholders of
the Company. Loans from holders of non-controlling
interests and other contractual obligations towards
these holders are presented as financial liabilities in
the consolidated statements of financial position in
accordance with note 2(p),(w) depending on the
nature of the liability.

loss and total

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary that
do not result in a loss of control are accounted for
as equity transactions, whereby adjustments are
made to the amounts of controlling and non-
controlling interests within consolidated equity to
reflect the change in relative interests, but no
adjustments are made to goodwill and no gain or
loss is recognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MR R M E

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(REBETHAIN - AARYEFITR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

124

(f)

(Continued)
(e)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests
(Continued)

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is
accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest in
that subsidiary, with a resulting gain or loss being
recognised in profit or loss. Any interest retained in
that former subsidiary at the date when control is
lost is recognised at fair value and this amount is
regarded as the fair value on initial recognition of a
financial asset (see note 2(g)) or, when appropriate,
the cost on initial recognition of an investment in an
associate or joint venture (see note 2(f)).

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an
investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less
impairment losses (see note 2(k)).

Associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity in which the Group or the
Company has significant influence, but not control or
joint control, over its management, including
participation in the financial and operating policy
decisions.

A joint venture is an arrangement whereby the
Group or Company and other parties contractually
agree to share control of the arrangement, and have
rights to the net assets of the arrangement.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(f)

— 5 —
— = —=

TEFR « BUER

Associates and joint ventures (Continued)

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is
accounted for in the consolidated financial
statements under the equity method. Under the
equity method, the investment is initially recorded at
cost, adjusted for any excess of the Group’s share
of the acquisition-date fair values of the investee’s
identifiable net assets over the cost of the
investment (if any). The cost of the investment
includes purchase price, other costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of the investment, and
any direct investment into the associate or joint
venture that forms part of the Group’s equity
investment. Thereafter, the investment is adjusted for
the post acquisition change in the Group’s share of
the investee’s net assets and any impairment loss
relating to the investment. Any acquisition-date
excess over cost, the Group’s share of the post-
acquisition, post-tax results of the investees and any
impairment losses for the year are recognised in the
consolidated statements of profit or loss, whereas
the Group’s share of the post-acquisition post-tax
items of the investees’ other comprehensive income
is recognised in the consolidated statements of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income.

When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its
interest in the associate or the joint venture, the
Group’s interest is reduced to nil and recognition of
further losses is discontinued except to the extent
that the Group has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of the
investee. For this purpose, the Group’s interest is
the carrying amount of the investment under the
equity method together with the Group’s long-term
interests that in substance form part of the Group’s
net investment in the associate or the joint venture
(after applying the ECL model to such other long-
term interests where applicable (see note 2(K)(i)).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B ISR MR (&)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(Br=HETH -

AANRESIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(f)

(9)

126

Associates and joint ventures (Continued)
Unrealised profits and losses resulting from
transactions between the Group and its associates
and joint ventures are eliminated to the extent of the
Group’s interest in the investee, except where
unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment
of the asset transferred, in which case they are
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

If an investment in an associate becomes an
investment in a joint venture or vice versa, retained
interest is not remeasured. Instead, the investment
continues to be accounted for under the equity
method.

In all other cases, when the Group ceases to have
significant influence over an associate or joint control
over a joint venture, it is accounted for as a
disposal of the entire interest in that investee, with a
resulting gain or loss being recognised in profit or
loss. Any interest retained in that former investee at
the date when significant influence is lost is
recognised at fair value and this amount is regarded
as the fair value on initial recognition of a financial
asset.

Other investments in debt and equity
securities

The Group’s policies for investments in debt and
equity securities, other than investments in
subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures, are set
out below.

Investments in debt and equity securities are
recognised/derecognised on the date the Group
commits to purchase/sell the investment. The
investments are initially stated at fair value plus
directly attributable transaction costs, except for
those investments measured at fair value through
profit or loss (FVPL) for which transaction costs are
recognised directly in profit or loss. For an
explanation of how the Group determines fair value
of financial instruments, see note 28(e). These
investments are subsequently accounted for as
follows, depending on their classification.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
frE MR M)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BREBETAIN - AAREFITR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 EARGITBEE)

(Continued)

(g) Other investments in debt and equity (90 EMEXRBRAEBEFKLE(E)
securities (Continued)
(i)  Investments other than equity investments (i) BRERZUISIHRE

Non-equity investments held by the Group are
classified into one of the following
measurement categories:

— amortised cost, if the investment is held
for the collection of contractual cash
flows which represent solely payments of
principal and interest. Interest income
from the investment is calculated using
the effective interest method (see note

2(u)iiii).

— fair value through other comprehensive
income (FVOCI) — recycling, if the
contractual cash flows of the investment
comprise solely payments of principal and
interest and the investment is held within
a business model whose objective is
achieved by both the collection of
contractual cash flows and sale. Changes
in fair value are recognised in other
comprehensive income, except for the
recognition in profit or loss of expected
credit losses, interest income (calculated
using the effective interest method) and
foreign exchange gains and losses. When
the investment is derecognised, the
amount accumulated in other
comprehensive income is recycled from
equity to profit or loss.

— fair value at profit or loss (FVPL) if the
investment does not meet the criteria for
being measured at amortised cost or
FVOCI (recycling). Changes in the fair
value of the investment (including interest)
are recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B ISR MR (&)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B BA TR - AAREFIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
(g) Other investments in debt and equity

128

(h)

securities (Continued)

(i)

Equity investments

An investment in equity securities is classified
as FVPL unless the equity investment is not
held for trading purposes and on initial
recognition of the investment the Group makes
an election to designate the investment at
FVOCI (non-recycling) such that subsequent
changes in fair value are recognised in other
comprehensive income. Such elections are
made on an instrument-by-instrument basis,
but may only be made if the investment meets
the definition of equity from the issuer’s
perspective. Where such an election is made,
the amount accumulated in other
comprehensive income remains in the fair value
reserve (non-recycling) until the investment is
disposed of. At the time of disposal, the
amount accumulated in the fair value reserve
(non-recycling) is transferred to retained
earnings. It is not recycled through profit or
loss. Dividends from an investment in equity
securities, irrespective of whether classified as
at FVPL or FVOCI, are recognised in profit or
loss as other income.

Investment properties

Investment properties are land and/or buildings
which are owned or held under a leasehold interest
(see note 2(j)) to earn rental income and/or for
capital appreciation. These include property that is
being constructed or developed for future use as
investment property.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
E %W R M)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BB B ETHN - LAARKSIR)
2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 EARESTBEE)
(Continued)
(h) Investment properties (Continued) (hy REWHE(E)

Investment properties are stated at fair value, unless
they are still in the course of construction or
development at the end of the reporting period and
their fair value cannot be reliably measured at that
time. Any gain or loss arising from a change in fair
value or from the retirement or disposal of an
investment property is recognised in profit or loss.
Rental income from investment properties is
accounted for as described in note 2(u).

In the comparative period, when the Group holds
property interest under an operating lease to earn
rental income and/or for capital appreciation, the
interest is classified and accounted for as an
investment property on a property-by-property basis.
Any such property interest which has been classified
as an investment property is accounted for as if it
were held under a finance lease (see note 2(j)), and
the same accounting policies are applied to that
interest as are applied other investment properties
leased under finance leases. Lease payments are
accounted for as described in note 2(j).

Property, plant and equipment

The following items of property, plant and equipment
are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation
and accumulated impairment loss (see note 2(k)):

— buildings held for own use which are situated
on leasehold land classified as held under

operating lease (see note 2(j)); and

—  other items of plant and equipment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B ISR MR (&)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(REBETHAIN - AARYEFITR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

130

(i)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)
The cost of self-constructed items of property, plant
and equipment includes the cost of materials, direct
labour, the initial estimate, where relevant, of the
costs of dismantling and removing the items and
restoring the site on which they are located, and an
appropriate proportion of production overheads and
borrowing costs (see note 2(w)).
Gains or losses arising from the retirement or
disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment
are determined as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
item and are recognised in profit or loss on the date
of retirement or disposal.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of
items of property, plant and equipment, less their
estimated residual value, if any, using the straight-
line method over their estimated useful lives as
follows:

Residual

Useful life value %

Lands 50 years 0%

Buildings 20 years 5%-10%

Office equipment 2-12 years 0%-10%

Motor vehicles 4-5 years 0%-10%

Electronic and other 2-10 years 0%-10%

equipment

Other properties leased unexpired 0%

for own use term of lease
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
E %W R M)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BREBETAIN - AAREFITR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 EARGITBEE)
(Continued)

(i) Leased assets ) HEEE

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses
whether the contract is, or contains, a lease. A
contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration. Control is conveyed where the
customer has both the right to direct the use of the
identified asset and to obtain substantially all of the
economic benefits from that use.

(i) As a lessee

Where the contract contains lease
component(s) and non-lease component(s), the
Group has elected not to separate non-lease
components and accounts for each lease
component and any associated non-lease
components as a single lease component for
all leases.

At the lease commencement date, the Group
recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease
liability, except for short-term leases that have
a lease term of 12 months or less and leases
of low-value assets which, for the Group are
primarily laptops and office furniture. When the
Group enters into a lease in respect of a low-
value asset, the Group decides whether to
capitalise the lease on a lease-by-lease basis.
The lease payments associated with those
leases which are not capitalised are
recognised as an expense on a systematic
basis over the lease term.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B ISR MR (&)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(Br=HETH -

AANRESIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
Leased assets (Continued)

)

132

(i)

As a lessee (Continued)

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability
is initially recognised at the present value of the
lease payments payable over the lease term,
discounted using the interest rate implicit in the
lease or, if that rate cannot be readily
determined, using a relevant incremental
borrowing rate. After initial recognition, the
lease liability is measured at amortised cost
and interest expense is calculated using the
effective interest method. Variable lease
payments that do not depend on an index or
rate are not included in the measurement of
the lease liability and hence are charged to
profit or loss in the accounting period in which
they are incurred.

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease
is capitalised is initially measured at cost,
which comprises the initial amount of the lease
liability plus any lease payments made at or
before the commencement date, and any initial
direct costs incurred. Where applicable, the
cost of the right-of-use assets also includes an
estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the
underlying asset or to restore the underlying
asset or the site on which it is located,
discounted to their present value, less any

lease incentives received. The right-of-use
asset is subsequently stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment

losses (see notes 2() and 2(k)), except for the
following types of right-of-use asset:

— right-of-use assets that meet the definition
of investment property are carried at fair
value in accordance with note 2(h);

— right-of-use assets related to interests in
leasehold land where the interest in the
land is held as inventory are carried at the
lower of cost and net realisable value in
accordance with note 2().
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
E %W R M)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BREBETAIN - AAREFITR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 EARGITBEE)

(Continued)
() Leased assets (Continued) () HEEBEEE)
(i) As a lessee (Continued) (i) 1ERBEHBAE)

The lease liability is remeasured when there is
a change in future lease payments arising from
a change in an index or rate, or there is a
change in the Group’s estimate of the amount
expected to be payable under a residual value
guarantee, or there is a change arising from
the reassessment of whether the Group will be
reasonably certain to exercise a purchase,
extension or termination option. When the
lease liability is remeasured in this way, a
corresponding adjustment is made to the
carrying amount of the right-of-use asset, or is
recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount
of the right-of-use asset has been reduced to
Zero.

The lease liability is also remeasured when
there is a change in the scope of a lease or
the consideration for a lease that is not
originally provided for in the lease contract
(“lease modification”) that is not accounted for
as a separate lease. In this case the lease
liability is remeasured based on the revised
lease payments and lease term using a revised
discount rate at the effective date of the
modification. The only exceptions are any rent
concessions which arose as a direct
consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic and
which satisfied the conditions set out in
paragraph 46B of IFRS 16 Leases. In such
cases, the Group took advantage of the
practical expedient set out in paragraph 46A of
IFRS 16 and recognised the change in
consideration as if it were not a lease
modification.

In the consolidated statement of financial
position, the current portion of long-term lease
liabilities is determined as the present value of
contractual payments that are due to be
settled within twelve months after the reporting
period.
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e B ISR MR (&)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BRBATHEI - AARKEFIR)
2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

134

(i) Leased assets (Continued)

(i)

As a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it
determines at lease inception whether each
lease is a finance lease or an operating lease.
A lease is classified as a finance lease if it
transfers substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to the ownership of an underlying
assets to the lessee. If this is not the case, the
lease is classified as an operating lease.

When a contract contains lease and non-lease
components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each
component on a relative stand-alone selling
price basis. The rental income from operating
leases is recognised in accordance with note
2(u).

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, the
sub-leases are classified as a finance lease or
as an operating lease with reference to the
right-of-use asset arising from the head lease.
If the head lease is a short-term lease to which
the Group applies the exemption described in
note 2(j)(i), then the Group classifies the sub-
lease as an operating lease.

(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments
and lease receivables

The Group recognises a loss allowance for
expected credit losses (ECLs) on the following
items:

— financial assets measured at amortised
cost (including cash and cash
equivalents, trade and other receivables
and loans to associates); and

— lease receivables.

Financial assets measured at fair value are not
subject to the ECL assessment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
frE MR M)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BREBETAIN - AAREFITR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 BEAREHEHXRE
(Continued)
(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets k) ERBEBAREERE(E)
(Continued)
(i) Credit losses from financial instruments () =BTAREKHERISFE
and lease receivables (Continued) % (&)
Measurement of ECLs ARz HIEX R E

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of
credit losses. Credit losses are measured as
the present value of all expected cash
shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the cash
flows due to the Group in accordance with the
contract and the cash flows that the Group
expects to receive).

The expected cash shortfalls are discounted
using the following discount rates where the
effect of discounting is material:

— fixed-rate financial assets and trade and
other receivables: effective interest rate
determined at initial recognition or an
approximation thereof;

— variable-rate financial assets: current
effective interest rate; and

— lease receivables: discount rate used in
the measurement of the lease receivable.

The maximum period considered when
estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual
period over which the Group is exposed to
credit risk.

In measuring ECLs, the Group takes into
account reasonable and supportable
information that is available without undue cost
or effort. This includes information about past
events, current conditions and forecasts of
future economic conditions.
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e MR R M E

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BREBETHN - AAREIT)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

136

(k)

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments
and lease receivables (Continued)
Measurement of ECLs (Continued)

ECLs are measured on either of the following
bases:

— 12-month ECLs: these are losses that are
expected to result from possible default
events within the 12 months after the
reporting date; and

— lifetime ECLs: these are losses that are
expected to result from all possible
default events over the expected lives of
the items to which the ECL model
applies.

Loss allowances for trade receivables and
lease receivables are always measured at an
amount equal to lifetime ECLs. ECLs on these
financial assets are estimated using a provision
matrix based on the Group’s historical credit
loss experience, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors and an assessment of
both the current and forecast general
economic conditions at the reporting date.

For all other financial instruments, the Group
recognises a loss allowance equal to
12-month ECLs unless there has been a
significant increase in credit risk of the financial
instrument since initial recognition, in which
case the loss allowance is measured at an
amount equal to lifetime ECLs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

=

(k)

Credit losses and impairment of assets

(Continued)

(i)

T_TFEFR » EWMTEBRER

Credit losses from financial instruments
and lease receivables (Continued)
Significant increases in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk of a
financial instrument has increased significantly
since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of default occurring on the financial
instrument assessed at the reporting date with
that assessed at the date of initial recognition.
In making this reassessment, the Group
considers that a default event occurs when (i)
the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit
obligations to the Group in full, without
recourse by the Group to actions such as
realising security (if any is held); or (i) the
financial asset is 90 days past due. The Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportable,
including historical experience and forward-
looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken
into account when assessing whether credit
risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition:

—  failure to make payments of principal or

interest on their contractually due dates;
— an actual or expected significant
deterioration in a financial instrument’s
external or internal credit rating (if

available);
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BREBETHAHN
2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

138

(k)

(i)

AANRESIR)

Credit losses from financial instruments
and lease receivables (Continued)
Significant increases in credit risk (Continued)
— an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the operating results of
the debtor; and
— existing or forecast changes in the
technological, market, economic or legal
environment that have a significant
adverse effect on the debtor’'s ability to
meet its obligation to the Group.

Depending on the nature of the financial
instruments, the assessment of a significant
increase in credit risk is performed on either an
individual basis or a collective basis. When the
assessment is performed on a collective basis,
the financial instruments are grouped based on
shared credit risk characteristics, such as past
due status and credit risk ratings.

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting date to
reflect changes in the financial instrument’s
credit risk since initial recognition. Any change
in the ECL amount is recognised as an
impairment gain or loss in profit or loss. The
Group recognises an impairment gain or loss
for all financial
corresponding adjustment to their carrying
amount through a loss allowance account,
except for investments in debt securities that
are measured at FVOCI (recycling), for which
in other

instruments with a

the loss allowance is recognised
comprehensive income and accumulated in the

fair value reserve (recycling).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

=

(Continued)

(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)
(i) Credit losses from financial instruments

and lease receivables (Continued)

Basis of calculation of interest income

Interest income recognised in accordance with
note 2(u)(iii) is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless
the financial asset is credit-impaired, in which
case interest income is calculated based on
the amortised cost (i.e. the gross carrying
amount less loss allowance) of the financial
asset.

At each reporting date, the Group assesses
whether a financial asset is credit-impaired. A
financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events that have a detrimental impact on
the estimated future cash flows of the financial
asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial
asset is credit-impaired includes the following
observable events:

— significant financial difficulties of the
debtor;

— a breach of contract, such as a default or
past due event;

— it becoming probable that the borrower
will enter into bankruptcy or other
financial reorganisation;

— significant changes in the technological,
market, economic or legal environment
that have an adverse effect on the
debtor; or

— the disappearance of an active market for
a security because of financial difficulties
of the issuer.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MR R M E

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BB AT -
2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

140

(k)

(i)

(i)

AANRESIR)

Credit losses from financial instruments
and lease receivables (Continued)

Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset
or lease receivable is written off (either partially
or in full) to the extent that there is no realistic
prospect of recovery. This is generally the case
when the Group determines that the debtor
does not have assets or sources of income
that could generate sufficient cash flows to
repay the amounts subject to the write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was
previously written off are recognised as a
reversal of impairment in profit or loss in the
period in which the recovery occurs.

Credit losses from financial guarantees
issued

Financial guarantees are contracts that require
the issuer (i.e. the guarantor) to make specified
payments to reimburse the beneficiary of the
guarantee (the “holder”) for a loss the holder
incurs because a specified debtor fails to make
payment when due in accordance with the
terms of a debt instrument.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
frE MR M)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BREBETAIN - AAREFITR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 EARGITBEE)

(Continued)

(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets k) ERBEBAREERE(E)
(Continued)
(i) Credit losses from financial guarantees (i) EBLHHBEERZEHREKX

issued (Continued)

Financial guarantees issued are initially
recognised within “trade and other payables” at
fair value, which is determined by reference to
fees charged in an arm’s length transaction for
similar services, when such information is
obtainable, or to interest rate differentials, by
comparing the actual rates charged by lenders
when the guarantee is made available with the
estimated rates that lenders would have
charged, had the guarantees not been
available, where reliable estimates of such
information can be made. Where consideration
is received or receivable for the issuance of the
guarantee, the consideration is recognised in
accordance with the Group’s policies
applicable to that category of asset. Where no
such consideration is received or receivable, an
immediate expense is recognised in profit or
loss.

Subsequent to initial recognition, the amount
initially recognised as deferred income is
amortised in profit or loss over the term of the
guarantee as income from financial guarantees
issued.

The Group monitors the risk that the specified
debtor will default on the contract and
recognises a provision when ECLs on the
financial guarantees are determined to be
higher than the amount carried in “trade and
other payables” in respect of the guarantees
(i.e. the amount initially recognised, less
accumulated amortisation).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MR R M E

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(REBETHAIN - AARYEFITR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

142

(k)

Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)
(ii) Credit losses from financial guarantees

issued (Continued)

To determine ECLs, the Group considers
changes in the risk of default of the specified
debtor since the issuance of the guarantee. A
12-month ECL is measured unless the risk that
the specified debtor will default has increased
significantly since the guarantee is issued, in
which case a lifetime ECL is measured. The
same definition of default and the same
assessment of significant increase in credit risk
as described in note 2(k)(i) apply.

As the Group is required to make payments
only in the event of a default by the specified
debtor in accordance with the terms of the
instrument that is guaranteed, an ECL is
estimated based on the expected payments to
reimburse the holder for a credit loss that it
incurs less any amount that the Group expects
to receive from the holder of the guarantee,
the specified debtor or any other party. The
amount is then discounted using the current
risk-free rate adjusted for risks specific to the
cash flows.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
frE MR M)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BREBETAIN - AAREFITR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 EXRSTHTHEE
(Continued)
(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets k) ERBEBAREERE(E)
(Continued)
(iii) Impairment of other non-current assets (i) B EmEEERE

Internal and external sources of information are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period to
identify indications that the following assets
may be impaired or, except in the case of
goodwill, an impairment loss previously
recognised no longer exists or may have
decreased:

—  property, plant and equipment;

— investments in subsidiaries, associates
and joint ventures;

— other non-current assets; and

— other contract costs

If any such indication exists, the asset’'s
recoverable amount is estimated.

—  Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the
greater of its fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of
the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset. Where an asset
does not generate cash inflows largely
independent of those from other assets,
the recoverable amount is determined for
the smallest group of assets that
generates cash inflows independently (i.e.
a cash-generating unit).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MR R M E

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(Br=HETH -

AANRESIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

144

(Continued)

(k)

Credit losses and impairment of assets

(Continued)

(iii) Impairment of other non-current assets
(Continued)

Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit
or loss if the carrying amount of an asset,
or the cash-generating unit to which it
belongs, exceeds its recoverable amount.
Impairment losses recognised in respect
of cash-generating units are allocated to
reduce the carrying amount of the assets
in the unit (or group of units) on a pro
rata basis, except that the carrying value
of an asset will not be reduced below its
individual fair value less costs of disposal
(if measurable), or in use (if
determinable).

value

Reversals of impairment losses

In respect of assets other than goodwill,
an impairment loss is reversed if there
has been a favourable change in the
estimates used to determine the
recoverable amount.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited
to the asset’s carrying amount that would
have been determined had no impairment
loss been recognised in prior years.
Reversals of impairment losses are
credited to profit or loss in the year in
which the reversals are recognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
frE MR M)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BREBETAIN - AAREFITR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 EARGITBEE)

(Continued)
() Inventories and other contract costs ) FERHEMESHREK
(i)  Property development () YDFEH%

Inventories in respect of property development
activities are carried at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. Cost and net realisable
values are determined as follows:

—  Property held for development and

property under development

The cost of properties held for
development and properties under
development comprises specifically
identified cost, including the acquisition
cost of land, aggregate cost of
development, materials and supplies,
wages and other direct expenses, an
appropriate proportion of overheads and
borrowing costs capitalised (see note
2(w)). Net realisable value represents the
estimated selling price less estimated
costs of completion and costs to be
incurred in selling the property.

—  Completed property held for sale
The cost of completed properties held for
sale comprises all costs of purchase,
costs of conversion and other costs
incurred in bringing the inventories to their
present location and condition.

In the case of completed properties
developed by the Group which comprise
of multiple units which are sold
individually, the cost of each unit is
determined by apportionment of the total
development costs for that development
project to each unit on a per square foot
basis, unless another basis is more
representative of the cost of the specific
unit. Net realisable value represents the
estimated selling price less costs to be
incurred in selling the property.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B ISR MR (&)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BREBETHAHN
2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Inventories and other contract costs
(Continued)

146

()

()

(i)

AANRESIR)

Property development (Continued)
When inventories are sold, the carrying
amount of those inventories is recognised
as an expense in the period in which the
related revenue is recognised.

The amount of any write-down of
inventories to net realisable value and all
losses of inventories are recognised as an
expense in the period the write-down or
loss occurs. The amount of any reversal
of any write-down of inventories is
recognised as a reduction in the amount
of inventories recognised as an expense
in the period in which the
occurs.

reversal

Other contract costs

Other contract costs are either the incremental
costs of obtaining a contract with a customer
or the costs to fulfil a contract with a customer
which are not capitalised as inventory (see
note 2(I)(i)) or property, plant and equipment
(see note 2(i)).

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract are
those costs that the Group incurs to obtain a
contract with a customer that it would not
have incurred if the contract had not been
obtained e.g. an incremental sales
commission. Incremental costs of obtaining a
contract are capitalised when incurred if the
costs relate to revenue which will be
recognised in a future reporting period and the
costs are expected to be recovered. Other
costs of obtaining a contract are expensed
when incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
E %W R M)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BREBETAIN - AAREFITR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 EARGITBEE)

(Continued)

() Inventories and other contract costs ) FERHEMEHIRK(E)
(Continued)
(i) Other contract costs (Continued) (i) BmE# KL (E)

Costs to fulfil a contract are capitalised if the
costs relate directly to an existing contract or
to a specifically identifiable anticipated
contract; generate or enhance resources that
will be used to provide goods or services in
the future; and are expected to be recovered.

Costs that relate directly to an existing
contract or to a specifically identifiable
anticipated contract may include direct labour,
direct materials, allocations of costs, costs that
are explicitly chargeable to the customer and
other costs that are incurred only because the
Group entered into the contract (for example,
payments to sub-contractors). Other costs of
fulfilling a contract, which are not capitalised as
inventory, property, plant and equipment or
intangible assets, are expensed as incurred.

Capitalised contract costs are stated at cost
less accumulated amortisation and impairment
losses. Impairment losses are recognised to the
extent that the carrying amount of the contract
cost asset exceeds the net of (i) remaining
amount of consideration that the Group
expects to receive in exchange for the goods
or services to which the asset relates, less (ii)
any costs that relate directly to providing those
goods or services that have not yet been
recognised as expenses.

Amortisation of capitalised contract costs is
charged to profit or loss when the revenue to
which the asset relates is recognised. The
accounting policy for revenue recognition is set
out in note 2(u).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B ISR MR (&)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(Br=HETH -

AANRESIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(m) Contract liabilities

(n)

(o)

(p)

148

A contract liability is recognised when the customer
pays consideration before the Group recognises the
related revenue (see note 2(u)). A contract liability
would also be recognised if the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration before
the Group recognises the related revenue. In such
cases, a corresponding receivable would also be
recognised (see note 2(n)).

When the contract includes a significant financing
component, the contract liability includes interest
accrued under the effective interest method (see
note 2(u)).

Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration. A right
to receive consideration is unconditional if only the
passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.

Receivables are stated at amortised cost using the
effective interest method less allowance for credit
losses (see note 2(k)(i)).

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank
and on hand, demand deposits with banks and
other financial institutions, and short-term, highly
liquid investments that are readily convertible into
known amounts of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value, having been
within three months of maturity at acquisition.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at
fair value. Except for financial guarantee liabilities
measured in accordance with note 2(k|(ii) trade and
other payables are subsequently stated at amortised
cost unless the effect of discounting would be
insignificant, in which case they are stated at cost.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

=

(Continued)

(q) Interest-bearing borrowings
Interest-bearing borrowings are measured initially at
fair value less transaction costs. Subsequent to initial
recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are stated at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.
Interest expense is recognised in accordance with
the Group’s accounting policy for borrowing costs
(see note 2(w)).

(r) Employee benefits
(i) Short-term employee benefits

Salaries, employee wages or salaries, bonuses,
social security contributions such as medical
insurance, work injury insurance, maternity
insurance and housing fund, measured at the
amount incurred or at the applicable
benchmarks and rates, are recognised as a
liability as the employee provides services, with
a corresponding charge to profit or loss or
included in the cost of assets where
appropriate.

(ii) Defined contribution plans

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations
of the PRC, the Group participates in a defined
contribution basic pension insurance in the
social insurance system established and
managed by government organisations. The
Group makes contributions to basic pension
insurance plans based on the applicable
benchmarks and rates stipulated by the
government. Basic pension insurance
contributions are recognised as part of the
cost of assets or charged to profit or loss as
the related services are rendered by the
employees.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MR R M E

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(Br=HETH -

AANRESIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Employee benefits (Continued)

150

(r)

(i)

(iii)

Defined contribution plans (Continued)

The Group also participates in a pension
scheme under the rules and regulations of the
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme Ordinance
(the “MPF Scheme”) for all employees in Hong
Kong, which is a defined contribution
retirement scheme. The contributions to the
MPF Scheme are based on minimum statutory
contribution requirement of 5% of eligible
employees’ relevant aggregate income. The
assets of this pension scheme are held
separately from those of the Group in
independently administered funds.

Share-based payments

The fair value of share options granted to
employees is recognised as an employee cost
with a corresponding increase in a capital
reserve within equity. The fair value is
measured at grant date using the binomial
lattice model, taking into account the terms
and conditions upon which the options were
granted. Where the employees have to meet
vesting conditions before becoming
unconditionally entitled to the options, the total
estimated fair value of the options is spread
over the vesting period, taking into account the
probability that the options will vest.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
E %W R M)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BB B ETHN - LAARKSIR)
2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 EARESTBEE)
(Continued)
() Employee benefits (Continued) r EEERNE)

(iii) Share-based payments (Continued)

During the vesting period, the number of share
options that is expected to vest is reviewed.
Any resulting adjustment to the cumulative fair
value recognised in prior years is charged/
credited to the profit or loss for the year of the
review, unless the original employee expenses
qualify for recognition as an asset, with a
corresponding adjustment to the capital
reserve. On vesting date, the amount
recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect
the actual number of options that vest (with a
corresponding adjustment to the capital
reserve) except where forfeiture is only due to
not achieving vesting conditions that relate to
the market price of the Company’s shares. The
equity amount is recognised in the capital
reserve until either the option is exercised
(when it is included in the amount recognised
in share capital for the shares issued) or the
option expires (when it is released directly to
retained profits).

Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and
movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities.
Current tax and movements in deferred tax assets
and liabilities are recognised in profit or loss except
to the extent that they relate to items recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in
which case the relevant amounts of tax are
recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the
taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted
or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting
period, and any adjustment to tax payable in
respect of previous years.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B ISR MR (&)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(Br=HETH -

AANRESIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

152

(s)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from
deductible and taxable temporary differences
respectively, being the differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial
reporting purposes and their tax bases. Deferred tax
assets also arise from unused tax losses and
unused tax credits.

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred
tax liabilities, and all deferred tax assets to the
extent that it is probable that future taxable profits
will be available against which the asset can be
utilised, are recognised. Future taxable profits that
may support the recognition of deferred tax assets
arising from deductible temporary differences include
those that will arise from the reversal of existing
taxable temporary differences, provided those
differences relate to the same taxation authority and
the same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse
either in the same period as the expected reversal of
the deductible temporary difference or in periods
into which a tax loss arising from the deferred tax
asset can be carried back or forward. The same
criteria are adopted when determining whether
existing taxable temporary differences support the
recognition of deferred tax assets arising from
unused tax losses and credits, that is, those
differences are taken into account if they relate to
the same taxation authority and the same taxable
entity, and are expected to reverse in a period, or
periods, in which the tax loss or credit can be
utilised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
E %W R M)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BB B ETHN - LAARKSIR)
2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 EARESTBEE)
(Continued)
(s) Income tax (Continued) (s) FiE® (&)

TEFR « BUER

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax
assets and liabilities are those temporary differences
arising from the initial recognition of assets or
liabilities that affect neither accounting or taxable
profit (provided they are not part of a business
combination), and temporary differences relating to
investments in subsidiaries to the extent that, in the
case of taxable differences, the Group controls the
timing of the reversal and it is probable that the
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future,
or in the case of deductible differences, unless it is
probable that they will reverse in the future.

Where investment properties are carried at their fair
value in accordance with the accounting policy set
out in note 2(h), the amount of deferred tax
recognised is measured using the tax rates that
would apply on sale of those assets at their carrying
value at the reporting date unless the property is
depreciable and is held within a business model
whose objective is to consume substantially all of
the economic benefits embodied in the property
over time, rather than through sale. In all other case,
the amount of deferred tax recognised is measured
based on the expected manner of realisation or
settlement of the carrying amount of the assets and
liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of the reporting period. Deferred
tax assets and liabilities are not discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is
reviewed at the end of each reporting period and is
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profits will be available to
allow the related tax benefit to be utilised. Any such
reduction is reversed to the extent that it becomes
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B ISR MR (&)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(REBETHAIN - AARYEFITR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

154

(s)

Income tax (Continued)

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and
movements therein, are presented separately from
each other and are not offset. Current tax assets are
offset against current tax liabilities, and deferred tax
assets against deferred tax liabilities, if the Group
has the legally enforceable right to set off current tax
assets against current tax liabilities and the following
additional conditions are met:

— in the case of current tax assets and liabilities,
the Group intends either to settle on a net
pbasis, or to realise the asset and settle the
liability simultaneously; or

— in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities,
if they relate to income taxes levied by the
same taxation authority on either:

— the same taxable entity; or

— different taxable entities, which, in each
future period in which significant amounts
of deferred tax liabilities or assets are
expected to be settled or recovered,
intend to realise the current tax assets
and settle the current tax liabilities on a
net basis or realise and settle
simultaneously.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
E %W R M)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BB B ETHN - LAARKSIR)
2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 EARESTBEE)
(Continued)
() Provisions and contingent liabilities t) BERIAEE

Other provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a
legal or constructive obligation arising as a result of
a past event, it is probable that an outflow of
economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation and a reliable estimate can be made.
Where the time value of money is material,
provisions are stated at the present value of the
expenditure expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of
economic benefits will be required, or the amount
cannot be estimated reliably, the obligation is
disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is
remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will
only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more future events are also
disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is
remote.

Revenue and other income

Income is classified by the Group as revenue when
it arises from the sale of properties or the use by
others of the Group’s assets under leases in the
ordinary course of the Group’s business.

Revenue is recognised when control over a product
is transferred to the customer, or the lessee has the
right to use the asset, at the amount of promised
consideration to which the Group is expected to be
entitled, excluding those amounts collected on behalf
of third parties. Revenue excludes value added tax
(“VAT”) and is after deduction of any trade
discounts.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B ISR MR (&)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(Br=HETH -

AANRESIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

156

(u)

Revenue and other income (Continued)

Where the contract contains a financing component
which provides a significant financing benefit to the
customer for more than 12 months,
measured at the present value of the amount
receivable, discounted using the discount rate that
would be reflected

revenue is

in a separate financing
transaction with the customer, and interest income
is accrued separately under the effective interest
method. Where the contract contains a financing
component which provides a significant financing
benefit to the Group, revenue recognised under that
contract includes the interest expense accreted on
the contract liability under the effective interest
method. The Group takes advantage of the practical
expedient in paragraph 63 of HKFRS 15 and does
not adjust the consideration for any effects of a
significant financing component if the period of
financing is 12 months or less.

Further details of the Group’s revenue and other
income recognition policies are as follows:

(i) Sale of properties
Revenue arising from the sale of properties in
the ordinary course of business is recognised:

— when properties are handed over to the
customers which is the point in time
when the customer has the ability to
direct the use of the property and obtain
substantially all of the remaining benefits
of the property. Advanced payments
received on properties sold prior to the
date of revenue recognition are included
in the statement of financial position
under contract liabilities (see note 18); or
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
E %W R M)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BRBAETHIN » UAREFIR)
2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 ERGTEHEKRE)
(Continued)
(u) Revenue and other income (Continued) u WAREMWAGE)
(i) Sale of properties (Continued)

— as the performance obligations are
satisfied over time in accordance with the
progress when the properties sold have
no alternative use to the Group due to
contractual arrangements and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment from
the customer for the performance
completed to date. The excess of the
consideration that the Group has the
unconditional right to receive from the
customers over the revenue recognised in
profit or loss is included in the statement
of financial position as contract liabilities
(see note 18).

For contracts where the period between the
payment by the customer and the transfer of
the promised property exceeds one year, the
transaction price and the amount of revenue
from the sales of completed properties is
adjusted for the effects of a financing
component. If the advance payments by the
customer are regarded as providing a
significant financing benefit to the Group,
interest expense arising from the adjustment of
time value of money will be accrued by the
Group during the period between the payment
date and the date of delivery of property. This
accrual increases the balance of the contract
liability during the period of construction, and
therefore increases the amount of revenue
recognised when control of the completed
property is transferred to the customer. The
interest is expensed as accrued unless it is
eligible to be capitalised under HKAS 23,
Borrowing costs, in accordance with the
policies set out in note 2(w).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B ISR MR (&)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(REBETHAIN - AARYEFITR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

158

(u)

(v)

Revenue and other income (Continued)

(ii) Rental income from operating leases
Rental income receivable under operating
leases is recognised in profit or loss in equal
instalments over the periods covered by the
lease term, except where an alternative basis is
more representative of the pattern of benefits
to be derived from the use of the leased asset.
Lease incentives granted are recognised in
profit or loss as an integral part of the
aggregate net lease payments receivable.
Contingent rentals are recognised as income in
the accounting period in which they are
earned.

(iii) Interest income
Interest income is recognised as it accrues
using the effective interest method. For
financial assets measured at amortised cost or
FVOCI (recycling) that are not credit-impaired,
the effective interest rate is applied to the
gross carrying amount of the asset.

For credit impaired financial assets, the
effective interest rate is applied to the
amortised cost (i.e. gross carrying amount net
of loss allowance) of the asset (see note 2(k)

(i)

Translation of foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions during the year are
translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the
transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at
the foreign exchange rates ruling at the end of the
reporting period. Exchange gains and losses are
recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
E %W R M)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BREBETAIN - AAREFITR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 BEAEGTFEHERGE)
(Continued)

(v) Translation of foreign currencies (Continued)

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are

(v) SNEBREE)
ISNERESE ARG HERFEEHEE

measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign
currency are translated using the foreign exchange
rates ruling at the transaction dates. Non-monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies that are stated at fair value are translated
using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates
the fair value was measured.

The results of Hong Kong and foreign operations are
translated into Renminbi at the exchange rates
approximating the foreign exchange rates ruling at
the dates of the transactions. Statement of financial
position items are translated into Renminbi at the
closing foreign exchange rates at the end of the
reporting period. The resulting exchange differences
are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated separately in equity in the exchange
reserve.

On disposal of a Hong Kong or foreign operations,
the cumulative amount of the exchange differences
relating to that Hong Kong or foreign operations is
reclassified from equity to profit or loss when the
profit or loss on disposal is recognised.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of an asset
which necessarily takes a substantial period of time
to get ready for its intended use or sale are
capitalised as part of the cost of that asset. Other
borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which
they are incurred.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of the
cost of a qualifying asset commences when
expenditure for the asset is being incurred,
borrowing costs are being incurred and activities
that are necessary to prepare the asset for its
intended use or sale are in progress. Capitalisation
of borrowing costs is suspended or ceases when
substantially all the activities necessary to prepare
the qualifying asset for its intended use or sale are
interrupted or complete.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B ISR MR (&)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(Br=HETH -
2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(x)

160

AANRESIR)

Related parties
A person, or a close member of that person’s
family, is related to the Group if that person:

(1)

0)

(i

(i)

has control or joint control over the Group;

has significant influence over the Group;
or

is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or the Group’s
parent.

An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies:

(it

(i)

(iv)

The entity and the Group are members of
the same group (which means that each
parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is
related to the others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture
of the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a group of which
the other entity is a member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same
third party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the
third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit
plan for the benefit of employees of either
the Group or an entity related to the
Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Related parties (Continued)
(2)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies: (Continued)

(vi)  The entity is controlled or jointly controlled
by a person identified in (1).

(vii) A person identified in (1)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member
of the key management personnel of the
entity (or of a parent of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of
which it is a part, provides key
management personnel services to the
Group or to the Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those
family members who may be expected to influence,
or be influenced by, that person in their dealings
with the entity.

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each
segment item reported in the financial statements,
are identified from the financial information provided
regularly to the Group’s most senior executive
management for the purposes of allocating
resources to, and assessing the performance of, the
Group’s various lines of business and geographical
locations.

The Group manages its business as a whole as
properties development is the only reporting
segment. The financial statements is presented in a
manner consistent with the way in which information
is reported internally to the Group’s senior executive
management for the purpose of resource allocation
and performance assessment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B ISR MR (&)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(REBETHAIN - AARYEFITR)

3 ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND
ESTIMATES

162

(a)

Critical accounting judgements in applying
the Group’s accounting policies

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies, management has made the following
accounting judgements:

Classification between investment properties
and properties held for sale

The Group develops and purchases properties held
for sale and properties held to earn rentals and/or
for capital appreciation. Judgement is made by
management on determining whether a property is
designated as an investment property or a property
held for sale.

For the developed properties, the Group considers
its intention for holding the properties at the early
development stage of the related properties. During
the course of construction, the related properties
under construction are accounted for as properties
under development included in current assets if the
properties are intended for sale after their
completion, whereas, the properties are accounted
for as investment properties under construction if the
properties are intended to be held to earn rentals
and/or for capital appreciation.

For the purchased properties, the Group considers
its intention for holding the properties at the early
stage when obtained control the related properties.
The related properties are accounted for as
inventories included in current assets if the
properties are intended for sale, whereas, the
properties are accounted for as investment
properties if the properties are intended to be held
to earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
E %W R M)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BREBETAIN - AAREFITR)

3 ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND 3 EBitHERMEE(E)
ESTIMATES (Continued)
(b) Sources of estimation uncertainty (b) *HEFFBEEZERRR

Note 28 contains information about the assumptions
and their risk factors relating to fair value of other
financial assets. Other key sources of estimation
uncertainty are as follows:

(i)  Properties for sale

As explained in note 2(lI), the Group’s
properties for sale are stated at the lower of
cost and net realisable value. Based on the
Group’s recent experience and the nature of
the subject properties, the Group makes
estimates of the selling prices, the costs of
completion in cases for properties held for
development and properties under
development, and the costs to be incurred in
selling the properties based on prevailing
market conditions.

If there is an increase in costs to completion
or a decrease in net sales value, the net
realisable value will decrease and this may
result in provision for properties for sale. Such
provision requires the use of judgement and
estimates. Where the expectation is different
from the original estimate, the carrying value
and provision for properties in the periods in
which such estimate is changed will be
adjusted accordingly.

In addition, given the volatility of the property
market and the unique nature of individual
properties, the actual outcomes in terms of
costs and revenue may be higher or lower
than that estimated at the end of the reporting
period. Any increase or decrease in the
provision would affect profit or loss in future
years.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MR R M E

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(REBETHAIN - AARYEFITR)

3 ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND
ESTIMATES (Continued)

(b) Sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

164

(i)

Revenue recognition

As explained in note 2(u)(i), revenue from sales
of properties can be recognised over time
when the Group’s performance do not create
an asset with an alternative use to the Group
and the Group has an enforceable right to
payment for performance completed to date.

The determination of whether the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for its sales in the
PRC depends on the actual payment pattern,
terms of the sales contract and the
interpretation of the applicable laws. Such
determination requires judgements. The Group
considers that it has enforceable right to
payment for performance completed to date
based on the terms of agreements with the
customers by reference to the legal opinion
obtained from its legal counsel. The above
interpretation from the legal counsel may be
different from the interpretation or judgement of
the relevant authorities in the PRC, which
would affect the revenue and profit recognised
in future years.

3

B aT H B R A s (F)

(b)

fl 5T T E B & RIR(E)

(ii)

WA #F

;0B 2 () B B AR &
) B B 40 3 48 Bl 2 B AN SR [ 1
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A 58 B B 1T R B2 5 &
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B 5 SR B o Il 01T R R EROR
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R RERAENRE - GF
EERFHAME - K2EHR
FRBERGREARERR
AEBERBRERBEEP O
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
E %W R M)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BREBETAIN - AAREFITR)

3 ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND 3 EBitHERMEE(E)
ESTIMATES (Continued)
(b) Sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued) (b) FFHTEERRZRERE)
(i) Revenue recognition (Continued) (i) WAEEE)

In addition, revenue and profit on uncompleted
projects recognised over time is dependent on
estimating the total outcome of the contract,
as well as the percentage of work done to
date. Based on the Group’s recent experience
and the nature of the construction activities,
the Group has made estimates of the point at
which it considered the work was sufficiently
advanced such that the outcome of the
contract can be reasonably measured. Actual
outcomes in terms of total cost or revenue
may be higher or lower than estimated at the
end of the reporting period, which would affect
the revenue and profit recognised in future
years as an adjustment to the amounts
recorded to date.

Land Appreciation Tax (“LAT”)

As explained in note 8(a)ii), LAT is levied on
properties developed by the Group for sale, at
progressive rates ranging from 30% to 60% on
the appreciation of land value, which under the
applicable regulations is calculated based on
the proceeds of sales of properties less
deductible expenditures including lease charges
of land use rights, borrowing cost and relevant
property development expenditures. Given the
uncertainties of the calculation basis of land
appreciation tax to be interpreted by the local
tax bureaux and the actual appreciation of land
value may be different from the original
estimates, the actual outcomes may be higher
or lower than that estimated at the end of the
reporting period. Any increase or decrease in
estimates would affect profit or loss in future
years.

FER « BEUMERBERAF
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K e 8 RREEZRRD
WA Ko Rl (1 4% 44 B ATAT RS
BTN AE) -

T HIEER ([ £ B EH )
a0 B 5E8(a) (i) P iR - AN & E
FRREZE R FEYEER g
BE1% B # 7 £30% £60% 5 49
THIRER c RIBB BIER
T Hb 3 (B TR W) B 8B W AR
AHBRS (BETHEAE
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BRBEIL T HEE - BR g
BEREAEANR&EIME - &
ERERI 2 RNIERRE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MR R M E

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB AT -

3 ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND

ESTIMATES (Continued)

(b) Sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)
(iv) Expected credit loss for trade and other

166

(v)

AANRESIR)

receivables

The Group makes allowances on receivables
based on assumptions about risk of default
and expected loss rates. The Group used
judgement in making these assumptions and
selecting the inputs to the credit loss
calculation, based on the past history, existing
market conditions as well as forward looking
estimates at the end of each reporting period.

Recognition of deferred tax assets
Deferred tax assets in respect of tax losses
and other deductible temporary differences
carried forward are recognised and measured
based on the expected manner of realisation or
settlement of the carrying amount of the
assets, using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the end of the
reporting period. In determining the carrying
amounts of deferred tax assets, expected
taxable profits are estimated which involves a
number of assumptions relating to the
operating environment of the Group and
require a significant level of judgement
exercised by the directors. Any change in such
assumptions and judgement would affect the
carrying amounts of deferred tax assets to be
recognised and hence the net profit in future
years.

3

(b)

2ot # R 4

(%)

fl 5T T E B & RIR(E)

(iv)

(v)
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RB R E /@ AER B
B o

HERREH

BREEHBEE

EHACHEENIBEE R EMA]
MR EENEEHREEE
EREHERSEEEEREA
BEMNAXAKARFESHRE
ERREEE AR ERER
Rit2 BrEEEREEED
FREEER  EHEREFE
mﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ$ﬁlmék

BEMZARK  WEESEH
ERHE - %3@&&%%%

EAEHEFERIBNET
MEBEENREEE  Fib®
ERWEZOMLF -

Million Cities Holdings Limited ® Annual Report 2020



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING
Revenue

The principal activities of the Group are property
development and sales in the PRC.

(a)

(i)

Disaggregation of revenue

Revenue mainly represents income from sale of
properties and gross rentals from properties,
net of sales related taxes and discounts
allowed, and is analysed as follows:

e %R XK EE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BmARTBAN - LMARKESTR)

4 WARZDHHE

(a)

A
AEENTELIHR/ETEEEY
XERIHE -

() UAHZ
WAFERYMEHEBARY
¥HeaE 2HkHERHA
MIE R4 TH M 54w
B

2020 2019
20204 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T AR F T
Revenue from contracts (& BB K EEA)
with customers E1HHEERNETF
within the scope EHWA
of HKFRS 15
Sales of properties: YIS
— Recognised at — PR EREER
a point in time 1,132,531 210,090
— Recognised overtime — REBRRHBER 106,054 141,739
1,238,585 351,829
Revenue from H b 3R B9 WA
other sources
Gross rentals from MEHREERE
properties 2,775 2,455
1,241,360 354,084

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with
customers by geographic markets is disclosed
in note 4(b).

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the
Group’s customer base is diversified and does
not have a customer with whom transactions
have exceeded 10% of the Group’s revenue
(2019: nil).

TR TEER o EWERARAA

BEHmHETHNELE DK
A2 BB 5E4(0) 1% 52 o

H ZE2020F12A318 IEFE -
AEBNREFPEMRDE  WE
B-BFPHRFEREEBRA
#BiB10% (20194 : &) -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MW R K

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(REBETHAIN - AARYEFITR)

4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 4 WARDE®E (&

(Continued)
(a) Revenue (Continued) (@ WAE)

(i) Revenue expected to be recognised in the (i) FERFEARKRERFREE AR
future arising from contracts with B &EF & # B A
customers at the reporting date
The following table includes revenue expected TERHEFEEHERKRERE
to be recognised in the future related to 2020%F12 A31H K /& 77 X &b
performance obligations that are not satisfied DBRITRAREHEA :

or partially satisfied at 31 December 2020:

2020 2019
20204 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T R AR T T

Remaining performance FEARAUTHBEETERT

obligations expected BHEE:
to be satisfied:
Within one year — R 638,740 1,181,545
After 1 year but —FHREMER
within 2 years 457,204 472,348
After 2 years WEZREB=ZFA
but within 3 years 673 313,309
1,096,617 1,967,202
These amounts represent revenue expected to ZELRIEEBRKRKERT /M
be recognised in the future from pre-sale AEBEFUMBERPYERS
contracts for properties under development BHERBWA -

entered into by the customers and the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING
(Continued)

(a)

(b)

Revenue (Continued)

(iii) Total future minimum lease payments
receivable by the Group
Total future minimum lease payments under
non-cancellable operating leases are receivable

e MR KK &

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BREBETAIN - AAREFITR)

WA RS EERE (&

(@) WAGE)

(ii) B ERAKRIEEE N
H
RIEAAHEEEHENER
ARZEHEENKARAT

as follows:
2020 2019
20204 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BT T ARET T
Within one year —F R 1,045 906
After 1 year but within —FREMFERN
2 years 1,109 818
After 2 years but within MEZRB=ZFR
3 years 1,130 863
After 3 years but within =FRENFA
4 years 1,198 871
After 4 years but within MEBRERFEA
5 years 1,188 896
After 5 years hF1%& 4,922 5,861
10,592 10,215

Operating segment

Information reported to the Group’s chief operating
decision maker for the purposes of resource
allocation and assessment of segment performance
is more focused on the Group as a whole, as all of
the Group’s activities are considered to be primarily
dependent on the performance of property
development. Resources are allocated based on
what is beneficial for the Group in enhancing its
property development activities as a whole rather
than any specific service. Performance assessment
is based on the results of the Group as a whole.
Therefore, management considers there is only one
operating segment under the requirements of
HKFRS 8, Operating segments.

FEH « EWERBERAT

(b) &K&W
RERDE kD BRRFERANE
EXrE2LEAERS ARNAEE
TERBOFER KRR HEH
ERENBRETRAEEERE - &
R AN KRB R ERY X
BRIEE M I ERS M T A
Dl RRAGETDRENEEER
XEFEL At EEERA/RE
(BEEMBHRE LN ESRLE S
BERRE 2B —EKEDE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e MW R K

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B BA TR - AAREFIR)

4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING
(Continued)
(b) Operating segment (Continued)

Geographic information

The following table sets out information about the
geographical location of (i) the Group’s revenue from
external customers and (i) the Group’s property,
plant and equipment, investment properties, other
non-current assets and interests in associates and
joint ventures (“specified non-current assets”). The
geographical location of customers is based on the
location at which the properties were developed or
leased out. The geographical location of the
specified non-current assets is based on the

4 WARDHESE(E)

ﬁ«(Mﬁ\ﬁB (g&g)
#HEEH
TREINFHENECEB KRB I AT
FRBA MAEEYE BE
R KEME HMERBDE
E&%%%EE&AM“T%M
(FEEFRRBEEDMAEMNE
Be2PmE DENRERREME
MENNE - BEFRBDEENF
B DERBEENERUE (B
M BEERERREWMSE) R
BUEB(WBEMIERDEERR

(b)

physical location of the asset, in the case of HERNRIREEARER)
property, plant and equipment and investment
properties, and the location of operations, in the
case of other non-current assets and interests in
associates and joint ventures.
Revenue from Specified
external customers non-current assets
RENAREFHEA EEXRBEE
2020 2019 2020 2019
20204 20194 20204 2019%F
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBETE BRI AR% T T PNELEw
Huizhou =M 1,187,342 306,924 267,872 112,734
Tianjin RE 54,018 47,360 30,140 31,808
Zhumadian HSE — - 101,463 104,141
Shenzhen el = - 92,944 -
Others H h, — — 1,752 1,723
1,241,360 354,284 494,171 250,406
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MR KK &

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BREBETAIN - AAREFITR)

5 OTHER NET INCOME 5 Htlg A FHE

2020 2019
202045 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® TR ARET T

Interest income A2 A 6,009 13,893
Government grants (note) RS 48 Bh (B ) 430 -
Net gain on disposals of other HEHMEMEENKE
financial assets FEE 18 367
Net loss on disposals of HERENENBEFE
investment properties - (99)
Net gain on disposals of property, HE¥E - HE KEEDN
plant and equipment I =) F 58 = 225
Net exchange gain P& 5 W5 F 58 27 53
Others H 1,301 318
7,785 14,757
Note: In 2020, the Group received a funding from the Employment &t - 2020 AEBERIBEF BB AL HE
Support Scheme under the Anti-epidemic Fund, set up by REMBREAREEE MZZAE
the Hong Kong Government, for financial support to EMEES THRIEEFEESES
enterprises to retain their employees. AL o
6 OTHER EXPENSES 6 Htpx

2020 2019
20205 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® TR ARET T

Donations BB 2,005 4,355
Other sundry expenses HMMERAX 369 610
2,374 4,965
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MW R K

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(REBETHAIN - AARYEFITR)

7 PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION 7 BRFHEANREF
Profit before taxation is arrived at after charging/ B B AR A T & B (GEA) T3 & 18
(crediting): BER:
(a) Finance costs (a) MERAK
2020 2019
20204 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T ARETFT
Interest on bank loans WITEERE
(note 21(c)) (Bt #E21(c) ) 19,310 25,463
Interest on lease liabilities HEBERNE
(note 21(c)) (Fff 5E21(c) ) 61 —
Accrued interest on significant A HBEHNERBME DD
financing component of B FE 5T A&
contract liabilities 47,818 37,353
Others Hh, 3,702 3,508
70,891 66,324
Less: Interest expenses B BEREEFENTE
capitalised into 2 *
inventories™ (62,421) (56,506)
8,470 9,818
* The interest rates of borrowing costs that have been * HE2020F12A31H L FE - BX

b & FRAK AN 89 F F) F 55.06% %
6.18% (20194 : & Fl| & £5.23% =
6.18% ) °

capitalised ranged from 5.05% to 6.18% per annum
during the year ended 31 December 2020 (2019:
5.23% to 6.18% per annum).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION (Continued)

e %R XK EE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BREBETAIN - AAREFITR)

BR B Al % A (45)

(b) Staff costs (b) EIRA
2020 2019
20204 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARE T ARETFT
Salaries, wages and e IEREMBET
other benefits 37,003 37,391
Contributions to defined M) R E H FURRET I K
contribution retirement plan 366 2,360
Equity-settled share-based NREmEE RN BER
payment expenses A H R Z (M 3E25(0) )
(note 25(b)) 2,163 4,087
Less: Staff costs capitalised into 8, : E XL EFEME T
inventories DN (9,946) (9,799
29,586 34,039
The domestic companies established in the PRC (the FERBEKZAEARR([FHEE

“PRC Operating Entities”) participate in defined
contribution retirement benefit schemes (the
“Schemes”) organised by the PRC municipal and
provincial government authorities, whereby the PRC
Operating Entities are required to make contribution
at the rates required by different local government
authorities. The local government authorities are
responsible for the pension obligations payable to
the retired employees covered under the Schemes.
The contributions are charged to profit or loss as
they become payable in accordance with the rules of
the Schemes.

“EEER  BHAERERAR

ELD/Am¢.m@&é@ﬁﬁ
14 R 4B A B0 SE R FOR KR AT B
(&) Bt E2EEEBAR
BRI [R) 3 75 BRI 1 B 225K A0 2 £
PIER R - T BT AR E W
DEGFINRAREIXMNERKRE -
KRR 5T 81 47 7€ & 1F i R - it
KEBERTME -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MR R M E

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(REBETHAIN - AARYEFITR)

7

174

PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION (Continued) 7 BRBAIER(E)
(b) Staff costs (Continued) (b) BIRA(E)
The Group also operates a Mandatory Provident AEBENMREFEAFERES T
Fund Scheme (“the MPF scheme”) under the Hong &N BIREB B REBIERGA BE
Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance EEEBANESEFE BRI
for employees employed under the jurisdiction of the NERFE([REEFE - B8R
Hong Kong Employment Ordinance. The MPF SHER—EHBIUIFEATEN
scheme is a defined contribution retirement plan ATEHRFTRKRETE - BIFARE S FT
administered by independent trustees. Under the g2 EEXFREEERBEEKEEM
MPF scheme, the employer and its employees are B ARS%RETEIHR &= ®A
each required to make contributions to the plan at 18 B8 YL A A30,000/%8 7T © [ & &I 1E
5% of the employees’ relevant income, subject to a 2 BN B A AR o
cap of monthly relevant income of HKD30,000.
Contributions to the plan vest immediately.
To relieve the difficulties encountered by enterprises BET B EECOVID-19A R 1T HA RS
due to COVID-19 pandemic, pursuant to related T /) N B AR 15 & R BB S B[R
policies consented by the State Council of the PRC, EMHEAERE  AEBEFRBEME
major subsidiaries of the Group in PRC were entitled T B A 7] 202052 A £2020%F6
to reduce its contribution to the medical insurance A &) & & R B 5K AR 250% -
by 50% from February 2020 to June 2020, and to 202028 BE2020F12A B E &
reduce its contribution to the pension insurance, RE - RERRBREIGRERERA
unemployment insurance, and work injury insurance B A100% - HE A R #1,684,000
by 100% from February 2020 to December 2020 JL (20195 : &) ©
amounting to RMB1,684,000 (2019: Nil).
(c) Other items (c) HEMEHE
2020 2019
2020 20194
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR® TR ARET T
Depreciation and amortisation IrE K # 8,795 5,773
Auditors’ remuneration % A B & 2,473 2,470
Rentals receivable from RAEMXELES
investment properties (587) (640)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MR KK &

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BREBETAIN - AAREFITR)

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 8 HBMEEBZRANMBH
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
(a) Taxation in the consolidated statement of (a) HmEBEBRABERE:

=
=

profit or loss represents:

2020 2019
20204 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® TR ARBTTT

Current tax B 5 %t 77

Provision for Corporate Income X FTG % (IR H 1)

Tax (CIT") B 160,451 22,995
Provision for LAT T IR (B B B R 160,254 34,852
320,705 57,847

Deferred tax 3 5 B R
— T —BEMEH (74,206) (8,372)
— AT — LB E (7,336) (8,307)
(81,542) (16,679)
239,163 41,168

FEH « ERERBERAA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MR R M E

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(REBETHAIN - AARYEFITR)

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
(Continued)

Taxation in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss represents: (Continued)

8

176

(a)

(i)

(i)

(iii)

CIT and Hong Kong Profits Tax

The provision for CIT is based on the
estimated taxable income at the rates
applicable to each subsidiary of the Group.
The income tax rate applicable to the principal
subsidiaries in the PRC is 25% during the year
(2019: 25%).

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax was
recognised for the year (2019: nil) as the
subsidiaries in Hong Kong did not have any
assessable profits for the year.

LAT

LAT is levied on properties developed by the
Group for sale, at progressive rates ranging
from 30% to 60% on the appreciation of land
value, which under the applicable regulations is
based on the proceeds of sales of properties
less deductible expenditures including lease
charges of land use rights, borrowing costs
and relevant property development
expenditures.

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the
Cayman Islands and the British Virgin Islands
(“BVI"), the Group is not subject to any income
tax in the Cayman Islands and the BVI.

8

REBBERANFAER (&

(a)

RERBERABEE: (&)

() LEEFEHREEBFNEH
EEREREBEN G ER
B S AR E S KB EE
AOBEFAE - PEEEME
RARFEEANARIRER

25% (20194 : 25% ) °

RERBERDBBNGHE
(20195 : &) - AREEH
[ENCIRNGTEE e R TN )

eI

(i) THEEFH

= 3 4% B 3 2 30% £ 60% #) R
ERERAKECHELHE
WEM LI ERBK - R
MBER - THIRERIREE
W) E BTSSR R R HE 0 F X
(BRI EREEEE (&
NSRSk S )

R

(ii) ARIEFSEES KB R
B RBAEBRES] MRA
REG - REBEHARRRS
HENEBEBAREEEMAM
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INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 8

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MR KK &

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BREBETAIN - AAREFITR)

STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
(Continued)

(b)

Reconciliation between tax expense and

accounting profit at applicable tax rates:

(b)

REBERaRANFEH (&)

BEMXERERARRGEZS
&t A B9 8RR

2020 2019
20204 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T AREF T
Profit before taxation B 25 A1 A 471,026 58,836
Less: LAT B T E R (152,918) (26,545)
Profit before CIT B 1b 3£ FT 15 750 B % A 318,108 32,291
Notional tax calculated at BEBEB A AREBME
applicable income tax rate of MEFERNBEM
the relevant Group entities
concerned 79,292 9,013
Tax effect of non-deductible AR AT RIS &
expenses 5,508 5,610
Tax effect of unused tax losses R K A B 3 5 75 &5 18
not recognized ZMBRE 1,445 -
CIT EMEH 86,245 14,623
LAT T IR E R 152,918 26,545
Income tax expense Fr 5% X 239,163 41,168
EER o BEWERERAT 177




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MW R K

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(REBETHAIN - AARYEFITR)

9 DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS 9 EEME
Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section 1B & B 7 & 1) 3383(1) & & A 7
383(1) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part (BBREZNEER) B0 FE25 € T
2 of the Companies (Disclosure of information about BLEEMEWT

Benefits of Directors) Regulation are as follows:

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HZ2020F12ANALEE
Basic
salaries,
allowances Retirement

Directors’ and other Discretionary scheme Share-based
fee benefits bonuses contributions Sub-total Payment Total
B flR UR A B
£k AR5 METL BATEHER hE BEBROAR @zt
Note RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
G AR%Tn ARETR ARMTr AR¥TR AR%Tz ARETR AR¥Tx

Chairman and non- TERFYTES

executive director
Mr. Wong Ting Chung TEREE 267 = = 13 280 457 737
Executive directors HiTEER
Mr. Lau Ka Keung BREEE 213 2,133 - 16 2,362 457 2,819
Mr. Wong Ka Lun ERXmAE (a) 81 503 - 7 591 52 643
Ms. Lau Pui Kwan AmMELL (a) 139 576 - 11 726 52 718
Mr. Cheng Kwan Kuen HERRE (b) 161 886 290 12 1,349 - 1,349
Independent non- BUFGTES

executive directors
Mr. IP Shu Kwan, Stephen  E# % %4 267 - - - 267 229 496
Mr. Li Yinquan FoRAE 267 - - - 267 229 496
Mr. Wu Wing Kuen HxEEE 267 - - - 267 229 496

1,662 4,098 290 59 6,109 1,705 7,814
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
frE MR M)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BREBETAIN - AAREFITR)

9 DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued) 9O EEME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2019

BE019512A31H L5 B
Basic salaries, Retirement
allowances and  Discretionary scheme Share-based
Directors’ fee  other benefits bonuses  contributions Sub-total Payment Total
BE wER AR5
EE Yk Lk ML RAGEIER N ERHRR @t

Note RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
fE  ARETT AR%Tr AR®TE ARETR ARBTn AREBTT ARETI

Chairman and non- TRRFUTES
executive director
Mr. Wong Ting Chung FEREE 264 = = 13 217 584 861
Executive directors HiTER
Mr. Lau Ka Keung BRaEE 211 2,201 1,320 16 3748 584 4332
Mr. Lin Guoxian HABEL © 116 261 - 16 393 - 393
Mr. Wong Ka Lun BERRAE () 211 1,258 132 16 1,617 292 1,909
Ms. Lau Pui Kwan ARELL (@ 211 911 - 16 1,138 292 1430
Independent non- BUFHTES
executive directors
Mr. Ip Shu Kwan, Stephen ~ E## 4 264 - - - 264 292 556
Mr. Li Yinquan Fo|R%E 264 = = = 264 290 556
Mr. Wu Wing Kuen KL E 264 = = = 264 292 556
1805 4,631 1452 77 7,965 2628 10,593
(@) Mr. Wong Ka Lun and Ms. Lau Pui Kwan have @ EXRWEERZMEZIHELAR
resigned as executive director of the Company with R ITE F - 5 Al B2020F5H18
effect from 18 May 2020 and 25 August 2020 H &2020%8 258 £ 2 o
respectively.
(b) Mr. Cheng Kwan Kuen was appointed as executive (o) BBE # 5%t A M2020F3H30H & &
director of the Company on 30 March 2020. EAEERRRBMITES -
(c) Mr. Lin Guoxian has resigned as executive director ) MEBLEFEARAIMITES
of the Company with effect from 19 July 2019. H2019F7 5198 A &K -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MW R K

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(REBETHAIN - AARYEFITR)

10 FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS 10 EVBRSHMA L
Of the five highest paid individuals, four (2019: four) are i d& = M A LB Az (20195 © Y
directors whose emoluments are disclosed in note 9. The )ESE  HFEMAMFOREE - B—1u
aggregate of the emoluments in respect of the other one (2019%F | — ) ATH S BRENT :

(2019: one) individual are as follows:

2020 2019
20204 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T AR T T

Salaries and other emoluments HFehEMMS 853 1,091
Contributions to retirement R R R A ET &K
benefit scheme 16 16
Share-based payments VARS 17 2 ETE A 3k 201 252
1,070 1,359
The emoluments of the one individual (2019: one) are —fL AL (2019F : —) MBS BR T
within the following bands: HI| & E -
2020 2019
20204 20194
HKD1,000,001-HKD1,500,000 1,000,001 7T
Z1,500,0007% JT 1 —
HKD1,500,001-HKD2,000,000 1,500,001/ 7T
Z£2,000,000/% 7T = 1
1 1
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
frE MR M)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BREBETAIN - AAREFITR)

11 EARNINGS PER SHARE 11 SREZF
(a) Basic earnings per share (@ BEREXEF

The calculation of basic earnings per share is based
on the profit attributable to equity shareholders of
the Company of RMB112,746,000 (2019:
RMB17,954,000) and the weighted average number
of issued ordinary shares of 750,000,000 (2019:
750,000,000) during the year ended 31 December
2020.

Diluted earnings per share

Diluted earnings per share for the years ended 31
December 2020 and 2019 were the same as the
basic earnings per share.

At 31 December 2020, 18,300,000 share options
(2019: 22,200,000) (see note 25) were excluded
from the diluted weighted average number of
ordinary shares calculation because their effect
would have been anti-dilutive. The average market
value of the Company’s shares for the purpose of
calculating the dilutive effect of share options was
based on quoted market prices for the period during
which the options were outstanding.

FER « BEUMERBERAF

H £2020F12831H It FE & K
EXBMNDIBEARAQRER R
R OEAE & Al A R #112,746,000
L (20195 : A K 17,954,000
7T)  K750,000,000/% (20194 :
750,000,0000% ) B # 77 3 38 A% H0 42
T HETHE o

BREBESER

& £20204F N20194 128318 I
B EREEFERFEGRELRRF
R e

720205128318 + | 7£18,300,000
8 A% 4% (20194 : 22,200,000) (R,
fifaE25) A A RECEME - Mt B E
BIREEMEF A ERILT R
ZEEBE - ARG ERRERE
BENARR BN 2 FAMEE
A B A R 1T R SN B TR RO T 555 ¥R
B o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e %R XK EEE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(Br=HETH -

AAREEITR)
12 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 12 ¥ -BERR®E
(a) Reconciliation of carrying amount (a) PFREIEYE
Other
properties
leased
for own Electronic
Lands and use carried Office Motor  and other
buildings at cost equipment vehicles  equipment Total
B AR
HitBAZ EfK
THRETF HEMXE PARE RE Httk @5t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBTT ARETE ARETT ARETT AREFR
Cost: B
At 1 January 2019 201951 A1H 64,367 - 1,748 7,206 787 74,108
Additions NE = = 79 1,877 271 2,227
Acquisition of subsidiaries Wi B A A - - - - 1,315 1,315
Disposals & - - (717) (1,661) (63) (2,441)
Exchange adjustments XA - - - 7 6 77
At 31 December 2019 and 20195 12H31H
1 January 2020 202051 A1H 64,367 = 1,110 7,493 2,316 75,286
Additions NE = 1,548 662 = 3,982 6,192
Exchange adjustments I 5B = = - (185) (17) (202)
At 31 December 2020 A2020F12A31H 64,367 1,548 1,772 7,308 6,281 81,276
Accumulated depreciation: RIHE:
At 1 January 2019 #2019%1 A18 (8,114) - (1,321) (5,304) @71) (15,210)
Charge for the year FRAZH (2,933) - (124) (952) (465) (4,474)
Written back on disposals i & o) - - 659 1,599 57 2,315
Exchange adjustments LS - - - 9) ©) 12
At 31 December 2019 and F2019%12A318
1 January 2020 20201 A18 (11,047) - (786) (4,666) (882) (17,381)
Charge for the year ERZH (2,905) 451) (189) (746) (1,906) (6,197)
Exchange adjustments IE 5 A& = = - 16 8 24
At 31 December 2020 #2020512831A (13,952) (451) (975) (5,396) (2,780) (23,554)
Net book value: REFE:
At 31 December 2020 A2020F 127311 50,415 1,097 797 1,912 3,501 57,722
At 31 December 2019 R2019F12A31H 53,320 - 324 2,827 1,434 57,9056

As at 31 December 2020, the Group was in the
process of applying the certificates of ownership for
certain properties with the net book value of

RMB29,886,000

(2019: RMB31,411,000).

The

directors of the Company are of the opinion that the
use of and the conduct of operating activities at the
properties referred to above are not affected by the
fact that the Group has not yet obtained the
relevant property title certificates.
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MR2020512 8318 - AN &E @ IF £ H#

AEOMENFTEER

ZEME

K BR E ¥ B A A R #29,886,0007T
(2019%F © A R #31,411,0007T) °
ARAREEZERBAEEFEAER £
METIEMEBETELEEHLRERA
TREGSEBYERERE NI EM

=
=
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MR KK &

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BREBETAIN - AAREFITR)

12 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 12 ¥ -BERKEE)

(Continued)

(b) The analysis of net book value of right-of-use assets (b) FHATYE BELRZEIZFERE
included in “Property, plant and equipment” is as BEEMEREFEINET :
follows:

31 December 1 January
2020 2020
20204 2020%F
12H31H 1H1H
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR AREF T
Ownership interests in leasehold A B iF{EB BT &R A
land and building held for ABRBSH THEBOTZ
own use, carried at HE i RIEFHFTA #E
depreciated cost in the PRC, s
with remaining lease term of:
— 50 years or more — 50F sk A £ 50,415 53,320
13 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 13 REW
(a) Reconciliation of carrying amount (a) FREEHIER
RMB’000
ARETFT
Valuation: fh{E :
At 1 January 2019 R2019F1 A1H 19,420
Fair value adjustment NEEFAR 780
At 31 December 2019 and 1 January 2020 52019412 A31H
20201 A1H 20,200
Fair value adjustment NEEFAR -
At 31 December 2020 7202012 A31H 20,200
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MR R M E

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(Br=HETH -

13

184

AANRESIR)

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

Fair value measurement of properties

(b)

(i)

Fair value hierarchy

The following table presents the fair value of
the Group’s properties measured at the end of
the reporting period on a recurring basis,
categorised into the three-level fair value
hierarchy as defined in HKFRS 13, Fair value
measurement. The level into which a fair value
measurement is classified is determined with
reference to the observability and significance
of the inputs used in the valuation technique
as follows:

o Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured
using only Level 1 inputs i.e. unadjusted
quoted prices in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities at the
measurement date

o Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured
using Level 2 inputs i.e. observable inputs
which fail to meet Level 1, and not using
significant unobservable inputs.
Unobservable inputs are inputs for which
market data are not available

13

REWHE(EZ)
(b) MEZAFEFTE
() R2FEER

TRV AREBRHREBRR
REEEEFEZCUWELF
B ER(EBMBRELER])
FISR A FEA;EZERRR
FTEESA=-FEER ~FE
AEER 2R TG E R
FiER@aASEJBREE
REEREE S :

s EERFTH-EER
—EREARE R
R ERRERRTS
EEHREBCOCRAR) 2H
REEXBEFERF

(=1

e ZE_EfFTH:-FERAESE
Z B A EE - B
HERIMEE -ER
DRz ANBIE - 3k
FERAAER 2 EZH
ASEFEAFEE T
AE R AR A&
% 85 2 & A SR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MR KK &

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BREBETAIN - AAREFITR)

13 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) 13 BREWE(Z
(b) Fair value measurement of properties (b) MEZLIAFEFE(E)
(Continued)
(i)  Fair value hierarchy (Continued) (i) RFEERGE)
—  Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured - F-ERATH:ERT
using significant unobservable inputs R EZRH A8E
SEAFE

Fair value measurements as at
31 December 2020 categorised into
Fair value at 20205128318 5 8
31 December MWALETE
2020 Level 1 Level 2

#2020

12A31H

HAFEE £—8 £-8 B

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR AR®Trn AR®Trn AR%Tx

Investment properties in A B H KR E
the PRC: E
— Commercial - B 20,200 - - 20,200

Fair value measurements as at
31 December 2019 categorised into

Fair value at #2019F12A318 548
31 December HmAaFEENE
2019 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
20194
12A31H
BAFE £ F_E FZE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT AR®TRE ARETRT AR®TR

Investment properties in -~ AR E KK E
the PRC: ES
— Commercial — HE 20,200 - - 20,200
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MR R M E

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(REBETHAIN - AARYEFITR)

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

Fair value measurement of properties
(Continued)

13

186

(b)

(i)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2020,
there were no transfers between Level 1 and
Level 2, or transfers into or out of Level 3
(2019: nil). The Group’s policy is to recognise
transfers between levels of fair value hierarchy
as at the end of the reporting period in which
they occur.

The Group’s investment properties were
revalued at fair value as at 31 December 2020
by Vincorn Consulting and appraisal Limited
(formerly known Unicorn Consulting And
Appraisal Limited), an independent valuer who
has relevant professional qualification and
recent experience in the location and category
of properties being valued. The same valuation
techniques were used by this valuer when
carrying out the valuation as at 31 December
2019. The Group’s management have
discussion with the surveyors on the valuation
assumptions and valuation results twice a year
for financial reporting.

13

BREWE(E)
(b) MEZAFEE(E)
(i) RFEELE)

B E2020F12A31H EFE -
BMERE—EBRAEF_ERZ
FEERE  TEEASLENE
ZEHR(2019F &) - A& H
ZHBRBEAFERELERER
MEENRE AR EETRE
272 o

NE&EE 2 & E Y HENR20205F
12831 B BB ERTTEAS
AR EBRAR (AT
EHARTEERAR 2F
HAEEXER B BT
FBREUMEEE LR
B ERMZAFEBRF
fty o FZ(H{ERD#E 1720196128
318 ER{EAAER - ER
fir - AEBEEREELEMT
FRMBmENREBERE
HELERM X -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

(b)

e MR KK &

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BREBETAIN - AAREFITR)

13 REWE(E)

Fair value measurement of properties (b) MEZLIAFEFEE)
(Continued)
(i) Information about Level 3 fair value (i) BEE=FERLFEATEHNE
measurements ¥l
Range
g

Valuation Unobservable

techniques input 2019

& {8 B 9T A EER AYE 20194

Investment properties:

BREWE:

Direct market
comparison
approach

— Commercial — PRC

—Bx - FH

Adjusted market
price (RMB/square
meter)
BEMSLEE KHABME

8,000-15,400 8,000-15,400

(BF I AARE)

The fair value of investment properties located
in the PRC is determined using the direct
market comparison approach by reference to
recent sales price of comparable properties on
a price per square meter basis, adjusted for a
premium or a discount specific to the location,
property size and age of the Group’s
properties compared to the recent sales. The
higher adjusted market price will result in a
higher fair value measurement.

TEFH o EWEKRER AT

R BB AN E D TET
EREEMBLEALZTE
e 520 3 0 3 50 5 4 (A (2
BT KBRS E) BT W
BT E G B AR S 2
RIE MR AN S
(et Mo AR - B
MEME ATEGEMS -
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(REBETHAIN - AARYEFITR)

13 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) 13 REWME(E)
(b) Fair value measurement of properties (b) MEZLAFEFE(E)
(Continued)
(ii) Information about Level 3 fair value (i) BEE=ERLFETEHE
measurements (Continued) B (E)
The movements during the period in the ZEE-ERATETFTELR
balance of these Level 3 fair value WEAREB T HAT

measurements are as follows:

2020 2019
20204 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T AR T T

Investment properties in the RPEEEYE

PRC — Commercial — g
At 1 January R1A1H 20,200 19,420
Fair value adjustment NEEFAE - 780
At 31 December ®12A31H 20,200 20,200
(c) The analysis of net book value of right-of-use assets (c) FTAIBREYHEIZFREEENE
included in “Investment properties” is as follows: HFEITET :

31 December 1 January
2020 2020

20204 20204
12A31H 1H1H
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARETT

Ownership interests in leasehold KA EIEAFEARAH T
investment property carried at MBI T 2HHEREYE

fair value in the PRC, with WFT B

remaining lease term of:

— 50 years or more — 50F sk A £ 13,400 13,400
— between 10 and 50 years — 102504 7 & 6,800 6,800

20,200 20,200
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

(d) The Group leases out investment properties under
operating leases. The leases typically run for an
initial period of 1 to 10 years, with an option to
renew the lease upon expiry of the initial term.
Lease payments are usually increased every year to
reflect market rentals. None of the leases includes
contingent rentals.

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

e MR KK &

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BmARTBAN - LMARKESTR)

13 REWE (&

(d)

AEERBEELZHOLEREDY
X-HO—ROFBHA—Z1+5F-
AZEERVSEBERSEE -5
REBEMSHEEKFE  HONFBSE
RERM - ERVBRIEES -

14 RBATMNEKRE

2020 2019
20204 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T AREETF T

Unlisted shares, at cost JEEMBE D - LA 22,346 23,784
Capital loans to subsidiaries (note () # FHERFNEESER

CBR 3% Gi) ) 525,170 545,546

547,516 569,330

()  The balances are unsecured, interest-free and have
no fixed terms of repayment, and are expected to
be recovered after one year.

The following tables list out the information relating to
Huizhou Million Cities, the subsidiary of the Group which
have material non-controlling interests (“NCI”). The
summarised financial information presented below
represents the amounts before any inter-company
elimination.

TTEFER o EUMERARDA

RHESEAR 2ERYEETE
KH - EER - FREE -

TRINHWEBEEEERFERESR
(FFRPE R MR ) 2 N BB R A
BMERZEFR - A T2 285
BERB2RAEMARRHEEN 2
L
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e MR R M E

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(REBETHAIN - AARYEFITR)

14 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 14 RMBABNKRE (&)

190

(Continued)
2020 2019
20204 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARE T AR F T
Huizhou Million Cities BEME R
NCI percentage IR ERCBEDL 45.5% 45.5%
Current assets MENE E 837,287 1,552,672
Non-current assets mB)EE 43,117 13,152
Current liabilities mEEE (393,302) (1,341,072)
Non-current liabilities FRBERE - (23,113)
Net assets BEER 487,102 201,639
Revenue A 1,169,635 107,891
Profit for the year 4 X 5% F 285,464 23,079
Total comprehensive income 2HEKEERE 285,464 23,079
Reconciliation to FEREZEDEYHE
the carrying amount of NCI
Gross amounts of net assets FEERTE 487,102 201,639
Elimination of the unrealised profit B OF 15 1 B 2k 23R 05 7
upon consolidation (13,196) (7,849)
473,906 193,790
NClI's effective interest IR ERTHERES 45.5% 45.5%
Carrying amount of NCI JEERREREEE 215,627 88,174
Reconciliation to the profit FEREZELBR
attributable to NCI R
Gross amounts of profit il F R 285,464 23,079
Elimination of the unrealised profit B PH1E B R &3R5 7
upon consolidation (5,347) (7,849)
280,117 15,230
NCI's effective interest IR AT E R E S 45.5% 45.5%
Profit allocated to NCI DREFITERER 2R 127,453 6,930
Cash outflow from 4 F TR &
operating activities (263,400) (1,169)
Cash (outflow)/inflow BEFHRS ORE), A
from investing activities (632) 66
Cash inflow/(outflow) MEEBHHEESAACRE)
from financing activities 34,347 (250,175)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
frE MR M)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B BAHEFTAN - UARESR)
INTEREST IN ASSOCIATES 15 REtE AR ER
2020 2019
202045 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR ARET T
Share of net assets/(liabilities) BIEEEFE/(REFH) 158,162 (4,627)
Capital loans to associates (note) FEEE DR A 2 B
(B} =E) 257,221 108,768
415,383 104,141

Note: The balances are unsecured, interest-free and have no fixed

terms of repayment, and are expected to be recovered

after one year.

The following list contains the particulars of all associates,
all of which are unlisted corporate entities whose quoted
market price is not available:

5=
==
=

Place of Particulars of
Form of business incorporation issued and
Name of associate structure and business paid-up capital
AL R BETR
BeENEEB EBEBEA sEH BRRAFE
Gold Concept Development Limited Incorporated BVI USD100
“Gold Concept”
g7 AvA EEAARES 100% 7T
Asia Image (H.K.) Limited “Asia Image™*' Incorporated Hong Kong HKD1
g7 AvA Bk 1T
Henan Julongju Real Estate Co., Ltd. Incorporated PRC HKD20,000,000
“Henan Julongju™!
MEREREXERARIEEERE] Eaif7AvA FE 20,000,0007% 7T
Henan Julongwan Property Management Co.,  Incorporated PRC RMB20,000
Ltd.*
MERRENEEEERAR il 17: v HE AR #20,0007
Star Linkage Financial Holdings Limited Incorporated BVI UsbD100
“Star Linkage”
g7 AvA EERAARES 100% 7T
Star Linkage Investments Limited* Incorporate Hong Kong usD1
T A L BB 1%

TTEFER e BUMERERAF

ME:-ERAEREEA REAREEEEN

B BEBER—FRKE -

Proportion of ownership

TRFESAF LT AANERALET
SEEZHABERANAR -

interest held by the
Group’s subsidiary
HARAMBRAREEN
BEEREZL
2020 2019 Principal activity
20204 2019F FEXBED
30% 30% Investment holding
30% 30% REEMR
= — Investment holding
= - RE#ZK
- — Property development
= - DEREE
- — Property management
= - MEER
30% N/A  Investment holding
(note 1)
30% TER REER
(Ff&E1)

Investment holding
REER
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(REBETHIN - LAREFITR)

15 INTEREST IN ASSOCIATES (Continued) 15 RNEBEATINER (&)

Proportion of ownership
interest held by the
Group’s subsidiary

HEAAMBARBEEN
ERERGELH
Place of Particulars of
Form of business incorporation issued and
Name of associate structure and business paid-up capital 2020 2019 Principal activity
AR A Y R BETR
BENREB EBEBEA B HBRERAFEE 2020 2019 ETEXRED
Shenzhen Manyi Investment Advisory Incorporate PRC RMB5,000,000 = — Investment advisory
Limited*
RImRREFAERD A kg7 FE A R #5,000,0007T = - REERK
Shenzhen Guoxin Electric Development Incorporate PRC RMB13,000,000 21% — Property development
Limited* (note 1)
AITESEFRRERA A A A L FE AR% 21% - MEER
13,000,0007C (1)
Huizhou Logan Junhong Real Estate Limited  Incorporate PRC RMB529,409,070 30% N/A  Property development
(note 2)
BNTEAREEREARA T4 G AR%E 0%  TEA DERE
529,409,0707T (M &£2)
Well Kong Investments Limited Incorporated BVI uUSD2 50% N/A  Investment holding
(“Well Kong Investment”) (note 3)
BEREBRAA([EBRE] Bz KEHBARAES 2%XTT 50% TER REZER
(B £3)
Well Kong (H.K.) Limited* Incorporated Hong Kong HKD10,000 = — Investment holding
25 (BE) R AA Al Ava B 10,0007% 7 = - REERK
Huizhou Well Kong Real Estate Co., Ltd.* Incorporated PRC RMB88,000,000 = — Property development
ENBEEBEBERAA! kg7 v HE AR¥% = - MEEER
88,000,0007C
i These companies are wholly-owned by Gold Concept. i Z % A alMGold Concept2 & A °
2 The company are wholly-owned by Star Linkage. g #Z % A Al fStar Linkage2 & A °
3 70% of the company are held by Shenzhen Manyi ® ZATRT0%E R Rt BB AARA
Investment Advisory Limited. GIESEEIE
4 These companies are wholly-owned by Well Kong 3 ZERNRHBERERETEHRSR -
Investment.
¢ These entities are PRC limited liability companies. The G ZEBRRTEAREMELRRA - AAIE
English translation of the companies’ names are for NEREHRSE HXH 7% 7?% 18 o
reference only. The official names of these companies are
in Chinese.
All associates are accounted for using the equity method FrBEER R AR ERNGEETBHRE
in the consolidated financial statements. N
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E %W R M)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BREBETAIN - AAREFITR)

15 INTEREST IN ASSOCIATES (Continued) 15 RNEBEATINER (&)
Note: B &E -

1.

In 2020, the Group entered into an agreement with an
independent third party (the “Partner”), pursuant to which,
the Group and the Partner invested to 30% and 70% of
the equity interest in Star Linkage respectively. Star
Linkage together with its subsidiaries (“Star Linkage
Group”) were treated as an associate of the Group (the
“Associate”). The Group has paid a capital loan of RMB93
million to the Associate during the year.

In 2020, the Associate entered into an agreement with an
independent third party (the “Seller”), pursuant to which,
the Associate will acquire 100% equity interest in
Shenzhen Guoxin Electric Development Limited (% 3l T
EETERABMRAF, “Shenzhen Guoxin’), a company
incorporated in the PRC which owns four land parcels in
Shenzhen, at a consideration of RMB560 million (the
“Consideration”).

Up to 31 December 2020, the Associate has paid
RMB310 million to the Seller, acquiring 70% equity interest
in Shenzhen Guoxin.

The remaining consideration of RMB250 million will be
payable in 2 installments before the end of 2022. The
70% equity interest in Shenzhen Guoxin was charged to
the Seller which will be released upon a full settlement of
the Consideration and all contractual obligations have been
fulfilled by the Associate.

TR TEER o EWERARAA

2020 AEEBEBIE=F(&EE
AN B ASBEEZADBIE
& Star Linkagef30% K& 70% % # - Star
Linkage#E [&] E [t & 22 7] ([ Star Linkage
SB)EAAEBEEE QR ([HEQ
Al c REBBRFERNMREE AR

ARBRBEETHWESER -
20205 B E AR BRBYE=7(E
ﬁj)uTiTﬁz’J C B N R M R I T

EEFRERER2A(RIBEE] B
REEMKIHN AR - ERYIEA DE
i) 2EPAE - RERARK60HE
T(TRAED -

H E2020%12A310 ' & A A EME
HiHAEMm0§§ﬁ~W%mwu
ET70% /% HE -

BT REBARE2508 & It 15 120224
[ Al 5 M HA S A o SR I B 28 97 0% AR 4
ERFEFES  HWEKIFERREES
R RNRBITAANETEBER -
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15
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INTEREST IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)
Note: (Continued)

In 2020, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group acquired
30% equity interest of Huizhou Logan Junhong Real Estate
Limited (“Logan Junhong”) for a cash consideration of
RMB158,823,000 to expand the Group’s property
development operation. Logan Junhong became an
associate of the Group.

Well Kong Investment and its subsidiaries (“Well Kong
Group”) were previously a 50%-owned joint venture of the
Group as disclosed in note 16. To simplify the strategic
decision process of Well Kong Group, the Group entered
into an agreement of acting in concert with the other
shareholder which held the remaining 50% equity interests
in 2020. Under the agreement the Group is required to
keep the concert action with the other shareholder in the
board resolution. Therefore, Well Kong Group became a
50%-owned associate of the Group.

Management considers that Gold Concept together with
its subsidiaries (“Gold Concept Group”), Star Linkage
Group, Logan Junhong, and Well Kong Group have
significant impact to the financial position and
performance of the Group individually.

15

REENRER (&)
B3 (8

2020%F - AEEE AN B A 7R EEMN
MErXEERFHESRD A (8K E
RNO%KEE - BHeREAEARK
158,823,0007T + LA 75 2N 58 [B] Ay 49 3£ 5%
BREG - EXBEEXNAREENHEA
Al o

mHEIeRE  EEREREME QR
(TEAEE]) L/ RAEEEA50%MK
BHNEERR - RE{LEE KRB
REIZFF - R2020%F - REFE S —H
B R T50% MM BRI —BTH
Wk o RIBHHE  NEBAREETGR
BERES -ZRR-BTH - EHih - F
75 & B R A5 7N 5= 1B R B 50% F i ) Bt 2
NI

B BR AGold ConceptiE[REM B A
Al ([ Gold Conceptf& E])  Star Linkage
S8 BEARERBEEEBS YA
SENUBRARRRELESTATZE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
frE MR M)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BRBEETHN  AARKES]TR)
INTEREST IN ASSOCIATES (Continued) 15 REEERTINER(F)

The summarised consolidated financial information on
Gold Concept Group, adjusted for any differences in

accounting policies, and reconciled to the carrying &

amounts in the consolidated financial statements for the S

year is as follows:

Gold Conceptsc B4R & M5 B E (5L
S BRRNEMEEFEHFABRLERF

B 7% 3k 00 BR (B 81 BR) & 51 a0

Gold Concept Group
Gold Conceptf &

2020 2019
2020%F 20194
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR® T ARETT
Gross amounts of associates BENT BT
Current assets mENEE 1,302,428 967,905
Non-current assets ERBEE 3,849 4,119
Current liabilities mEBAE (1,326,239) (987,448)
Deficit in equity e 2= B Al (19,962) (15,424)
Revenue WA 38,068 21,073
Loss for the year FAEE (9,957) (1,080)
Other comprehensive income Hh 2 HE K= 5,418 (1,959)
Total comprehensive income THE KR AR (4,539) (3,039)
Reconciled to the Group’s HEAEEREE ATNER
interest in associates # AR
Gross amounts of net liabilities of BEQNRNFAERSE
associates (19,962) (15,424)
Group’s effective interest AEBFEERER 30% 30%
Group’s share of net liabilities AEBEEBERAAR
of associates FEE (5,989) (4,627)
Capital loans to associates — BTHEARNEZER
non-current portion (note) — FERBE A (M aE) 107,452 108,768
Carrying amount of AEERERMEDE
the Group’s interest 101,463 104,141

5=
==
— =

“EEER  BHAERERAR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MR R M E

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(REBETHAIN - AARYEFITR)

15 INTEREST IN ASSOCIATES (Continued) 15 REBEARINER (&)
As at 31 December 2020, Gold Concept Group were of 72020512 H31H * B M Gold Concept
net liabilities due to the early stage of development. SERERERYVIBEE HEBAEF
Bk o
Note: The balances are unsecured, interest-free and have no fixed Mizk: Ash R EER 25 BEETEERH
terms of repayment, and are expected to be recovered TEER —FrdkE -

after one year.

The summarised consolidated financial information on Star Star Linkagef Bl4x & B 75 & B Z (3t
Linkage Group, adjusted for any differences in accounting BHBRENEMNEZEFEHARLERF
policies, and reconciled to the carrying amounts in the EREUVBRENEEMBEYR) &5 M
consolidated financial statements for the year is as T~
follows:
2020
2020
RMB’000
AR¥ TR
Gross amounts of associates /NI
Current assets BN E E 395,771
Non-current assets FERBEE =
Current liabilities mEEE (392,220)
Non-controlling interests FEIERAE T (3,737)
Deficit in equity 2= B Al (186)
Revenue N 917
Loss for the year FAEE (188)
Other comprehensive income H i 2mE ke =
Total comprehensive income ZHEH W =B (188)
Reconciled to the Group’s interest HAEEREE QXTHN
in associates EDHER
Gross amounts of net liabilities of associates BMERNRFAEER (186)
Group’s effective interest AEEMEER#E= 30%
Group’s share of net liabilities of associates AEEREEBEARABETF (56)
Capital loans to associates — BTHERRMESER —
non-current portion JERB D 93,000
Carrying amount of the Group’s interest AEEEZMERE 92,944
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
frE MR M)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BREBETAIN - AAREFITR)

15 INTEREST IN ASSOCIATES (Continued) 15 REBE AR NER (&)
The summarised consolidated financial information on BEARRGEVHRERSE (MEFBER
Logan Junhong, adjusted for any differences in MNEMEZEREHFARTEARFELREGE
accounting policies, and reconciled to the carrying BmMAMBEEMESR) &5/ OT :
amounts in the financial statements for the year is as
follows:
2020
20205
RMB’000
AR T
Gross amounts of associates e NT 285
Current assets MENE B 539,479
Non-current assets EMEBEE -
Current liabilities mEEE (10,081)
Total equity 1 2= B All 529,398
Revenue A =
Loss for the year FAEE (11)
Other comprehensive income H b2 m Uz -
Total comprehensive income EEKE BT (11)
Reconciled to the Group’s interest HAEBEREE QT
in associates B 2 3 BR
Gross amounts of net assets of associates B N AFE E R 529,398
Group’s effective interest AEEMEER % i 30%
Group’s share of net liabilities of associates AEEREGEBE G BEFE 158,819
Carrying amount of the Group’s interest AEEEZWERE 158,819
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e MW R K

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB - UARKESIR)

15 INTEREST IN ASSOCIATES (Continued) 15 REEERTINER (&)
The summarised consolidated financial information on Well BAEESEUBERE (gt BER
Kong Group, adjusted for any differences in accounting MEMEZERELABRTERFELRE I
policies, and reconciled to the carrying amounts in the HIREMBEEEYR) ST :
consolidated financial statements for the year is as
follows:
Well Kong Group
=BE
2020 2019
2020 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR AR T
Gross amounts of associates in Bt % N T (20206F) (&%
2020/(joint ventures in 2019) AT (20195 )) 5
Current assets mEBEE 2,876,371 1,948,763
Non-current assets FRBEE 4,757 19,945
Current liabilities mEAaE (2,849,205) (1,168,802)
Non-current liabilities FREBEE (585) (779,900)
Equity 1% 31,338 20,006
Included in the above assets and T BEENRBERE:
liabilities:
Cash and cash equivalents and RERHRESEEYWAMN
pledged and restricted deposits 2R KX R $7F 5 561,910 573,946
Revenue WA 109,618 55,147
Profit/(Loss)for the year FRmH(EE) 7,971 (2,912)
Other comprehensive income HEf2mEKE 5,363 (1,939)
Total comprehensive income FH R E B 13,334 (4,851)
Included in the above profit/(loss): Fiats R, (ER) B 1E
Interest income R B YA - -
Income tax credit Fr 5 f i & 6,996 964
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
frE MR M)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BREBETAIN - AAREFITR)

15 INTEREST IN ASSOCIATES (Continued) 15 REBE QRN ER (&)

Well Kong Group
EEE
2020 2019
20204 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARET T

Reconciled to the Group’s HAEEREZ QT
interest in associates in 2020/ (2020%) (A& AT
(joint ventures in 2019) (20195F) ) W RE® 2 BT BR
Gross amounts of Well Kong SEEETFEERSE
Group’s net assets 31,338 20,006
Elimination of the unrealised profit B PF1& B R 23R 55 7
upon consolidation (20,562) (9,525)
10,776 10,481
Group’s effective interest AEBENERER 50% 50%
Group’s share of Well Kong AEESHEAEHE
Group’s net assets FEE 5,388 5,240
Amounts due from associates in JE Y B & 1 7] (2020%F ),
2020/(joint ventures in 2019) (& & 27 (20194F))
— non-current portion B — RIS 56,769 59,456
Carrying amount in the consolidated  #F& B IR NI BRI (E
financial statements 62,157 64,696
16 INTEREST IN JOINT VENTURES 16. R
2019
20204 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR® TR ARETTT

Share of net assets DIREEFE - 5,240
Capital loans to joint ventures MTEERANESER - 59,456
= 64,696
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MW R K

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(REBETHAIN - AARYEFITR)

17 INVENTORIES AND OTHER CONTRACT 17 FERHEMEHARE

COSTS
2019
20204 20194
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5 AR® T ARETF T
Inventories 78
Properties held for development BIEERYE 40,084 38,301
Properties under development BERPmE 1,509,521 1,660,794
Completed properties for sale HFEERIME 627,527 545,625
2,177,132 2,244,720
Other contract costs b= A= RN (©) 28,578 26,868
2,205,710 2,271,588
(a) The analysis of the amount of inventories recognised () EREMAIVFTABENTESE
as an expense and included in profit or loss is as DT
follows:
2020 2019
20204 20194
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR® TR ARET T
Cost of inventories BFERAR 688,744 219,989
At 31 December 2020, the amount of inventories R2020%12A31H - EH R BB —
expected to be recovered after more than one year FrEBNEESEINAARK
is RMB1,678,685,000 (2019: RMB1,521,904,000). All 1,678,685,0007T (20194 : A R ¥
of the other inventories are expected to be 1,521,904,0007T) - FT B H b 7 &
recovered within one year. FEE R —F ALE -
At 31 December 2020, certain inventories were 73/\2020¢1 2H31B - AT HFEE®
pledged for bank loans (see note 22). RITERELER (R MF22) -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

INVENTORIES AND OTHER CONTRACT

COSTS (Continued)

(b) The analysis of carrying value of land held for property
development for sale is as follows:

e MR KK &

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BREBETAIN - AAREFITR)

17 FEREMENRE(E)

BEFEMELR L HOEREER
DT ¢

(b)

31 December 1 January
2020 2020
20204 20204
12H31H 1H1H
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR AR T T
In the PRC, with remaining AE - FeRE R -
lease term of:
— 50 years or more — 50F gk A E
(long leases) (KHMEA) 131,286 267,391
— between 10 and 50 years — 10E50F 2 [
(medium-term leases) (R EFFE4Y) 62,476 62,476
193,762 329,867
(c) Other contract costs (c) EMEHRAE

Other contract costs capitalised as at 31 December
2020 relate to the incremental sales commissions
paid to property agents whose selling activities
resulted in customers entering into sale and
purchase agreements for the Group’s properties
which are still under development as at 31
December 2020.

Other contract costs are recognised as part of
“selling expenses” in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss in the period in which revenue from the
related property sales is recognised. Other contract
costs of RMB5,538,000 were recognised in profit or
loss during the year ended 31 December 2020
(2019: RMB548,000). No impairment was identified
for the other contract costs as at 31 December
2020 (2019: nil).

TTEFER e BUMERERAF

202012 A31H ' gt W £ KRB
IAMEEHERSBEME LK
REXRL  BEVMERENHEES
B {F X F 5 A & B2020F12 A31H
MERNMEIT LEEWZ °

HMB R AR EREBMERE
W BRNGAEaRERAIHE
ERZIN—FD - EEHKAA
R #5,538,0007T 1A & £2020F 12 A
318 I F E M E = R (20194 -
A R #548,0007T) I & 2 IR & =
2020F 12 A31H M E & LI A H
IR ME (20195 : &) o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MR R M E

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(REBETHAIN - AARYEFITR)

17 INVENTORIES AND OTHER CONTRACT 17 FEREMENKEK (&)
COSTS (Continued)
(c) Other contract costs (Continued) (c) HEMEHRAKE)
The Group applies the practical expedient in AEBEACEEBVBRSEENE
paragraph 94 of HKFRS 15 and recognises the 1558 BB M AT ITREE 7% » MR
incremental costs of obtaining contracts relating to REBEA e BITHRRHE E /) #
the sale of completed properties and services as an HEREI Y BBEAE HEBRBE®
expense when incurred if the amortisation period of FH-% BRELESBRNEER
the assets that the Group otherwise would have BHED EKYERREE HHIE
recognised is within the same reporting period as EXREABAZ -
the date of entering into the contract.
The amount of capitalised contract costs that is R2020F 128318 - FEHNBE —
expected to be recovered after more than one year FrrUEBMERNMEEHIKREAEAR
were RMB14,094,000 as at 31 December 2020 #14,094,0007T (20194 : A R #
(2019: RMB21,101,000). 21,101,0007%) °
18 CONTRACT LIABILITIES 18 6N EE
The following table provides information about receivables TRIBEEEP SR KBRS L
and contract liabilities from contracts with customers: BEMNER:
2020 2019
20204 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T ARETT
Contract liabilities — Receipt in EREE - MEHE
advance from property sales B R 945,939 1,923,393
Contract liabilities represented payments received from EHNEBEERPMYEHEEN TR &
customers on sale of properties. A financing component &AL ER 5> (B UK ER T8 U R B0 i & A 25)
being the financing benefit from the receipt in advance is RENBEER GHABERINERA
recognised in the contract liabilities. Contract liabilities are MERRIBRER o
recognised in profit or loss when the related properties
are delivered.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e MR KK &

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BRBEETHN  AARKES]TR)
18 CONTRACT LIABILITIES (Continued) 18 EHNEE(E)
Movements in contract liabilities EHNEEER
2020 2019
20204 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T ARETT
Balance at 1 January R1A1H &6 1,923,393 1,494,172
Decrease in contract liabilities as a EHNBERFANE
result of recognising revenue during FFAFYIEHNBENSE
the year that was included in the R AWKA MR
contract liabilities at the beginning
of the year (1,161,124) (213,391)
Increase in contract liabilities as a EHNBERFAR
result of receipt in advance from 12A31B AT EZN Y
property sales during the year in 8 & T8 U K i 32 0
respect of properties still under
construction as at 31 December 135,851 610,519
Increase in contract liabilities as a & B ERE AT TR A
result of accruing interest expense AT 12 ) B 0F 32 m 8 n
on receipt in advance 47,819 32,093
Balance at 31 December 128318 & & 8 945,939 1,923,393
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MW R K

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(REBETHAIN - AARYEFITR)

19 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 19 ESRHEMERKIEA

2020 2019
20204 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T R AR T T

Trade debtors (note (a)) JE W BR 3 (M 5% (a) )
— Gross rentals from properties — YEHEEBERE 327 332
327 332
Amounts due from related parties JFE UK B8 Bk 5 SR IE
(note (b)) (Ff¥ 5% (o) ) 27,561 —
Other debtors H fib & W RIE 15,003 1,890
Financial assets measured at BEBRKATENERMEE
amortised cost 42,891 2,222
Deposits (note (c)) Z& (tsk)) 6,126 10,441
Prepayments (note (d)) TEAF I8 (M FE(d)) 32,231 84,913
81,248 97,576
All of the trade and other debtors are expected to be FTEESREMEWREBERR—FA
recovered or recognised as expenses within one year. WEERASER -

204 Million Cities Holdings Limited ® Annual Report 2020



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

mEMBEHREKRMNE )
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BRBEETHN  AARKES]TR)
19 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 19 EZRHEMERKEE)

(Continued)

(a) As at 31 December 2020, the ageing analysis of (a) HM2020F12H31H * fE W Bk (B
trade debtors, based on the date the trade debtors MR REEB) AR ERERERER
recognised, net of allowance for doubtful debts, is as AEMERER DT
follows:

2020 2019
20204 20194F
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR® TR AR T T
Within 1 month 1E A A 57 62
1 to 3 months 1ZE31E H 920 90
3 to 6 months 3Z61E A 135 135
Over 6 months 6@ A A £ 45 45
327 332
The Group’s credit policy is set out in note 28(a). AEBEEREREERHIFE28() ©
As at 31 December 2020, no trade debtors were H E2020F 128318 » I £ B W B
past due (2019: nil). Based on experience, KR (20196 « f8) - AR -
management believes that no loss allowance is EEERARBAREEBEZLEEX
necessary in respect of the trade debtors as there e W AREWREREIRIEX
has not been a significant change in credit quality. BE AEERASBIEEREE
The Group is of the view that the expected WEEFHKERE AEELER
irrecoverable trade debtors were insignificant. The ZEERFTEEAERR -
Group does not hold any collateral over these
balances.

(b) The amounts due from related parties were interest- (b) EYWEHmAIREARE EHKHAR
free, unsecured and recovered within one year. ER—FRUE -

(c) The balance mainly included the deposits paid for the (c) EFHEHEIERENEERERY
construction and development of properties. ¥e ke -

(d) At 31 December 2020, the balance mainly included (d) 2020F12A31H BEEAEHEE

==

“TECTFEFR e ERMERAR

prepaid construction costs for properties
development of RMB17,931,000 (2019:
RMB69,474,000), and prepayments for VAT and
surcharges with an aggregated amount of
RMB14,300,000 (2019: RMB15,439,000).

BIEMETRNBENEERAAR
#17,931,0007C (201945 : AR¥
69,474,0007T) - ML E R K2
BB FKRIES 8 A R% 14,300,000
7 (20194F © AR¥&15,439,0007T) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MW R K

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(REBETHAIN - AARYEFITR)

20 PLEDGED AND RESTRICTED DEPOSITS 20 EEFRZREFH

2020 2019
20204 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T R AR T T

Pledged for mortgage arrangements ¥ % B RIZ1BZ HE(ERIH

of the property buyers (note (a)) (Fff 5 (@) ) 31,573 35,270

Restricted deposits for the BEESADRNXZRH TR
construction contracts (note (b)) (Kt 3E®D)) 71,438 358,675
Others Efb 4,285 9,019
107,296 402,964

Notes: Bt 5 -

(a)  The balance represents cash deposits placed in banks to (a) HBETHRRITHESERS EARA
secure the banks’ mortgage loans granted to property MEBRMERTEBERNET R -
buyers. Such deposits will be released after the property ZERSRBNIEAMENEEMBERE
ownership certificates of the relevant properties are LT ERIT IR ARBR o

pledged to the banks.

(o)  The balance represents pre-sale proceeds to secure the () HFHREAEENEZREBAZRKZBREN
future payments of the constructions of the Group’s HHTEEMBRIEA - ZEXR AT RS
properties development projects. Such restricted deposits RARI N EBEYEERIEB NEEK
will be released for the payments for construction costs of Aok R T B R BR o

the related property development projects or upon
completion of the construction.

21 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 21 RERBREEEY
(@) Cash and cash equivalents comprise of: (a ReLkReFEEVWBEE:

2020 2019
2020 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T R ARETTT

Cash at bank and on hand LTI EETENRITR
denominated in: FHERS
— RMB — AR 298,032 642,097
— HKD — BT 68,265 89,801
— USD e . iy

366,309 731,909
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MR KK &

21 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
(Continued)

Reconciliation of profit before taxation to cash (used

(b)

in)/generated from operation:

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BREBETAIN - AAREFITR)

21 RERBSEEBYWE)

(b) BRBATEMELE (FTA) S

Profit before taxation

Adjustments for:

Depreciation and
amortisation

Net gain on disposal of
property, plant and
equipment

Net loss on disposal of
investment properties

Net gain on disposal of
other financial assets

Finance costs

Interest income

Net valuation gain on
investment properties

Share of (gain)/less losses
of associates

Share of losses of joint
ventures

Equity settled share-based
payment expenses

Net unrealised exchange
gain

FEH « ERERBERAA

BR 7% B i 7

e B e
17 T 3

HEME  BERREN
Yok AR

HERBNENER
R

HEEMEREEN K
FE

FEWA

REMFENGERSEFE

B E R T (W),
& 1R

NEREREEAE

DA s AR E AR D R AT

%
REBERWRFH

HerEER:

2020

2020F

Note RMB’000
B 5 AR T
471,026

7(c) 8,795
5 —

5 —
5 (18)
7(a) 8,470
5 (6,009)
13(a) -
(939)

25(b) 2,163
(27)

2019
20194
RMB’000
AREFTT

58,836

5,773

(225)
99
(367)
9,818
(13,893)
(780)
324

1,456

4,087
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MW R K

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(REBETHAIN - AARYEFITR)

21 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
(Continued)

(b) Reconciliation of profit before taxation to cash (used (b)

21 RERBSEEB/YWE)

bR A5 A A B (PR, P15

208

in)/generated from operation: (Continued)

BReOEik: (&)

2020 2019
2020 2019%F
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
Bt & AR¥T R ARET T
Changes in working capital: & & & & &
Decrease/(Increase) in FEREMEHKAE
inventories and other ",/ (3E )
contract costs 128,299 (526,665)
Decrease in trade and other & 5 K& E i fE g 7118
receivables DERL 16,330 78,355
Decrease in pledged and REEEEN Y IR
restricted deposits A 295,668 84,049
(Decrease)/Increase in BRHBERD), /BN
contract liabilities (1,025,273) 391,867
Increase/(Decrease) in trade B 5 N £ fE {4 2B
and other payables #m,/ Crl ) 17,233 (54,419)
Cash(used in)/generated wE (A FBRe
from operations (84,282) 38,262
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MR KK &

21 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
(Continued)

A

(c)

=
=

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from
financing activities

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(Br=HETHIH

AAREFITR)

21 RERRSEEY (&)

The table below details changes in the Group’s
liabilities from financing activities, including both cash

and non-cash changes.

Liabilities arising from

financing activities are liabilities for which cash flows
were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the
Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows as
cash flows from financing activities.

(c)

MEZBMELERENHE

TRFAJNASEREEZDHNELR

E2BH

BRERAE MRS E

H-REEDELANBBREDR

EFRKASRENEE
RBEEHMRE

BrmeReRER -

1 5

BenBft ARE

Bank loans Amounts due
and interest to related Lease
payables parties liabilities Total
e 14 8B 1T P& 1
ERXRAE BHAINE HESE a5t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TR AR¥TR AR%Trn AR%Txn
(note 31(c)) (note 24)
(B &E31(c)) (Bt 3F24)
At 1 January 2020 202061 81A8 314,292 344,945 = 659,237
Changes from financing MERERELE:
cash flows:
Proceeds from bank loans RITERFTE A 222,593 - - 222,593
Repayment of bank loans ERRITERN (167,158) - - (167,158)
Capital element of lease ERNHEEERT
rentals paid = = (412) (412)
Advances from related parties B3 Hf 5 28 /TA - 101,307 - 101,307
Interest paid on bank loans BT EHH & (19,198) - - (19,198)
Interest element of lease BEEE ﬁ‘ 'J S5
rentals paid - - (61) (61)
Total changes from financing &t é“ Renegy
cash flows B 36,237 101,307 (473) 137,071
Exchange adjustments fE &R - (14,082) - (14,082)
Other changes: Hitt %5 :
Increase in lease liabilities from 77N F B 5T 7 #1
entering into new leases HEFHEARE
during this year i# 7]1] - - 1,548 1,548
Interest on bank loans RITEHKFE
(note 7(a)) (MT u£7( a)) 19,310 - - 19,310
Interest on lease liabilities MEBENE
(note7(a) (P 7E7(@)) — - 61 61
Other non-cash effect (note) H /M IFIR & F &
(B &) = 3,702 - 3,702
Total other changes Higsm 19,310 3,702 1,609 24,621
At 31 December 2020 2020%12H31H 369,839 435,872 1,136 806,847
s BWIEBMARAR 209
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MR R M E

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B BETHAS - AAREEFIR)
21 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
(Continued)
(c) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from (c)

financing activities (Continued)

Bank loans and

Amounts due

21 RERREEEYW(E)

METBHRELERBENERE)

210

interest to related
payables parties Total
&S8R 1T JE 1F
BERRFE B 5 KA BE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBFT AR T T ARBFT
(note 31(c))
(BT 3E31(c))
At 1 January 2019 A2019F181H 550,407 416,307 966,714
Changes from financing MERESRERS
cash flows:
Proceeds from bank loans RITERMERIEA 55,000 — 55,000
Repayment of bank loans BERITER (290,155) — (290,155)
Advances from related parties B & 75 2% — 27,333 27,333
Repayment to related parties 18 & BBt 75 X — (107,298) (107,298)
Interest paid on bank loans EfTIRITER ﬂ B (26,266) - (26,266)
Total changes from BEREGREE
financing cash flows 4@z (261,421) (79,965) (341,386)
Exchange adjustments E 5 AR (157) 5,095 4,938
Other changes: Hit s :
Interest on bank loans RITEHHE
(note 7(a)) (M 3E7(a) ) 25,463 — 25,463
Other non-cash effect (note) HMERewE
(M &E) - 3,508 3,508
Total other changes gEmEE 25,463 3,508 28,971
At 31 December 2019 A2019F12H31H 314,292 344,945 659,237
Note: Other non-cash effect represents the unwind of time MisE : HMIER S EEM F23(c) T

value of amounts due to the original shareholders of
Huizhou Yuefu as disclosed in note 23(c).

2 5R B TN A = A AR R FR IR
MEEFEREBTE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MR KK &

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BREBETAIN - AAREFITR)

21 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 21 RERALSEEY(E)
(Continued)
(d) Total cash outflow for leases d HEZRSHRHERE
Amounts included in the cash flow statement for REEFARERERZIEEEE
leases comprise the following: VRN

2020 2019
20204 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR ARETFT

Within operating cash flows FFAKRER e RE 299 635
Within financing cash flows AFABRERESRE 473 —
772 635

These amounts relate to the following: CHETISEER
2020 2019
20204 20194
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR® TR ARET T
Lease rentals paid EEE 772 635
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MW R K

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(REBETHAIN - AARYEFITR)

22 BANK LOANS

212

This note provides information about the contractual
terms of the Group’s bank loans. For more information
about the Group’s exposure to interest rate risk, please
refer to note 28(c).

22

RITER

M RHEAEBIBITERNE LIERK
WEEER BEASEFNXRARKRNE
ZER  F2HME28(C) °

2020 2019
2020 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® TR ARETTT

Secured HiEH 306,482 288,152
Unsecured 4 45 4 62,055 24,950
368,537 313,102

The secured bank loans are secured by assets below:

BERFRITERIA T EEEER

2020 2019
20204 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T AREET T

Inventories (note 17(a)) FE (MaE17()

963,919 917,390

At 31 December 2020, the secured bank loan of
RMB137,917,000 (2019: RMB103,362,000) was
guaranteed by related parties (see note 31(d)).

At 31 December 2020, the bank loans were interest-
bearing at one-year Loan Prime Rate (“LPR”) published by
the People’s Bank of China plus 1.2%—2.125% per
annum.

2020 12H31H - B H R 17 B X
A R #137,917,0007T (2019%F : A R ¥&
103,362,0007T) B 48 Bt 757 ¥ (R (R Mff 3%
31(d)) °

202012 A31H » SR1T B & F B iR
BARBITAMA —FEE FREMF =X
([BEREBRFE]) INEB1.2%E2.125%
TE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
frE MR M)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BREBETAIN - AAREFITR)

22 BANK LOANS (Continued) 22 SRITER(E)

The Group’s banking facilities are subject to the fulfilment $‘§ = E!’Jfﬁlﬂ BREEENKG TR#HEHA
of certain covenants which are commonly found in lending EE FHELAENEIAEBNEESR
arrangements with financial institutions. If the Group were P ER - WAKEERRFE  SIENGE
to breach the covenants, the drawn down facilities would BERBEZREREZE - BHEASERHE
become payable on demand. Further details of the & BB E R A FEIB SR M FE28((h) - B 2
Group’s management of liquidity risk are set out in note 2020512 A31H I & 32 I 27 (20194 :
28(b). There was no breach of covenants as of 31 T)o

December 2020 (2019: nil).

At 31 December 2020, bank loans were repayable as R2020%12H318 « BB E R & Fr &
B EE

follows according to the repayment schedules as set out EXFBERBITERERATREREERS
in the loan agreements:

2020 2019
20204 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T AR T T

Within 1 year —F R 315,245 168,462
After 1 year but within 2 years —FEREMFA 53,292 123,377
After 2 years but within 5 years MERBEALFNR - 21,263
368,537 313,102
Notwithstanding the specified repayment schedules as & E P BB K B R 5 A2 R A R
stated in all facilities letters which allow the loans to be ATEFRNERHER—F  HEAKHE
repaid over a period of more than one year, banking EENIRITHER 1I%‘<T‘K BEFRITAE K
facilities granted to the Group include a clause that gives b HT%IE}%%E K(TEKREEK
the bank an unconditional rights to call the bank loans at ;1) ZERIT A ?v?/m\l B 7 RO &
any time (“repayment on demand clause”) and these bank A miﬁﬁméﬂﬁf °

loans were classified as current liabilities in the
consolidated statement of financial position.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MW R K

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(REBETHAIN - AARYEFITR)

23 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 23 EFRHMENKE

214

2020 2019
2020 2019%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥E T AREET T
Current portion: REE D
Trade creditors (note (a)) & BR 5k (Mf 3% () ) 218,683 188,214
Interest payables JE - F) B 1,302 1,190
Other payables and accruals HtwERIBREFER 60,958 74,655
Amounts due to related parties JE < B8 B 5 SR IB
(notes (b)(c)) (Fff FE (b)(c) ) 435,872 274,292
Financial liabilities measured at NS ATTENEREBE
amortised cost 716,815 538,351
Financial guarantee issued B eI B ER
(note 30(ii)) (B 35301 ) 2,378 5,810
719,193 544,161
Non-current portion: EREBIH :
Amounts due to related parties 5 BE B 5 1B (M 5E(c))
(note (c)) = 70,653
Financial guarantee issued 2 Hm B B ER
(note 30(ii)) (B 7E30(i) ) — 3,088
= 73,741
719,193 617,902
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

23 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
(Continued)

=

(@)

T_TEFH « BERERER

Ageing analysis of trade creditors included in trade

23

e %R XK EE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

571

\

(@)

(Br=HETHIH

Hfth B Y FRIR (4F)

AAREFITR)

MR2020F12 A31H X EERE S E

and other payables as at 31 December 2020, based NARBEBBHZENERGAES
on the date of the trade payables recognised: K B Ath FE 1~ 5K IE) MY BR R D AT ¢

2020 2019
20204 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T ARETFT
Within 3 months 31E A A 145,779 173,135
3 to 6 months 3Z61E A 16 1,363
6 to 12 months 6 121E A 53,542 29
Over 12 months 1218 A A 19,346 13,687
218,683 188,214

Current portion of the amounts due to related parties
are interest-free, unsecured and repayable on
demand.

Pursuant to the capital injection agreement between
Huizhou Yuefu and its equity holders signed on 25
June 2018 (the “Agreement”), an amount of
RMB65,443,000, representing the sum of the
retained profits as at 31 May 2018 and the
estimated unrealised gain arising from the unsold
inventories as at 31 May 2018, should be
distributed to the original equity holders at their
original equity interest in Huizhou Yuefu before the
capital injection. The balance was initially recognised
at fair value and subsequently stated at amortised
cost. The balance is unsecured and expected to be
settled upon disposal of the relevant inventories. The
balance with amount of RMB74,355,000 has been
reclassified to current liability as at 31 December
2020.

NE]

(b)

FEHF'W 77 RIAH ”i@JE‘ DER
CEER R BEREEE

BEEMNEEEHAREREAR
2018F6H25H % 5] M) )£ & ) =&
([#Z1#:%])  2018F5A831H 2 (R &
i F R2018F5A31IA 2 A ER &
MG RERRERBETARE
65,443,0007T F& 1R 15 )F & Al |R A #&
¥%—iﬁﬁ_/\}5ﬂ—iy$\d‘l‘l’I%?FEJ?HNEHZWJ
AEEDR BBV TIRAFERE
M'E&&%%&$ﬂnoﬁ%1
MM BETEAERERTEE L&
8 2 2020F12A31H ' £ AR
#74,355,000C E EF D EARD
afE-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MW R K

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(REBETHAIN - AARYEFITR)

24 LEASE LIABILITIES 24 HEEE
At 31 December 2020, the lease liabilities were repayable M2020%F12H31H - HEBEEHKENUT
as follows: I E AR -

2020 2019
20204 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® TR AR T T

Within 1 year 1A 474 —
After 1 year but within 2 years 1F B H2FE R 421 -
After 2 years but within 5 years 2F B EEENR 241 —
662 —

1,136 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

25 EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED

TRANSACTIONS

On 29 March 2019, 23,700,000 share options were
granted for nil consideration to the directors and certain
employees of the Group under the Company’s employee
share option scheme. The share options have a term of
10 years commencing from 29 March 2019, or until the
early termination of the share options in accordance with
the share option scheme. Each option gives the holder
the right to subscribe for one ordinary share of the
Company. These share options will vest in 3 equal
tranches in three years, and become exercisable until 28
March 2029. The exercise price is HKD1.362, being the
weighted average closing price of the Company’s ordinary
shares for five business days immediately preceding the
date of grant.

(@) The major terms and conditions of the share options
are as follows:

25

e UM%, KM EE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BREBETAIN - AAREFITR)

BEURODAERNRS

201943 A29A + 23,700,00017 & A% #E 18
BAARIESERESEATREST
BEERAEEEE - ZSEBEBRETR
201993 A29H #B10FN1T{#E * KB ER
EERESZIRIKRILEERE - 508
% A AT ?—rﬁ/\umﬁ% Hx$ a7 E R
B-ZEBREENR=ZFRND=_HEEE
2B 0 B 22029F3 28R A AI 1T fE ° 1T
FEA1.3628 T EEREBHR
FAEEHAQARIZLEKRZ MEFHK S

-

L)\ *E é n\l=l

(@) BESOETBHERRMEGDT

Number of
instruments  Vesting conditions Exercise period
TEZE HEFY T
Options granted to directors:
A 5 1K A S AR 4
— on 29 March 2019 5,000,000 1 year from the date of grant 29 March 2020 to
28 March 2029
— 201993H29H KHBHRE—F 202053 H29H &
20293 H28H
— on 29 March 2019 5,000,000 2 years from the date of grant 29 March 2021 to
28 March 2029
— 201943H29H R HHRMRE 202153 H29H &
202943 H28H
— on 29 March 2019 5,000,000 3 years from the date of grant 29 March 2022 to
28 March 2029
— 201953A29H RHEBHE=F 20223 A29R &
202953 H28H
Options granted to employees:
[ B % i /) BB iR
— on 29 March 2019 2,900,000 1 year from the date of grant 29 March 2020 to
28 March 2029
— 20195 3A29H REBHRE—F 20203 A29R =
202943 A28H
— on 29 March 2019 2,900,000 2 years from the date of grant 29 March 2021 to
28 March 2029
— 20199F3H29H R HHRERE 2021563A29H &=
202943 H28H
— on 29 March 2019 2,900,000 3 years from the date of grant 29 March 2022 to
28 March 2029
— 201993H29H REHBHE=F 202263 H29R &
202943 H28H
Total share options granted 23,700,000

R A B I R B

— g —

—E_TFEER c EWERBERAA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MR R M E

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(REBETHAIN - AARYEFITR)

25 EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED 25 UEBEEUROR/ERNRS
TRANSACTIONS (Continued) (4%&)
(b) Movement of share options during the year ended 31 (b) H E2020F12A31HILFE - &
December 2020 are as follows: IRESEWT :
Weighted
average Number of
exercise price options
hn#E
FIGITEE EREHE
000
15

Outstanding at 1 January 2019 R2019%1A1H H AR ITE — -

Granted during 2019 2019F A H HKD1.3627% 7T 23,700
Forfeited during 2019 2019%F A8 i HKD1.362/% 7T (1,500)
Outstanding at 7201912 A31H
31 December 2019 EENGRES HKD1.362%5 T 22,200
Outstanding at 1 January 2020 2020F1 A1E W ARTTHE  HKD1.362% 7T 22,200
Forfeited during 2020 FA20204 7958 Ut HKD1.3625% 7T (3,900)
Outstanding at 31 December 72020512 H31H
2020 CENGREE HKD1.362/% T 18,300
Exercisable at the end of 2020 2020F AR AJ 1T HKD1.362/% 7T 18,300
No options were exercised during the year ended 31 H E=2020F12A31H L FE W ETT
December 2020 (2019: nil). {58 {F {a] B AR # (20194F : &) o
The options outstanding at 31 December 2020 had 2020%F12 A31H » M A 171 BE I &
an exercise price of HKD1.362 and a weighted R1T1EE /1.362/8 7T + I F 9
average remaining contractual life of 8 years. BRE R HRBEF -
The Group recognised share-based payment HE2020F12A31B ILFE - A%
expenses of RMB2,163,000 during the year ended BEERROITEHIARE
31 December 2020 (2019: RMB4,087,000). 2,163,0007T (20194F : A R #&

4,087,0007T) °

218 Million Cities Holdings Limited ® Annual Report 2020



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
E %W R M)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB B ETHN - LAARKSIR)
25 EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED 25 URESEEURAABERNARS
TRANSACTIONS (Continued) (48 )
(c) Fair value of share options and assumptions (c) BRENLA2TFERRBRR

The fair value of services received in return for share
options granted is measured by reference to the fair
value of share options granted. The estimate of the
fair value of the share options granted is measured
based on a binomial lattice model. The contractual
life of the share option is used as an input into this
model. Expectations of early exercise are
incorporated into the binomial lattice model.

A B R T U ER B AR 7% X B
D2RERBBRENRQFEG
E-DROEBERENRFELRE
“HEAHBERAGE -BRENS
WEMBAERNRANEAZRE - 12
BTN EHEMA —EAHER
2 o

Fair value of share options and assumptions BREW A FEEREKXK
Fair value at measurement date (HKD) FTEHHNRFEGET 0.401-0.478
Share price (HKD) & & (B x) 1.330
Exercise price (HKD) TEECET) 1.362
Expected volatility (expressed as weighted average T8 8 & (A — 78 = 2f p #2 5K 44.22%
volatility used in the modelling under binomial FT R I F R IERT)
lattice model)
Option life (expressed as weighted average life TEEFEH (A BB ERER 10 years
used in the modelling under binomial lattice FrAmiEFEHFHRERR)
model)
Expected dividends T8 HR % B 4.06%
Risk-free interest rate R e B R 1.47%

The expected volatility is based on the historical
volatility of similar entities following a comparable
period in their (calculated based on the
weighted average remaining life of the share
options), adjusted for any expected changes to
future volatility based on publicly available
information. Expected dividends are based on the
mean dividend vyield of an appropriately comparable
peer group. Changes in the subjective input
assumptions could materially affect the fair value
estimate.

lives

Share options were granted under a service
condition. This condition has not been taken into
account in the grant date fair value measurement of
the services received. There were no market
conditions associated with the share option grants.

FER « BEUMERBERAF

BEHREDREFRAEER A R
P AT e B (32 8 B HE o0 # 7 19 &
HEHPFTE) NELIKETE iR
E N5 E L TR HR B9 (7] R RO
fEECHE - FERREDRIEES
FIEA LB FERERERE
TBERBERERNEGIABEBEZER
FEOMEE -

FERE D RIBRBIRMER L - e F
I AP BRI 3R H B 2 ey
RFEFE - BB &R
5 R 1F
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MW R K

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BB AT - BLARESR)

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
Current taxation in the consolidated
statement of financial position represents:

26

220

(a)

26 REEUBMRRRNFAED

(a) RES VBN RAEMHIRE :

2020 2019
20204 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T AR T T

CIT payable RS ¥R 1,695 13,361
LAT payable JE A L b I {E R 188,969 42,071
190,664 55,432

Prepaid tax in the consolidated statement of

financial position represents:

REGEHMBEMRIERNHER -

2020 2019
20204 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T ARBET T

Prepaid CIT N EMER 52,095 68,273
Prepaid LAT FEfT L E TR 19,455 25,686
71,550 93,959
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
frE MR M)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BREBETAIN - AAREFITR)

26 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 26 REGBEHMBERRERNWAMEBE (&
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(Continued)
(b) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised: (b) ERRELEHREEERAES:
(i) Movement of each component of deferred (i) EBEFBELE (B\)54AH
tax assets/(liabilities) 287 1Y 2 B
The components of deferred tax assets/ FARGZEEMBIRARANE
(liabilities) recognised in the consolidated RELEFRIBEEE (BE)M4A
statement of financial position and the RED REZEESHHET :

movements during the year are as follows:

Temporary Revaluation

Unused tax difference on Other
losses on revenue investment Unrealised Accrual for  temporary
(note) recognition  properties profits LAT differences Total
rBARE
BE RARRN Efy it L Hif

(WE) ERER RENR AERAAE BER  EHEE @it
RMB'0O0  RMB'0OO  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'O00  RMB'OO0  RMB'000
AREFTT ARETT ARETR ARETR ARETE ARETT ARETZ

Deferred tax arising from: BERERR
At 1 January 2019 R2019E1 B 1R 3,101 (29,423) @) - - 664 (30,369)
Credited/(charged) to profit or loss A/ (N E)
(note 8(a) EEGREEN 4,552 (2,854) 421 14,720 — (160) 16,679
At 31 December 2019 201912 A31A 7,653 (82,277) (4,290) 14,720 - 504 (13,690)
At 1 January 2020 R2020E1 B 18 7,653 (32,277) (4,200) 14,720 - 504 (13,690)
Credited/(charged) to profit or loss A/ (kR E)
(note 8(a) B (H3Esa) (1,059) 27,963 (74) 14,133 40,686 (107) 81,542
At 31 December 2020 R202012 8318 6,594 (4,314) (4,364) 28,853 40,686 397 67,852
Note: The unused tax loss can be carried forward to Mt : KRB TEE B8 A 45 8 A
offset against taxable profits of subsequent BHZERMEBEEEDN
years for up to five years from the year in FEBHARZAFAER
which they arose. These tax losses will expire ot vt K o 5% 55 B 18 B 18 %
between 2021 to 2025. 720214 20254 F| # ©

A
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MW R K

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB AT - BLARESR)

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised:
(Continued)

26

222

(b)

(i)

(ii)

Movement of each component of deferred
tax assets/(liabilities) (Continueq)
Reconciliation to the consolidated statement of
financial position:

26 R&z8E

(b)

BBARRROAER (&

CRAELEHBELEERAR:

&)

(i)

BEHEELE (BE)EHAK
B EE ()
iR MR IR B B

2020 2019
20204 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T AR T
Representing: K& :
Deferred tax assets REHRIEEE 71,655 17,199
Deferred tax liabilities EXERIEAE (3,803) (30,889)
67,852 (13,690)
Deferred tax liabilities not recognised (i) HABRYELFIEES E

As at 31 December 2020, deferred tax
liabilities in respect of the dividend withholding
tax relating to the distributable profits of the
Company’s subsidiaries were not recognised
as the Company controls the dividend policy of
the subsidiaries. Based on the assessment
made by management as at 31 December
2020, it was determined that the distributable
profits of the Company’s subsidiaries would
not be distributed to the Hong Kong and
overseas holding companies in the foreseeable
future. The amounts of distributable profits of
the Company’s subsidiaries are set out below:

Distributable profits earned
by PRC subsidiaries on or
after 1 January 2008

o B B 2 B
2008F1 A1H Sk 2 &
FREX &Y AT ) K Ok A

202012 H31H - AR
A)Ft B A~ B A] 1 93 R i F 89 A%
BENMAELERIEA EIL R
TR - AARRD AT Z
LK B AR AR EER o BB
E I B R2020F12A318 &
HEFE S ARENHB AR
S REFEE R TERA]
B RAEE KB IMER A T
DR o A RQFHT B A B A A] 4
Dk EF S REEINBAT

2020 2019
20205 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARE TR ARBETIT
564,849 317,783
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
frE MR M)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BRBETAN  UARBIIR)
27 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS 27 EX - RERRE
Movements in components of equity (a) EZAEAKBDL 22
The reconciliation between the opening and closing AEBIRAEEESENI DB
balances of each component of the Group’s NEIR G 2 E R R AR A
consolidated equity is set out in the consolidated mEHR - FYEFHBZ2EAR
statement of changes in equity. Details of the AERIESAEK T D E S FIBH
changes in the Company’s individual components of AT
equity between the beginning and the end of the
year are set out below:
Share
Share Share option  Exchange Accumulated
capital  premium reserves  reserves losses Total
REx  ROHEE BRERE EIRE RHER st
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETR ARETR ARETR ARET:R
Balance at 1 January 2019 R2019F1 B1H M 6,605 660,653 - (2,984) (21580) 642,694
Changes in equity for 2019 W19FNREEEH
Loss for the year ENEE - - - - (7,761) (7,761)
Other comprehensive income L2 EkE - - - 14,302 - 14,302
Total comprehensive income 2ENESE - - - 14,302 (7,761) 6,541
Equity settled share-based NEREEURDAER
transactions N5 - - 4,087 - - 4,087
Balance at 31 December 2019 R2019512A318 &
and 1 January 2020 202051510 Mt 6605 660,653 4087 11318 (20341) 653,322
Changes in equity for 2020 2020FMEREE
Loss for the year FRER - - = = (3,796) (3,796)
Other comprehensive income A2 ERE - - - (39,401) - (39,401)
Total comprehensive income 2ENELE = = = (39,401) (3,796) (43,197)
Equity settled share-based NEREEURNAER
transactions N5 = = 2,163 - - 2,163
Balance at 31 December 2020 120205123310 & ¢4 6,605 660,653 6,250 (28,083) (33,137) 612,288

=

T_TEFH « BERERER

NE]
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MR R M E

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(REBETHAIN - AARYEFITR)

27 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS 27 EX - -RERRE (&)
(Continued)
(b) Share capital (b) B
Authorised share capital of the Company: AKRAAZEERAK -
No. of shares Amount in
v = ok}
HKD
BT
Ordinary share of HKDO0.01 each & [%0.01/8 0 2 & MK
As at 1 January 2019, MR2019F1H1H
31 December 2019, 1 January 2019F12H31H -
2020 and 31 December 2020 2020FF1 H1H &
202012 A31H 2,000,000,000 20,000,000
The share capital as at 31 December 2019 and 2019%F 202012 8318 Z fx A%
2020, represented the share capital of the RARRZBA -
Company.
No. of shares Amount in Amount in
R4 E o] |
Ordinary shares, issued and fully paid: HKD RMB
ERTRBREEER: BT AR® T
As at 1 January 2019, 20191818
31 December 2019, 20194 12A318 »
1 January 2020 and 2020F1 A1 &
31 December 2020 2020%12A318 750,000,000 7,500,000 6,605,250
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E %W R M)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BREBETAIN - AAREFITR)

27 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS 27 EX-HERRE (&)

(Continued)
(c) Nature and purpose of reserves (c) REEMEREN
(i)  Statutory reserves () ZEZERE

According to the PRC Company Law, the
Company’s PRC subsidiaries are required to
transfer 10% of their profit after taxation, as
determined under the PRC accounting
regulations, to statutory surplus reserve until
the reserve balance reaches 50% of the
registered capital. The transfer to this reserve
must be made before distribution of a dividend
to shareholders.

Statutory surplus reserve can be used to
reduce previous years’ losses, if any, and may
be converted into paid-in capital in proportion
to the existing equity interest of investors.

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the
Group transferred RMB9,961,000 (2019:
RMB9,859,000) of the current year’s net profit
of the Group, as determined in accordance
with the PRC accounting rules and regulations,
to this reserve.

Share premium

Under the Companies Law of the Cayman
Islands, the funds in the Company’s share
premium account are distributable to the
shareholders provided that immediately
following the date on which the dividend is
proposed to be distributed, the Company will
be in a position to pay off its debts as they fall
due in the course of business.

Exchange reserves

The exchange reserves comprise all foreign
exchange differences arising from the
translation of the financial statements of Hong
Kong and foreign operations to RMB. The
reserves are dealt with in accordance with the
accounting policies set out in note 2(v).

FER « BEUMERBERAF

BIBEFBERRDE - ANAEH A
BIFfT B A R ZE MR TP B g5t
ROIETENRBEEF0%E
BEXITRBRGER BEEHE
ERED M EARS0% o 855
EuFEBEERFTRMGRE TR
%o

EERBRFEET AR ESF
BRE)  TARERRE
B IRIELL B8 R B BB -

HZE2020F 12318 LFE -
REBKBEPBESEHED R
BROIMEBEE 2 ANEBE F4F
A K #9,961,0007T (20194 :
A R #9,859,0007T ) ¥ # = 3%
{1 o

(i) KRGBEE
BRIBEREBRSATE WEER
BEREARREEBRAAAEESH
EEBBEREEDNRED -
IR AR AT AR B EBRES
A A% K B ©

(i) [E % 17 1E
N RERRRE RS XA
XBUBBRERBARERMES
B 2 B HNE = BE o xR IR MY
HoVFTEH B R ERR R IR o
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27 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS
(Continued)

226

(c)

(d)

Nature and purpose of reserves (Continueqd)

(iv) Share option reserve
Capital reserve comprises the portion of the
grant date fair value of unexercised share
options granted to employees of the company
that has been recognised in accordance with
the accounting policy adopted for share-based
payments in note 2(r)(iii).

Capital management

The Group’s primary objectives when managing
capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern, so that it can continue
to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for
other stakeholders, by pricing products and services
commensurately with the level of risk and by
securing access to finance at a reasonable cost.
The Group actively and regularly reviews and
manages its capital structure to maintain a balance
between the higher shareholder returns that might
be possible with higher levels of borrowings and the
advantages and security afforded by a sound capital
position, and makes adjustments to the capital
structure in light of changes in economic conditions.

The Group monitors its capital structure on the
basis of an adjusted net debt-to-capital ratio. For
this purpose, adjusted net debt is defined as
interest-bearing loans and borrowings and less cash
and cash equivalents. Adjusted capital comprises all
components of equity and the amounts due to
related parties (current portion).

27 EXR--FHERERE (&)

(c)

(d)

HEMEERBN(E)

(iv)] BRERE
B 7N 5 B T AR IR BT FE2(r) i)
BEOABR (9 B BT A9 1 SR P R 4%
FEBREROE T AR AE
BHARITEBERENKLEAH
NEEED o

EXERE

AEEEAEEZEZHENRE
AEEREFELCE EBRYERR
RAGVEL EEBKFAEBZ EE R
BRANGEKANERE HEA
BRIBHE R BEMIFGHEER

s
E

AREEES N ERHEEREER
BRI RER UERSKRRDR
BRATAREHEZRSEEKTHE
RFERARRSE R Z FERREZ
FEUS T8 WRBELEMRE
HEAEBIELHAE -

AREENEHBFEEEARALXRRS
EEEREEANEB -HILME -
RAEFEERERFEERRE
ERBEehReFTEY LHABE
B FE P A AR R AP oy Ko JE 1 R B

RIBORB A D

~—

o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

27 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS
(Continued)

(d)

(e)

Capital management (Continued)
The Group’s adjusted net debt-to-capital ratio at 31
December 2020 was as follows:

e MR KK &

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BmARTBAN - LMARKESTR)

27 EXR--HERRKRE (&)

(d BEXREHE(Z)

7R & B R2020FE 12 A31 A ) & 3 8
FRBEEALLRAEHT

2020 2019
20204 20194
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
B E AR TR ARETF T
Bank loans RITER 22 368,537 313,102
Less: Cash and BoRERREEEY
cash equivalents 21(a) (366,309) (731,909)
Adjusted net debt/ RAEFEE (B
(cash) 2,228 (418,807)
Total equity HETE A 1,168,667 924,883
Add: Amounts due to oo FEAT R EE 5 SR
related parties 361,517 274,292
Adjusted capital KARBREAR 1,530,184 1,199,175
Adjusted net debt-to- KHABRFEFEEARLE
capital ratio 0.15% N/A A i A
Dividends (e) BE

No dividends have been declared or paid by the
Company and its subsidiaries during the year ended
31 December 2020. On 29 March 2021, the Board
resolved not to recommend a final dividend for the
year ended 31 December 2020 (2019: Nil).

FEH « EWERBERAT

B £2020F12A31B L FEE  ARQ
AR EM B R E I E S R =K
B o A2021F3H29H - EEERH
K & £2020F12 8318 1
FEZARHAKE (2019F 1 T) -
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28 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS

Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate and currency

228

risks arises in the normal course of the Group’s business.

The Group’s exposure to these risks and the financial risk
management policies and practices used by the Group to
manage these risks are described below.

(a)

Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will
default on its contractual obligations resulting in a
financial loss to the Group. The Group’s credit risk
is primarily attributable to trade and other
receivables. The Group’s exposure to credit risks
arising from cash and cash equivalents and other
financial assets are limited because these financial
assets held by the Group are mainly deposited in
financial institutions such as commercial banks
which maintain sound reputation and financial
situation, for which the Group considers to have low
credit risk.

In respect of trade debtors, the Group’s exposure to
credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual
characteristics of each customer rather than the
industry or country in which the customers locate or
operate and therefore significant concentrations of
credit risk primarily arise when the Group has
significant exposure to individual
However, there are no significant concentrations of
credit risk within the Group during the year.

customers.

28

TREAREEREMIAQNTE

AEBREFEBBETAREE R
HEL MEREBERAR -

AEE AR El B KA K EE %
FREAEANEHEAREERR LT
MER T -

(a) FERR
EERRESEFIEREAGNER
MeAREERZMBEROER
AEENEERBRIEREES R
H b FE M R IR - AN R B [ e 2R B 3R
SRBeEBYUREMEREE
MEERRER RERAKEFRR
HENZEEREETBRZFENRE
XRTEFCHEE 2SS RKE
SERMEMBARRE A5E
RAREERBRIE-

EBERM S AREEBKNE
ERkEBEX ST A E B 5 F AT
FE MIERPARENITERMN
ERBR - FLE A& B & E 5
EEMERERE SELERES
RHEERR AT FRAE
EESEETNEERAR -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
E %W R M)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BREBETAIN - AAREFITR)

28 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND 28 sRiEKREEREMIAATE

FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL (&)

INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(a) Credit risk (Continued) (a) EERKE)
The Group measures loss allowances for trade AEEERERZ2HABHEREX
debtors at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs, which NEeHEARKERRAEEHEBREE
is calculated using a provision matrix that includes TEEERBRERREERGTE -
the overdue status of each of the trade debtors. As ARERSEEKEKERN SRS
of 31 December 2020, no trade debtors were past W o R2020F12A31H » AN % & I
due (2019: nil). The Group normally receives full =R BR 58 HA (20194 @ &) - K
payment from buyers before the hand-over of the SE—HBRBRXYERMEF K
property. For mortgage sales with sales proceeds EHFB -RERBHLENEER
not yet fully settled, the Group would not hand-over HNRBEENS  AEEBETE
the property to the customers unless it obtains BRXMETEP  BRIFWIKRE R
confirmation from the banks providing mortgage that HIEBZRITHERE BREH
the respective mortgages have been approved. In BIBEEME - It AEEER
addition, the Group would not transfer titles of the WR2HEEMGHRIEER 7 a2#
properties to the customers until full amount of sales MEXEBIBZEFP Bt - A&
proceeds are received. Accordingly, the Group is of REETEEIREEBETOES
the view of that the expected irrecoverable trade RAK - 5 30 £ 3t 8 UKBR SRR R 4
debtors were insignificant. Thus no bad debt R o
provision for trade debtors was recognised during
the year.
In respect of other debtors and amounts due from A HL At & Us B TR % 8 Ui B ek 05 SRR
related parties, the Group has assessed that the ms AEBEERETZEAEH
expected credit loss are not significant under the 12 EEIZIECEHERBERELTE
months expected losses method. Thus no bad debt A B FE R R IE R -

provision was recognised during the year.

Except for the financial guarantees given by the B Bt 5 30FT & AN & B 1 9 BF 75 &
Group as set out in note 30, the Group does not RN REE W B4 T EMEASE
provide any other guarantees which would expose RBEEASEEREERR -

the Group to credit risk.
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28 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

230

(b)

Liquidity risk

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor its liquidity
requirements and its compliance with lending
covenants, to ensure that it maintains sufficient
reserves of cash and adequate committed lines of
funding from major financial institutions to meet its
liquidity requirements in the short and long terms.

The following table details the remaining contractual
maturities at the end of the reporting period of the
Group’s financial liabilities, which are based on
contractual undiscounted cash flows (including
interest payments computed using contractual rates
or, if floating, based on current rates at the end of
the reporting period) and the earliest date the Group
can be required to pay.

For bank loans subject to repayment on demand
clause which can be exercised at the bank’s sole
discretion, the maturity analysis shows the cash
outflow based on expected repayment dates with
reference to the schedule of repayments set out in
the banking facilities letter and, separately, the
impact to the timing of the cash outflow if the
lenders were to invoke unconditional rights to call the
loans with immediate effect.

TREAREEREMIAQNTE

(&)

(b)

B R B

FEENBERKCFEERDER
FRURREREEREZLHHRTE -
BREFAUORHE REE
SEESHBBARIRERANE
A& UWENREBRSHESE

TRAFREHARAEERAE
MRBHREWEMBE  DERAGHR
MRASRE(BRERASOMNE
AAENMENR  ERFBH X
AIRBREBRORTH REFH)
MAKENRPEEAFTSE -

HRRTA2ENBERERENR
TER YO MBR2ERITR
BRFEENRGEENBHEER
HIR 3R &% th S 8 SR TT 8 | AR 1
18 B SRS B1E SR IR &R B

= 48
R 2 o
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28 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND

=

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MR KK &

FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b)

=
=

Liquidity risk (Continued)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BmARTBAN - LMARKESTR)

28 sRIEREERETMIAQNTE

(b)

==
==

=

1=

B MR B (AF)

Contractual undiscounted cash outflow

ENREBRBRER
Total More than
contractual 1 year but
Carrying undiscounted Within 1 year less than
amount cash flow or on demand 2 years
EHRER —FR% —FpE
REE RERELE ZFAREREE ERFEUAR
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR AR TR AR TR AR TR
At 31 December 2020 #2020%12H31H
Bank loans RITER 368,537 386,357 331,874 54,483
Trade and other payables B 5 KE A FE T 38
(exclude the financial (TEERBER)
guarantee) 716,815 716,815 716,815 =
Amounts due to related parties J& < BB 5 ROR
(non-current portion) (EREE D) - - - -
1,085,352 1,103,172 1,048,689 54,483
Adjustments to present cash flows ~ ERERAEFRKER
on bank loans based on MRITERARE
lender’s right to demand ERRER
repayment (1,191) 53,292 (54,483)
1,101,981 1,101,981 -
Financial guarantee issued: BEELOHTBER:
Maximum amount guaranteed ZEaEREE
(note 30) (M 3£30) 2,378 626,945 626,945 —
FER o BHIERARAA 231
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e MR R M E

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(Br=HETH -
28 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND

AANRESIR)

FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

28
(&)

(b)

TREAREEREMIAQNTE

B MR B (AF)

Contractual undiscounted cash outflow

232

ANRERRERL
More than
Total contractual More than 2 years but less
Carrying undiscounted ~ Within 1 year or 1 year but less than
amount cash flow on demand than 2 years 5 years
BRIREH —ERK —FE RMEN L
FHE ReR=2LsE AREKEER ERMEFNA  EBRFEHURX
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT AREFT
At 31 December 2019 120195127318
Bank loans RIER 313,102 333,649 183,648 128,050 21,851
Trade and other payables (exclude ZHREMERTE
the financial guarantee) (TEENBER) 538,351 538,351 538,351 - -
Amounts due to related parties (non- & BB 5 2B
current portion) (¥RBHH) 70,653 76,247 - - 76,247
922,106 948,147 721,999 128,050 98,098
Adjustments to present cash flows EREFAELERN
on bank loans based on lender's BROBERALER
right to demand repayment RN (5,261) 144,640 (128,050) (21,851)
942,836 866,639 - 76,247
Financial guarantee issued: BREHMBBER:
Maximum amount guaranteed SRERSE (330
(note 30) 8,898 881,161 66,237 814,924 -
(c) Interest rate risk (c) FI=PE b
The Group’s interest rate risk arises primarily from AEEOFNERREZRRIZZE
bank loans issued at variable rates that expose the FERENBRITER  FAEEE

Group to cash flow interest rate risk. The Group
does not use financial derivatives to hedge against
the interest rate risk. The Group defines “net
borrowings” as being interest-bearing financial
liabilities less interest-bearing investments. The
Group’s interest rate profile as monitored by
management is set out in (i) below.

RESRMNERRER - AEEILEE
REmiTE T RS HFRER - K
SEBNFEEIERR/FTEEZRE
BERAERRE -BEEEEENASE
B R AT B T () e
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e MR KK &
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(BREBETAIN - AAREFITR)

28 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND 28 sREAREERESMITAENFE
FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL (#&
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(c) Interest rate risk (Continued) (c) M=Ek(Z)
(i) Interest rate profile (i) FIEHR
The following table details the interest rate risk THRFAVNREBERRBEH
profile of the Group’s borrowings at the end of N 2= b O

reporting period:

2020 2019

20205 20195

Effective interest rate Effective interest rate

BEBRA= kS
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥ TR ARETFT

Variable rate borrowings: RPN X EMER

Bank loans BITER at one-year LPR plus 368,537 110% and 130% of 313,102

1.2% to 2.125% per RMB Loan Benchmark

annum Rate or at one-year

—FHERERFEM LPR plus 1.2%

F£81.2%%2.125% per annum

ARBERERER X

#9110% %130% 3k

—FHERERRE

MEL1.2%
Total ok 368,537 313,102
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(Br=HRTAM
28 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(c) Interest rate risk (Continued)

234

(i)

AANRESIR)

Sensitivity analysis

At 31 December 2020, if the interest rate
increased by 50 basis points, with all other
variables held constant, the Group’s profit after
tax and retained profits would have decreased
by approximately RMB1,382,000 (2019
RMB1,174,000). And if the interest rate
decreased by 50 basis points, with all other
variables held constant, the Group’s profit after
tax and retained profits would have increased
by approximately RMB1,382,000 (2019:
RMB1,174,000).

In respect of the net exposure to cash flow
interest rate risk arising from floating bank
loans held by the Group at the end of the
reporting period, the impact on the Group’s
profit after tax and total equity is estimated as
an annualised impact on interest expense or
income of such a change in interest rates. The
analysis is performed on a same basis for
2019.

The sensitivity analysis above assumes that the
change in interest rates had occurred at the
end of the reporting period and had been
applied to all floating rate bank loans without
taking into account the impact of interest
capitalisation.

(d) Currency risk
The Group is not exposed to significant foreign
currency risk since financial assets and liabilities
denominated in currencies other than the functional
currencies of the Group are not significant.

TREAREEREMIAQNTE

B (4)

(i)

BB E S
72020512 4318 » i F| =& +
FEOMEERL - MATH Efb &
BRHTE  AEBRBRBEEF
&1%5/@%'JHT}/W/,\@AEM
1,382,0007T (20194 : A R #&
1,174,0007T) © fis] F| &= T B&50
1I%E£ M BT A i B S 4 5
B KAEERBE SN RR
E.é’;‘ﬁ%IJH\ BMAHOARK
1,382,0007¢ (20194 : A R #&
1,174,0007T) °

RAEERREARAFEF
BRITEREANR S MANE

B R 2 F B Bk - REERR
HERNEEESZINTE
&t A £l 1) 3= & 8 ¥ R B 5
XEBRANFLZE - DT E
AEE019F FTERAE MR o

b R 4T R 5 S 7 3R
SHKEH BCEANFE
B BB AT B - 3 4m A RR
REK(LHHE -

B E

AREBEY EAZBERIMNER - T)
HRAKREBIEE S UINEEF
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28 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND 28 ¢cRiIEREEREMIAENAYE
FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL (%)
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(e) Fair values (e) AF¥E
(i)  Financial instruments measured at fair () BELXrFEFAENEHTIA
value

RFEER

TRZE(EBYBRELERNE
13 A FEFEFMREN =
ANEEER  WREAEE S/
TERBREHRECETFEND
FE - RFEAEMEANE
RM2RBEERIMET AR A2
MABRHEREEMHET A

Fair value hierarchy

The following table presents the fair value of
the Group’s financial instruments measured at
the end of the reporting period on a recurring
basis, categorised into the three-level fair value
hierarchy as defined in HKFRS 13, Fair value
measurement. The level into which a fair value
measurement is classified is determined with

reference to the observability and significance B
of the inputs used in the valuation technique
as follows:
—  Level 1 Fair value measured using only - F1ER EFERABE1LHA
valuations: Level 1 inputs i.e. unadjusted BE: 2HBIRHEH
quoted prices in active markets HEREENXE
for identical assets or liabilities BREB ™M H
at the measurement date BECREHE))
FENATFE
—  Level 2 Fair value measured using Level - F2EH FEABRBAZ
valuations: 2 inputs i.e. observable inputs g 2B A& F1
which fail to meet Level 1, and RBENTER
not using significant BAZE - MAT
unobservable inputs. THREZAAE
Unobservable inputs are inputs R2H)FEND
for which market data are not FE o AR ERE
available ABEERZM
BZEEBENE AL
2
—  Level 3 Fair value measured using - Z3EHR FRAEEFAEH
valuations:  significant unobservable inputs mE: BE@ALHTE

In 2020, there were no transfers among Level
1, Level 2 and Level 3 (2019: nil).

Z_TEFR o BRERERAF

HATE
2020%F © 1Ak ~ 28k & #3

& 2 M &' E (20194 ¢
) o
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28 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(e) Fair values (Continued)

(ii)

Fair value of financial assets and liabilities
carried at other than fair value

The carrying amount of the Group’s financial
instruments carried at amortised cost are not
materially different from their fair value as at 31
December 2020, except the amounts due to
related parties which are interest-free,
unsecured and repayable on demand. Given
these terms it is not meaningful to quantify
their fair value and therefore they are stated at
cost.

29 COMMITMENTS
Capital commitments outstanding at 31 December 2020
not provided for in the financial statements were as

follows:

28

cREREEEREMIAEAYE
(&
(e) 2AFEE)

(i) WHEZELFEINENEBEE
REGBHAFE
2020912 A31H » AEEL#
ERATIERMNSR T AMNER
BEEEAFEITESAK=R
HENEB A RBEARS &
HIFRBREREE - BRZ
LEF HEAFEZERTE
=% AZERBEAKEG
lé@ o

29 EiE
R B 7% i 2% 15 /92020F 12 A31 B 14
REFBEREEMDT :

2020
202045

2019
2019%F
RMB’000
AR®ETIT

RMB’000
AR® TR

Contracted for:
Construction and development

BERIA)
BERERAN

contracts

609,992 617,903

Commitments mainly related to development costs for the
Group’s properties under development.
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30 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 30 HAREE
()  During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group () H ZE2020F12A31H ILFE » A&

has issued guarantees to banks to secure the
mortgage arrangements of certain property buyers.
The outstanding guarantees to the banks, amounting
to RMB274,644,000 as at 31 December 2020
(2019: RMB765,881,000), will be terminated upon
the completion of transferring the legal title of the
properties to the property buyers. The directors
consider loss arising from these guarantees as a
result of default payment by customers to be
insignificant, as the banks have the rights to sell the
property and recover the outstanding loan balance
from sales proceeds. The Group has not recognised
any deferred income in respect of these guarantees
as their fair values are considered to be
insignificant.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group
provided guarantee to secure the bank loan
borrowed by an associate of the Group (see note
31(e)). The total banking facility secured by this
guarantee was RMB1,450,000,000 (2019:
RMB1,450,000,000) and the outstanding loan
balance was RMB600,000,000 (2019:
RMB779,900,000) as at 31 December 2020. The
pbank loan is also jointly guaranteed by another
shareholder of the associate and secured by the
inventories of the associate. Deferred income in
respect of the financial guarantee issued is disclosed
in note 23.

FER « BEUMERBERAF

EpETERRBERBEDWER
1T HE & (R - 202012 A 31
H RTHBITERAAREK
274,644,0007T (20194F © A R ¥
765,881,0007T) ' B A ER KR
XETEBEEETERERIE-F
ERB AEETZEERERK
EHMEXEAEX  RERMEXR
WRRIE RITEELEDE - A
HEMSHRBEEREEE RS
BHRoAEEHARZSERBERME
AEERA  BARBERFER
NRE -

B £2020F12A31B L FE - A&
ERmeE  RRITEERHEER
(R Bt 5E31(e)) o 2020512 A31
H ZERTHEITHRELBEAA
R #1,450,000,0007C (20194F : A
R ¥1,450,000,0007T) * A B & &
o % B A R %600,000,0007T
(20194 : A R #779,900,0007T) °
BRITERTHBEERANS —BRE
HEER  UBE QRN TFEER
- BEREENPBEEROELTKRA
B FE23H B o
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(REBETHAIN - AARYEFITR)

31 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY 31 EXBEEBAIRS
TRANSACTIONS
In addition to the related party information disclosed REMBEMABEE @B ERIN - K
elsewhere, the Group entered into the following material SETVUTEREBAIRS -

related party transactions.

(a) Transactions with key management personnel (a) EXEEBEEBAENXRS
Remuneration for key management personnel of the AEEFZEBEAENHFHMOT

Group is as follows:

2020 2019
20204 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® TR AR T T

Salaries, wages and other Fe IEREMER

benefits 6,050 7,888
Retirement scheme RIRET &I 5K

contributions 59 77
Share-based payment AR 1D B ER AN R 1,705 2,628

7,814 10,593
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
frE MR M)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BREBETAIN - AAREFITR)

31 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY 31 EXEBAEXRSE (&
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)
(b) Transactions with related parties (b) HEBMINXS

2020 2019
20204 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® TR AR T T

Lease of properties* MEHEE"
— an entity controlled by — QB R AR AR SRR
controlling shareholder of HE 88
the Company 186 71
Accommodation services EEXTERBE
received*
— an entity controlled by — N A A% A% BR A
controlling shareholder of NE B
the Company 1,577 1,687
Purchase of goods* BEEM
— an entity controlled by — 7R AR A A% R A
controlling shareholder of HE 8
the Company 4 107
* These related party transactions constitute connected . ZEWBAR5ELETHRAUE
transactions or continuing connected transactions as VAR TR RIE X 5 A5 B &
defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. RPN ARREXZBR

TR B SB14A.76(1) {5 7 E M T
EHREREKFHRS - WERH
REBF EMRAFI4AZ R R
HIE e

However these transactions are exempt from the
disclosure requirements in Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules as they fall into the definition of de
minimis transactions under Listing Rule 14A.76(1).

“EEER o BHERARAA 239
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MW R K

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(REBETHAIN - AARYEFITR)

31 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY 31 EXBEBAIRS (&Z)

TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(c) Balances with related parties (c) EERAEES VA ER
Balances with related parties as at 31 December R2020% 12 A31 H B2 B8 B 75 1Y 45 5%
2020 are detailed as follows: =R
Amounts due from related parties recorded in other 50 8% 70 E A FE W R IE R A B & A A
receivables and interests in associates and joint k& %" A) 2 7 2= B JE UK B Bt 5 K
ventures: 18 :
Non-trade in nature HFEZMHE

2020 2019
2020 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® TR ARETTT

Amounts due from associates®  J& U B & A B sk 1B 260,236 108,768
Amounts due from joint FEUW A & B B FIR
ventures - 59,456
Amounts due from JE W I ¥ R HE 2 SR IE
non-controlling interests* 24,545 -
284,781 168,224
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
frE MR M)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BREBETAIN - AAREFITR)

31 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY 31 EXREBRAEXE (&

TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(c) Balances with related parties (Continued) (c) EEBEE TR (E)
Non-trade in nature (Continued) HEZMHE(E)
Amounts due to related parties recorded in other 50 8% A E th B A5 3R IE B9 JE S B B

payables: TRIE

HEZIMHE (Ki21(c))

Non-trade in nature (note 21(c))

2020 2019
2020 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT AR®TTT

Amounts due to JE A JE 2 % 2 5K TR

non-controlling interests* 306,854 308,093
Amount due to controlling JFE A 42 % A% 3R AR

shareholder 38,679 36,739
Amount due to entities JE A5 S 1 B AR AR 3R BT 2

controlled by controlling ERNIE

shareholder of the Company 339 113
Amount due to associates & < B & N Bl 308 90,000 —

435,872 344,945
# Financial assistance provided to Gold Concept & [ 7~ £ B B 2% A R]Gold  Concept

Group, an associate of the Group, with amount of
RMB107,452,000 and to non-controlling interests
constitute connected transactions or continuing
connected transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules. However those transactions are
exempt from the disclosure requirements in Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules for the following reasons: (i)
such financial assistance is on normal commercial
terms or better, and (i) such financial assistance is
provided in proportion to the equity interest directly
held by the Group and its subsidiary in the
connected person under Rule 14A.89.

Financial assistance received from related parties
constitute connected transactions or continuing
connected transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules. However those transactions are
exempt from the disclosure requirements in Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules for the following reasons: (i)
such financial assistance is on normal commercial
terms or better, and/or (i) no security over the
Group’s assets is granted in respect of such
financial assistance under Rule 14A.90.

—TEER « BRERERAR

SERENVBEBDARKE
107,452,0007T A % ) FF 22 A% 42 =5
RENMBEPBR LHHRAUSF
YAEFMRATNHEER ZHIFE
BMERXS - AMm ERUTE
B ZEXFERBET ETH
BISB14AE M) B B 45 7 ¢ ()4 B8 BF
BEDRIZ — M EGREEE
AR RNAEE TS E B
B E14ABAIEFTIEBIEAER K H
MEBARRZBEATEERS
B AR 4 Lb 4 it o

HEATESNUBEENBR L
MRAFELAZEFT AT BAER
SUBFBERERS - R ER
NTRE ZEXRHERRET
FHRBFE4AZENHEERTE ()
RS B B2 — AR E IR
5 B ER R IR A 0 R34 B8
B 1% & B) 75 & SB14A.9015 Fr #5 30
MUAREERNE EEHRIF -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MR R M E

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(REBETHAIN - AARYEFITR)

31 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

242

(d)

(e)

Bank loans guaranteed by related parties

As at 31 December 2020, the secured bank loan of
RMB137,917,000 (2019: RMB103,362,000)
guaranteed by a minority shareholder.

was

Guarantee issued to related party

As at 31 December 2020, the Group provided
guarantee to secure the loan borrowed by the
Group’s Associate, Huizhou Well Kong. The total
banking facility granted to Huizhou Well Kong is
RMB1,450,000,000 (2019: RMB1,450,000,000) and
the outstanding bank loan balance as at 31
December 2020 amounted to RMB600,000,000
(2019: RMB779,900,000). Deferred
respect of the financial guarantee issued is disclosed
in note 23.

income in

31 EXEBERS (&)

(d)

(e)

BB ERNEBITER

H2020F12A31H » AR ¥137,917,000
TL(2019%F @ A R #108,362,0007T) A9
BEPIRITERR BB RER -

B ER

2020512 A31H » A & & 7t B &
ARAEMNBENEERBER &
FTEMEBENRITBREBEAAR
#£1,450,000,0007C (20195 : A R
#1,450,000,0007T) * 202012 A
SITEMAEERTEREBAAR
#600,000,0007T (20194 : A R ¥
779,900,0007T) ° B B B % H &9 BF
TS &R 093 ST YR A A B 51233 55 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e %R XK EE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BREBETAIN - AAREFITR)

32 COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF 32 NFAIEEMBMRRE
FINANCIAL POSITION
2020 2019
20204 20194
No\te RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5 AR®T AR T T
Non-current assets kRBEE
Property, plant and equipment 12 - M= L& & 44 139
Investments in subsidiaries R EARRIEE 14 547,516 569,330
Interest in associates/(joint REE QB (&% Q7
ventures in 2019) (2019%)) W #E = 42 44
547,602 569,513
Current assets REBEE
Prepayments TR R IE 103 250
Cash and cash equivalents BehIReEED 64,622 83,635
64,725 83,885
Current liabilities REBEE
Other payables H b FE A 3R 39 76
39 76
Net current assets REBEEFE 64,686 83,809
NET ASSETS EEFE 612,288 653,322
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BEAXKRREE
Share capital fig 2= 27(b) 6,605 6,605
Reserves (ke 605,683 646,717
TOTAL EQUITY A 612,288 653,322
Approved and authorised for issue by the board of EE 22 M2021F3 298 #t & & 5% # 7

==

directors 29 March 2021.

Wong Ting Chung
ITER
Director

EFE

“ECTFEFER e BEUMERERAF

?éfo

Lau Ka Keung
Y
Director

EFE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B ISR MR (&)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(REBETHAIN - AARYEFITR)
33 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 33

The particulars of the principal subsidiaries as at 31

FEWE QT
#H £2020F12H31H T EZHE A Al HY

December 2020 are set out below:

HBINHMT

Proportion of
ownership interest
BREREZLY
Date and place of Particulars of
incorporation/ issued and paid-in Held by the Held by a
Company name establishment capital Company subsidiary  Principal activity
SRR/ ERTR N WEAAE
DNEER B BB R 5 BRRAFE <2 5E FEEH
Million Cities Development Limited 4 August 2016 usD10 100% — Investment holding
BVI
BRNERERAT 201648748 10%7T 100% - RERRK
EBAARES
Million Cities (Int'l) Limited 29 May 2007 HKD100 - 100%  Investment holding
Hong Kong
B (ER)BERAR 200754298 100 7T - 100% REZK
BE
Winnermax Holdings Limited 22 March 2006 usD10 - 100%  Investment holding
BV
BRERER A 20063 4228 10%7T - 100% BREZK
EBARARES
China Field Investment Limited 17 January 2003 HKD100 - 100%  Investment holding
Hong Kong
EEREARATA 200351A178 1007 7T - 100% HEZR
BB
Gheer Happy (H.K.) Limited 22 April 2005 HKD100 - 100%  Investment holding
Hong Kong
RR(BE)ERAA 200564 A228 1007 7T - 100% REZER
BE
China Lands Investments Limited 7 February 2011 HKD10,000 - 55%  Investment holding
Hong Kong
PEAMRERRAA 201152R7H 10,0007 7T - 55% BEER
BB
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
E %W R M)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BREBETAIN - AAREFITR)

33 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 33 FEHBE AT (E)

Proportion of
ownership interest

BEREERLH
Date and place of Particulars of
incorporation/ issued and paid-in Held by the Held by a
Company name establishment capital Company subsidiary  Principal activity
AL/ ERTR NN il PN
AR AR BB H R BRBRAFE 2] 85 TEIH
Join Kong (H.K.) Limited 23 June 2010 HKD10,000 - 55%  Investment holding
Hong Kong
BB (BB)ARRA 2010%6A23H 10,0007 7T - 55% REER
B
Maxway (H.K.) Limited 15 March 2019 HKD1 - 50%  Investment holding
Hong Kong
RE (BB ERAR 201943/ 15H 18T - 50% HEER
B
Million Cities Construction (China) Co., 15 December 2016 RMB50,000,000 - 100%  Investment holding
Ltd. PRC
BHRR(PE)ERR A 2016512 A15H AR #:50,000,0007 - 100% ®REZR
#
Huizhou Million Cities Enterprise 31 May 2018 RMB10,000,000 - 100%  Investment holding
Management Co., Ltd. PRC
ENBRAXERREBRAA 2018454310 A K %10,000,0007 - 100% ®EER
#
Huizhou Yuefu Real Estate Co., Ltd. 29 April 2006 RMB38,000,000 4.99% 90.4%  Property
PRC development
BT EERERRAR" 200654 A29R AR #38,000,0007 4.99% 90.4% WMEELE
H
Huizhou China Field Real Estate 8 April 2003 HKD68,000,000 - 100%  Property
Development Co., Ltd. PRC development
EMEERHERBERAR 200344 A8H 68,000,000% 7T - 100% WEEE
#
Huizhou Cheer Happy Real Estate 6 April 2006 USD12,000,000 - 100%  Property
Development Co., Ltd. PRC development
EMNEREHREREERAR" 200654 A6H 12,000,000 7T - 100% WEEE
t

“ECTFEFER e BEUMERERAF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

GEMBHRERNEHE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB - UARKESIR)

33 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

33 FEMEB AT (&

Proportion of
ownership interest

BEREERLH
Date and place of Particulars of
incorporation/ issued and paid-in Held by the Held by a
Company name establishment capital Company subsidiary  Principal activity
AL/ ERTR N il PN
NRER B AR BERBRE 2] BE FEEH
Huizhou Million Cities Real Estate 10 May 2001 RMB52,500,000 5% 49.5%  Property
Development Co., Ltd. PRC development
BENTEREHEREARAA 200145 H10R AR %52,500,0007C 5% 495% WMEER
#
Million Cities Jianji Real Estate (Tianjin) 18 August 2010 USD70,000,000 - 55%  Property
Co., Ltd. PRC development
ENREBR(RE)ERDAN 20106°8A18H 70,000,000% 7T - 55% MEER
i
Guangdong Hongtuo Construction Co., 21 September 2018 RMB40,080,000 - 50%  Construction
Ltd. PRC services
ERARREEBR A 2018%9A21H A #40,080,0007 - 50% RERHK
#
Huizhou Weihuisheng Real Estate Co., 10 August 2020 RMB240,000,000 - 100%  Property
Ltd. PRC development
EMNEEREXBRAR" 202048 A10H A %240,000,0007C - 100% MEEE
#
Huizhou Chuangweihuifu Real Estate Co., 04 April 2020 RMB300,000,000 80%  Property
Ltd. PRC development
BMEIBESERARAR" 202064 A48 AR #300,000,0007C - 80% MEER
#
* These entities are PRC limited liability companies. The ) REERBRTEARATAR - AAIR
English translation of the company names is for reference XNEREHRSE TXEREHEW -

only. The official names of the companies are in Chinese.

& N EER2019F7A U R B AR
3,680,000 W iEZE RS - ZEBRIE
HOWA A EEREBBEETEZRERER
ReEEY AR, 1250007T « #E
WMERIZEREMFERTDEEARE
6,078,0007T « H fth i B) & E A R ¥
149,000t & B 5 Rk E b FE R RIE AR
#11,672,0007C °

# The Group acquired this entity in July 2019 at a
consideration of RMB3,680,000. The identifiable assets
and liabilities of this entity at the acquisition date mainly
included cash and cash equivalent of RMB9,125,000,
property, plant and equipment and other non-current
assets of RMB6,078,000, other current assets of
RMB149,000 and trade and other
RMB11,672,000.

payables of
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

IMMEDIATE AND ULTIMATE
CONTROLLING PARTY

At 31 December 2020, the directors consider the
immediate parent of the Group to be Fortune Speed
Investments Limited which was incorporated in the BVI
and the ultimate controlling party of the Group to be
Happy Family Trust. Fortune Speed Investments Limited
does not produce financial statements available for public
use.

POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS,
NEW STANDARDS AND
INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED BUT NOT YET
EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31
DECEMBER 2020

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the
HKICPA has issued a number of amendments and a new
standard, HKFRS 17, /nsurance contracts, which are not
yet effective for the year ended 31 December 2020 and
which have not been adopted in the financial statements.
These developments include the following which may be
relevant to the Group.

e %R XK EE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BREBETAIN - AAREFITR)

EERBRERTA

2020%F12H31H " EERBAEEE#E
BRARAAREBHBRESEMN L2
WMAKREAERRAA AEBMNHEER
FARBEREF -WREEBRAFIL
EBRAAEARER M BHRE -

B £2020F12A31B L FEEE B
1B S R ENHIERT ~ F5] E A
LRENOREE

BHEMBRERTEZBH SESHMA
SEEMZEET R —EFTEAKES
MR EEADFITHREAR LA BEHE
20205F12AB1H IEFE MR ER - &
R BERERER ZEERBIE LN
AEBHBHUTEIE-

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after
RUTHER &S
WETHBEER

Amendments to HKFRS 3, Reference to the Conceptual Framework

(BRMBHRELEADEIRNER — P2 MEEXZEL

Amendments to HKFRS 16, Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before
Intended Use

(BEAUMBRELEADF1RNES — WF  BELR
BT 2 Bl < AT 2 sk B

Amendments to HKAS 37, Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfiling a

Contract
BB EREITRAER] — BEEMELY — BTEAIIHKAE

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020 Cycle
(&7 B 7% 3 & 22 BID20184F Z=20204F A B 2 F & iU

Z_TEFR o BRERERAF

1 January 2022
20221 H1H

1 January 2022

2022F1A1H

1 January 2022

20221 A1 H

1 January 2022
20221 H1H
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MW R K

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(REBETHAIN - AARYEFITR)

35 POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, 35 EHZF2020F12A31HILtEEECHE
NEW STANDARDS AND 5 {8 18 R £ W RIS ET ~ 1 s] ZE Al
INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED BUT NOT YET RREBNARESE (&)

EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31
DECEMBER 2020 (Continued)

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of AEBEFEFFEERERZEEIIMNE
what the impact of these developments is expected to be 2 -ZHAIAL  HRAEAZEE
in the period of initial application. So far it has concluded AT KRAGEHEREMBERRELEEARY
that the adoption is unlikely to have a significant impact 2.

on the consolidated financial statements.
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
B EE

RESULTS ¥EE
Year ended 31 December
HZ12A31AILEE
2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
20204 20194 20184 20174 2016%F
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
INCL Bl AR Tr ARETT ARBTT ARETRT
Revenue WA 1,241,360 354,284 567,827 973,093 894,784
Cost of sales & KA (690,122)  (221,286)  (305,001)  (767,680)  (668,116)
Gross profit EF 551,238 132,998 262,826 205,413 226,668
Profit before taxation B B¢ A0 v A 471,026 58,836 188,294 141,387 186,643
Income tax 5%t (239,163) (41,168) (110,475 (64,610) (55,676)
Profit attributable to equity RATER R REN
shareholders of the Company i 112,746 17,954 33,375 38,592 68,007
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERAE
As at 31 December
MW12831H
2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
20204 20194 20184 20174F 20164
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
INL-E A AR Tt ARETRT ARBTT ARBT
Non-current assets FkRBEE 565,826 267,605 247,978 223,848 63,040
Current assets RBEE 2,832,113 3,597,996 3,532,245 1,660,542 1,964,364
Total assets BEE 3,397,939 3,865,601 3,780,223 1,884,390 2,027,404
Total equity ERBE 1,168,667 924,883 906,299 267,935 144,149
Non-current liabilities B B=R 4,465 104,630 102,709 6,157 4,950
Current liabilities REaE 2,224,807 2,836,088 2,771,215 1,610,298 1,878,305
Total liabilities EEMAE 2,229,272 2,940,718 2,878,924 1,616,455 1,883,255
Total equity and liabilities EaRaBEReE 3,397,939 3,865,601 3,780,223 1,884,390 2,027,404
Net current assets RBEEFE 607,306 761,908 761,030 50,244 86,059
“ECTFEFR e BHERAERRAA 249




GLOSSARY

i A=
s
“AGM” the annual general meeting of the Company
(RERBFARE] REBFRE
“Audit Committee” the audit committee of the Board
[Tt EZE® EEgETHNEITZES
“Board” the board of Directors
= =
“CG Code” the code provisions in the Corporate Governance Code and Corporate Governance
Report as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules
[ E A< FHARIME T OAEEEE AT RERE RRENTAKRX
“Cheer Happy” Cheer Happy (H.K.) Limited
Ki=i=3 BE(ERE)BRAA
“Company” or “the Million Cities Holdings Limited
Company”
[RAFA]] EWERAER AT
“Director(s)” the director(s) of the Company
[E%] RARIES
“Executive Committee” the executive committee of the Board
[#ITEEE] E=EgHTZEER
“GDP” Gross domestic product
[ 7R3 4 2= 4818 i A4 EHE
“GFA” gross floor area
[FEEEmE] BEEEE

“Group” or “the Group” the Company and its subsidiaries

[REH | ARG REME QA

“HK$” Hong Kong Dollar, the lawful currency of Hong Kong

[l EBEEREET

“Huizhou Cheer Happy”  Huizhou Cheer Happy Real Estate Development Company Limited*
[EINE R BMNEREHEREZEARR A A

“Huizhou China Field” Huizhou China Field Real Estate Development Company Limited*
[ % E ] BMNEEEMEREZEAR A A
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“IPO”

[BRAFREE]

“Join Kong”

2%

“Listing”
[

“Listing Date”

[ B B EA

»

“Listing Rules
[ A8 Al

“Main Board”

X

“Model Code”

[ 3 =7 B

i

“Nameson”

[F el

“Nameson Group”

[ e &

“Nomination Committee”

[fRREEE

“PRC” or “China”

[

“Prospectus”

(B ER]

GLOSSARY (CONTINUED)
oA 5 (4 )

initial public offering
BRAREE

Join Kong (H.K.) Limited
BB (BEB)BERAR

listing of the shares of the Company on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange

AR R ER ET

20 December 2018, the date on which the shares of the Company were listed and
from which dealings therein were permitted to take place on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange

2018F12H20R * RARAIRMHEERB XA ER LT REEHN A H

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange
Bt 32 P B 7 £ T AR Bl

the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
Bt 32 BT AR

the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out
in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules
FHARBINESTAE EMETAESETE SRR HNERETEH

Nameson Holdings Limited, a company incorporated in the Cayman Islands, the
shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code:
1982) and was owned by Happy Family Trust as to approximately 65.8% and Mr.
Wong Ting Chung as to approximately 8.8% as at the date of this report, is a
connected person of the Company

MEZERERAR  —HARASHSEMANINAR ARG REERAER LM (B
MR :1982) RARERHBHERGEAEREERLEE D R B £965.8% K& 4
8.8% ' BANAIKEEALT

Nameson Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries

MEERBERLDRERENE QA

the nomination committee of the Board

EFZeBETTNRAZES

the People’s Republic of China
RE AR LR

the prospectus of the Company dated 10 December 2018
2018F12A10R A A G R ER
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GLOSSARY (CONTINUED)
= (&)

“Remuneration the remuneration committee of the Board
Committee”
[#MZ 8 e EEEE THNFMEES
“RMB” Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC
(AR FEETEE AR
“SFC” the Securities and Futures Commission
(B e BEMHEEREBLZES
“SFO” the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) as
amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time
[ % M EIE 1] BERBEVESNEZ S RBERD - BTREE] - sk AR M7 KBk

“Share Option Scheme the share option scheme of the Company approved and adopted on 26 November

2018
[f& AR #E 5t & 72018511 26 B 4t /& R IR 2 2 2 R BE AR 4 51 2l
“sg. m.” square metres
[ 73 K] 7oK
“Stock Exchange” the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
[ Bt 22 FfT EABAERIMERA
“Tianjin Jianji” Million Cities Jianji Real Estate (Tianjin) Company Limited*
[ RFEE] BEWEEEEXE(RB)EARAQA
“United States” the United States of America
E3= EFBERE

The company does not have an official English name. The English translation of the company name is for
reference only.

ZABABETRXG  HEFREHRZE -

252 Million Cities Holdings Limited ® Annual Report 2020



'Y =

MILLION CITIES

http://www.millioncities.com.cn

Hong Kong Office & EE

Million Cities Holdings Limited (Hong Kong Office)
BRHEREBNHEE

Address 31t : Unit D, 21/F., Block 1, Tai Ping Industrial Centre,
57 Ting Kok Road, Tai Po, New Territories, Hong Kong
BERBHRRETARSTHRAFE TEFRNLE—E21EDE

Tel E&E : (852) 2689-1999

Fax {8HE : (852) 2689-1882

China Office BEIRAMEE

Million Cities Holdings Limited (China Office)
ERZERERREE

Address #3it : Plant No.5, 8 Longhe East Road,

Shuikou Street Office, Huicheng District, Huizhou City, the PRC
FEEMNTEREKOEHERSRENRESS (55EE)

Tel &5 ¢ (86) 752-331-6668

Fax f8HK : (86) 752-331-6777
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